

BPS Algebras in 2D String Theory

Downloaded from: https://research.chalmers.se, 2023-01-21 01:02 UTC

Citation for the original published paper (version of record):

Harrison, S., Paquette, N., Persson, D. et al (2022). BPS Algebras in 2D String Theory. Annales Henri Poincare, 23: 3667-3752. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00023-022-01189-7

N.B. When citing this work, cite the original published paper.

research.chalmers.se offers the possibility of retrieving research publications produced at Chalmers University of Technology. It covers all kind of research output: articles, dissertations, conference papers, reports etc. since 2004. research.chalmers.se is administrated and maintained by Chalmers Library

Ann. Henri Poincaré 23 (2022), 3667–3752 © 2022 The Author(s), corrected publication 2022 1424-0637/22/103667-86 published online May 16, 2022 https://doi.org/10.1007/s00023-022-01189-7

Annales Henri Poincaré



BPS Algebras in 2D String Theory

Sarah M. Harrison, Natalie M. Paquette, Daniel Persson and Roberto Volpato

Abstract. We discuss a set of heterotic and type II string theory compactifications to 1 + 1 dimensions that are characterized by factorized internal worldsheet CFTs of the form $V_1 \otimes \bar{V}_2$, where V_1, V_2 are self-dual (super) vertex operator algebras. In the cases with spacetime supersymmetry, we show that the BPS states form a module for a Borcherds– Kac–Moody (BKM) (super)algebra, and we prove that for each model the BKM (super)algebra is a symmetry of genus zero BPS string amplitudes. We compute the supersymmetric indices of these models using both Hamiltonian and path integral formalisms. The path integrals are manifestly automorphic forms closely related to the Borcherds–Weyl–Kac denominator. Along the way, we comment on various subtleties inherent to these low-dimensional string compactifications.

Contents

1.	Intro	duction	3668
2.	Two-	dimensional Models	3672
	2.1.	The Three $c = 12$ SVOAs	3672
	2.2.	Superstring Models	3675
3.	Phys	ical States in Type II on $V_1 \otimes \overline{V}_2$	3676
	3.1.	Chiral Compactification	3676
	3.2.	Non-chiral Compactification	3678
	3.3.	Heterotic Strings	3680
4.	BKM	I Algebras of BRST Exact States	3681
	4.1.	Basic Structure Theory of BKM Algebras	3682
	4.2.	Lie Algebras from the Chiral Superstring	3684
	4.3.	BPS States in Superstring Models	3687
	4.4.	The BPS Subspace as a Representation of the BKM Algebra	3690
	4.5.	Subtleties with Zero Momentum	3691
	4.6.	Symmetry of BPS Amplitudes	3694

	4.7.	Physical Interpretation	3697
5.	Seco	nd Quantization and BPS Indices	3699
	5.1.	A Second Quantized Hilbert Space	3699
	5.2.	The BPS Fock Space as an Algebra Module	3704
	5.3.	Heterotic Strings on $V \otimes \overline{V}^{f\natural}$	3706
	5.4.	Type IIA Strings on $V \otimes \overline{V}^{f \natural}$	3711
6.	Path	Integrals and Theta Lifts	3716
	6.1.	First and Second Quantized Partition Functions	3716
	6.2.	Path Integral Versus Operatorial Formalism	3718
		Including spurious degrees of freedom	3718
		Het/Type IIA on $V \otimes \overline{V}_{-}^{f \natural}$	3719
		Type IIA on $V_+^{f\natural} \otimes \bar{V}^{f\natural}$	3720
		Scalar and fermionic zero modes	3721
		Examples	3723
	6.3.	Path Integrals and Theta Lifts	3724
	6.4.	The Path Integral for the Superdenominator	3727
		The case $F_{24} \otimes \bar{V}_{-}^{f \natural}$	3728
		The case $V^{fE_8} \otimes \bar{V}^{f\natural}$	3728
		The cases $V_{\pm}^{f\natural} \otimes \bar{V}_{-}^{f\natural}$	3729
	6.5.	Path Integral for the Denominator of Type II on $V_{\pm}^{f\natural} \otimes \bar{V}_{-}^{f\natural}$	3729
7.	Discu	assion	3733
Ac	knowl	edgements	3735
A	Anom	alies and Tadpoles	3736
	A.1 7	Гуре II Models	3736
	A.2 1	Heterotic models	3740
ВS	Semire	elative Cohomology	3741
	B.1 2	Zero-momentum States	3742
	B.2 \$	Semirelative Cohomology at Zero Momentum	3743
CZ	Zero-n	nomentum R-R Sector	3746
D ′	Theta	Lifts of vector-valued Modular Forms	3747
Re	ferenc	es	3748

1. Introduction

Critical string theories compactified to low dimensions provide a useful formal playground for exploring various theoretical phenomena. They enjoy enhanced (nonperturbative) duality groups, uncommon supersymmetry algebras, exhibit relatively explicit but rich mathematical structures in their spacetime physics, and may still possess an interesting family of moduli enabling one to decompactify back to more physically relevant dimensions. Distinguished points in such low-dimensional moduli spaces exhibit maximal symmetry groups that can usefully organize or classify (broken) symmetries in higher-dimensional models upon decompactification. Alternatively, one can use the enhanced symmetries at special points to construct orbifolds of the original theory; such orbifolds with respect to large symmetry groups can produce exotic models with few moduli. These models may even be completely rigid, sitting at isolated points in moduli space, and are hence distinguished in their own right. It is also interesting and non-trivial to determine the duality webs among these exceptional theories.

It is known that some of the points of maximal symmetry are given by string models whose internal worldsheet theories factorize into holomorphic and anti-holomorphic factors. Such holomorphically factorized theories must be built from consistent (self-dual)¹ vertex operator algebras (VOAs) of appropriate central charge. The latter are quite rare for low values of the central charge and have been determined at several key values of interest, including c = 24 for bosonic VOAs and c = 12 for super-VOAs (SVOAs). In this work, we will focus on compactifications of IIA string theory to two spacetime dimensions built from holomorphically factorized worldsheet theories of the form $V_1 \otimes \overline{V_2}$, where V_1, V_2 are self-dual SVOAs with c = 12, and $\overline{V_2}$ denotes the anti-holomorphic (right-moving) version of the SVOA V_2 . Much of our analysis also carries through for heterotic string theories built from $V_1 \otimes \overline{V_2}$, where V_1 is now a self-dual VOA with c = 24.

One nice feature of these factorized models is that BPS states are closely related to infinite-dimensional Lie (super)algebras called Borcherds–Kac– Moody algebras [10]. For a variety of instances of BKMs in string theory, see, e.g., [15,18,31,38,39,46,54]. Such algebras can be constructed by applying a certain functor to a self-dual VOA that looks analogous to constructing a "chiral" string theory: that is, tensor in the vertex algebra corresponding to the even self-dual lattice of signature (1, 1) (a chiral analogue of the light-cone directions) to obtain a theory with critical central charge, tensor in the vertex algebra corresponding to ghosts, and compute the BRST cohomology of the resulting complex. The resulting cohomology classes generate a BKM.

BKM algebras were originally defined by Borcherds in the course of his proof of the monstrous moonshine conjectures [7,9,10]. Harvey and Moore later proposed that BKM algebras should play a role as the underlying organizing structure of BPS states in string compactifications [38,39]. While a complete understanding of the elusive "algebra of BPS states" is still lacking (though see, e.g., [48] for a mathematical perspective), the fact that BKM algebras are intimately connected with BPS states is indisputable.

Let us explain this connection in some more detail. Consider heterotic string theory compactified to two dimensions with an internal CFT of the form $V^{\natural} \otimes \bar{V}^{f\natural}$. Here, V^{\natural} is the monster module, constructed by Frenkel, Lepowsky and Meurman [29,30], and $V^{f\natural}$ is Duncan's super-moonshine module for the Conway group [25]. This theory was used in [55,56] to provide a physical interpretation of the genus zero property of monstrous moonshine. A key aspect is that it gives a *spacetime* description of the McKay–Thompson series, which

¹Throughout this paper, we use the same definition of self-dual as the authors of [21]: essentially, that an SVOA V is self-dual (or holomorphic) if V is the only irreducible, admissible V-module up to isomorphism. The name "holomorphic VOA" is often used to denote self-dual VOAs, but this name is potentially confusing in the context of this article.

appear in certain BPS indices. In particular, after compactifying the space direction on a circle S^1 , one can consider the following index:

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}_{BPS}}\Big((-1)^{F}e^{2\pi i TW}e^{2\pi i UM}\Big),\tag{1.1}$$

where \mathcal{H}_{BPS} is a second quantized space of BPS string states, F is the fermion number and (W, M) are the winding and momenta along the circle S^1 . In addition, (T, U) are the associated chemical potentials which involve the spacetime radius R and inverse temperature β . It was shown in [55] that this index can be written as an infinite product

$$\left(e^{2\pi i(w_0T+m_0U)}\prod_{\substack{m>0\\w\in\mathbb{Z}}} (1-e^{2\pi imU}e^{2\pi iwT})^{c(mw)}\right)^{24},$$
 (1.2)

where c(n) are the Fourier coefficients of the modular invariant *J*-function. This is recognized as the (24th power of) the Borcherds–Weyl–Kac denominator formula of the monster Lie algebra \mathfrak{m} . The roots α of the monster Lie algebra are labeled by pairs of integers (m, w) and the Fourier coefficients c(mw) encode the root multiplicities mult α . This implies that the denominator formula of the monster Lie algebra can be viewed as a generating function of BPS states in this model. The denominator function turns out to be a special type of automorphic form on $SO(2, 2)/(SO(2) \times SO(2))$.

One can further show that the space of BPS states is actually a *module* for the monster Lie algebra \mathfrak{m} . This gives \mathfrak{m} a natural interpretation as a BPS algebra [55]. This analysis extends to all CHL orbifolds [14] of $V^{\natural} \otimes \overline{V}^{f\natural}$ in which case the relevant algebras are the \mathfrak{m}_g 's constructed by Carnahan in his proof of generalized monstrous moonshine [11–13].

The VOA $V^{f^{\ddagger}}$ was further studied in [37], where a BKM algebra was constructed upon which the Conway group Co_0 acts faithfully. This is a candidate for an algebra of BPS states in a certain compactification of type IIA string theory. In a similar spirit, in reference [36], we constructed a family of BKM algebras associated with F_{24} , the holomorphic c = 12 SCFT based on 24 free fermions. More precisely, we obtained one BKM for every choice of $\mathcal{N} = 1$ superconformal structure on F_{24} . Additionally, for these BKM algebras one can identify the denominator formulas with certain higher-rank automorphic forms. A similar story unfolds if one instead starts with the self-dual SVOA based on the E_8 lattice, V^{fE_8} [61,62].

It is the purpose of the present work to provide a spacetime interpretation of the aforementioned BKM (super)algebras, along the lines of [55,56]. The models we consider are now full (non-chiral) string theory, whose spacetime BPS states moreover still enjoy a close relationship with these BKMs, in the sense that 1) they form a module for a BKM (super)algebra and 2) the BKM (super)algebras act as symmetries of amplitudes which contain insertions only of BPS vertex operators. This provides a realization of these BKM algebras as algebras of BPS states in type II string theories, such that their denominator formulas correspond to BPS indices.

Summary and outline

Now, we come to highlight the key results in the present work. Let us consider 2d type IIA and heterotic string compactifications with holomorphically factorized worldsheet theories of the form $V_1 \otimes \bar{V}_2$, as introduced above. Let \mathfrak{g} be the BKM (super)algebra associated with V_1 via the standard chiral construction due to Borcherds, briefly reviewed above.² In this work, we show the following:

- 1. The spacetime BPS states in the 2d compactification associated with $V_1 \otimes \overline{V}_2$ form a representation of the BKM algebra \mathfrak{g} (Sect. 4).
- 2. \mathfrak{g} acts as a symmetry on certain genus zero BPS saturated amplitudes in the theory (Sect. 4).
- 3. A suitably defined spacetime supersymmetric index in the theory reproduces the (super)denominator formula of \mathfrak{g} (Sect. 5).
- 4. This index can also be reproduced via a path integral computation on a 2d Euclidean spacetime torus. The path integral precisely reduces to a familiar theta lift in the theory of automorphic forms (Sect. 6).

The plan of the rest of the paper is as follows. In Sect. 2, we describe basic features of the 2d spacetime string theories we are interested in, including worldsheet SCFTs, massless field content, spacetime supersymmetry algebras, and gravitational anomalies. In Sect. 3, we explicitly construct the cohomology of physical states in our holomorphically factorized models, leaving some technical details to "Appendix B." In Sect. 4, we focus on the subspace of spacetime BPS states \mathcal{H}_{BPS} and describe the action of the BKM algebra \mathfrak{g} (constructed from the (S)VOAs V_1) on \mathcal{H}_{BPS} . We further show that \mathfrak{g} is a symmetry of genus zero BPS amplitudes. In Sect. 5 we consider a second quantized version of our 2d string theories, where we allow for an arbitrary number of fundamental strings, and study the resulting Hilbert space. We compute a number of natural supersymmetric indices in the second quantized theories from the Hamiltonian point of view and explain their relation to denominators of the BKM algebras from the previous section. In Sect. 6, we revisit the computation of the indices from the path integral point of view using the formalism of theta lifts from the theory of automorphic forms and clarify some subtleties that arise in these low-dimensional models. Finally, we conclude in Sect. 7 with a discussion of several open questions that emerged during the course of this work.

This paper also contains four appendices. In "Appendix A," we give a detailed analysis of gravitational anomalies and the B-field tadpole in our models. In "Appendix B," we provide a careful treatment of the semirelative cohomology of physical states. In "Appendix C," we discuss some details related to the zero-momentum R-R spectrum in one of our models, relevant to certain computations carried out in Sect. 5. And finally, in "Appendix D" we review some standard facts about theta lifts of vector-valued modular forms.

 $^{^{2}}$ We note that it is not a priori obvious that this construction always gives rise to a BKM algebra, although this is verified in all cases. See Sect. 4.2 for more details.

Conventions and notation

• Gamma matrices. We use the two-dimensional metric $\eta^{\mu\nu} = \text{diag}(-, +)$. The gamma matrices $\Gamma^0 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \Gamma^1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ obey the algebra relations $\{\Gamma^{\mu}, \Gamma^{\nu}\} = 2\eta^{\mu\nu}$ and the chirality matrix is $\Gamma \equiv \Gamma^0\Gamma^1 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$. Majorana–Weyl spinors of positive and negative chirality have the form $\begin{pmatrix} u_+ \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$ and $\begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ u_- \end{pmatrix}$, respectively. The massless Dirac equation is

$$0 = k_{\mu} \Gamma^{0} \Gamma^{\mu} u = \begin{pmatrix} -k_{0} + k_{1} & 0 \\ 0 & k_{0} + k_{1} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} u_{+} \\ u_{-} \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{pmatrix} k^{0} + k^{1} & 0 \\ 0 & -k^{0} + k^{1} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} u_{+} \\ u_{-} \end{pmatrix},$$

such that a positive chirality fermion exists only with $k^0 = -k^1$ and a negative chirality one only for $k^0 = k^1$.

Supersymmetry algebra. We say that a theory has (N₊, N₋) supersymmetry when there are N₊ supercharges Qⁱ₊ of positive chirality and N₋ supercharges Qⁱ₋ of negative chirality. In the absence of central charges, the supersymmetry algebra in two uncompactified dimensions is

$$\{\mathcal{Q}^{i}_{\alpha},\mathcal{Q}^{j}_{\beta}\} = 2\delta^{ij}(\Gamma^{0}\Gamma^{\mu})_{\alpha\beta}P_{\mu} = 2\delta^{ij}(P^{0}\delta_{\alpha\beta} + P^{1}\Gamma_{\alpha\beta});$$
(1.3)

i.e.,

$$\{Q_+, Q_+\} = 2\delta^{ij}(P^0 + P^1), \quad \{Q_-, Q_-\} = 2\delta^{ij}(P^0 - P^1), \{Q_+, Q_-\} = 0.$$
(1.4)

2. Two-dimensional Models

In this section, we discuss the class of models of interest in this paper. These models are string theory compactifications to 1+1 dimensions where the worldsheet CFT takes the holomorphically factorized form $V_1 \otimes \bar{V}_2$. We will always take V_2 to be one of the three self-dual SVOAs of central charge 12 (see Sect. 2.1). In the case of type IIA compactifications, we will also take V_1 to be one of these three theories. For the heterotic models we consider, we will allow V_1 to be one of the 71 known self-dual VOAs of central charge 24 [63–66]. In all the SVOAs we consider, the representations of the Virasoro algebra obey the standard spin-statistics relation, namely that even states have integer L_0 eigenvalues, while odd states have half-integer L_0 eigenvalues.

2.1. The Three c = 12 SVOAs

First, we briefly review the three c = 12 SVOAs we will consider. In [21], using a strategy employed in [40], it was proven that there are exactly three so-called self-dual SVOAs with central charge 12. These theories are:

1. V^{fE_8} : This is the supersymmetric vertex operator algebra based on the E_8 lattice. It contains 8 chiral free bosons compactified on the E_8 root lattice, and their 8 fermionic superpartners.

- 2. $V^{f\natural}$: This is the unique self-dual SVOA with c = 12 and no fields of conformal weight 1/2 in the NS sector. In [25] it was proved that, up to automorphisms, it admits a unique choice of $\mathcal{N} = 1$ superconformal current which is stabilized by Conway's group Co_0 . (The \mathbb{Z}_2 center of Co_0 acts non-trivially only on the Ramond sector.)
- 3. F_{24} : This is a theory of 24 free chiral fermions. An $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supercurrent can be defined by taking a linear combination of cubic Fermi terms, and the 8 inequivalent choices are in one-to one correspondence with semisimple Lie algebras of dimension 24. Given a choice of $\mathcal{N} = 1$ superconformal structure, the 24 currents that are supersymmetric descendants of the free fermions generate an affine Kac–Moody algebra, of which there are eight possibilities [33]:

$$(\widehat{su}(2)_2)^{\oplus 8}, \quad (\widehat{su}(3)_3)^{\oplus 3}, \quad \widehat{su}(4)_4 \oplus (\widehat{su}(2)_2)^{\oplus 3}, \quad \widehat{su}(5)_5, \quad \widehat{so}(5)_3 \oplus \widehat{g}_{2,4}, \\ \widehat{so}(5)_3 \oplus \widehat{su}(3)_3 \oplus (\widehat{su}(2)_2)^{\oplus 2}, \quad \widehat{so}(7)_5 \oplus \widehat{su}(2)_2, \quad \widehat{sp}(6)_4 \oplus \widehat{su}(2)_2.$$

We discussed further aspects of this theory in [36].

Strictly speaking, a self-dual SVOA corresponds to the NS sector of a chiral superconformal field theory, while the Ramond sector is a (canonically) twisted module. We will be slightly imprecise in this respect and use the word self-dual SVOA to denote the sum of the NS and Ramond sector.

In the NS sector of each holomorphic SCFT, there is a canonical \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry—the fermion number operator $(-1)^F$ —which acts trivially on states of integral L_0 eigenvalue and as multiplication by -1 on states with halfintegral eigenvalue. The Ramond sector can be seen as a twisted module with respect to this symmetry. For all the theories we consider, the definition of the fermion number can be extended to the Ramond sector in such a way that it is a symmetry of the OPE of order 2. However, there is an ambiguity by an overall sign in this definition. For F_{24} and V^{fE_8} , the zero mode of any weight 1/2 NS field provides an isomorphism between the Ramond eigenspaces of positive and negative fermion number, so the choice of the sign of $(-1)^F$ is immaterial. For $V^{f\natural}$, there is no such weight 1/2 NS field, and indeed all the 24 Ramond ground states (i.e., of conformal weight 1/2) have the same $(-1)^F$ eigenvalue, with can be chosen to be +1 or -1. This choice will be important when we discuss the GSO projection in superstring compactifications in the next subsections. It is useful to introduce the notation $V_{+}^{f\natural}$ and $V_{-}^{f\natural}$ to denote the SVOA $V^{f\natural}$ with the choice of fermion number equal, respectively, to +1 and -1 on the Ramond ground states. For conformal weight strictly greater than 1/2, the Ramond subspaces with positive and negative fermion number are again isomorphic, with the isomorphism given by the zero mode of the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supercurrent (see below).

For each of these theories $V \in \{V^{fE_8}, V^{f\natural}, F_{24}\}$, we can define a set of four torus partition functions, corresponding to the four choices of boundary condition for the fermions,

$$\phi_{\rm NS}(\tau; V) := \operatorname{Tr}_{\rm NS}(\mathsf{q}^{L_0 - 1/2}) = \frac{\eta^{48}(\tau)}{\eta^{24}(\tau/2)\eta^{24}(2\tau)} - 24 + \chi^{\rm NS}(V) \quad (2.1)$$

$$\phi_{\widetilde{\text{NS}}}(\tau; V) := \mathrm{sTr}_{\mathrm{NS}}(\mathsf{q}^{L_0 - 1/2}) = \frac{\eta^{24}(\tau/2)}{\eta^{24}(\tau)} + 24 - \chi^{\mathrm{NS}}(V)$$
(2.2)

$$\phi_{\rm R}(\tau; V) := \operatorname{Tr}_{\rm R}(\mathsf{q}^{L_0 - 1/2}) = 2^{12} \frac{\eta^{24}(2\tau)}{\eta^{24}(\tau)} + \left(\chi_+^{\rm R}(V) + \chi_-^{\rm R}(V)\right)$$
(2.3)

$$\phi_{\tilde{R}}(\tau; V) := \mathrm{sTr}_{R}(\mathsf{q}^{L_{0}-1/2}) = \chi^{R}_{+}(V) - \chi^{R}_{-}(V), \qquad (2.4)$$

where by sTr we denote the supertrace, i.e., the trace with the insertion of the fermion number operator $(-1)^F$, and $\chi^{NS}(V)$, $\chi^R_+(V)$, and $\chi^R_-(V)$ are constants. The partition functions $\{\phi_{NS}, \phi_{\widetilde{NS}}, \phi_R\}$ form a three-component vectorvalued representation of $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$, whereas $\phi_{\widetilde{R}}$ is a singlet under the action of $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$. We have expressed them explicitly in terms of eta quotients, where we have used the Dedekind eta function, defined as

$$\eta(\tau) := \mathsf{q}^{1/24} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1 - \mathsf{q}^n), \tag{2.5}$$

and throughout we use the definition $q := e^{2\pi i \tau}$. The first several terms in the q-expansion of each of these functions are

$$\phi_{\rm NS}(\tau; V) = \mathsf{q}^{-1/2} + \chi^{\rm NS}(V) + 276\mathsf{q}^{1/2} + 2048\mathsf{q} + 11202\mathsf{q}^{3/2} + \cdots$$
(2.6)

$$\phi_{\widetilde{\text{NS}}}(\tau;V) = \mathsf{q}^{-1/2} - \chi^{\text{NS}}(V) + 276\mathsf{q}^{1/2} - 2048\mathsf{q} + 11202\mathsf{q}^{3/2} + \cdots$$
(2.7)

$$\phi_{\rm R}(\tau; V) = \left(\chi_+^{\rm R}(V) + \chi_-^{\rm R}(V)\right) + 4096\mathsf{q} + 98304\mathsf{q}^2 + 1228800\mathsf{q}^3 + \cdots$$
(2.8)

$$\phi_{\tilde{R}}(\tau; V) = \left(\chi_{+}^{R}(V) - \chi_{-}^{R}(V)\right).$$
(2.9)

The constant $\chi^{NS}(V)$ captures the number of spin-1/2 fields of V in the NS sector. All of these fields are odd under the fermion number operator. The constants $\chi^{R}_{+}(V)$ and $\chi^{R}_{-}(V)$ capture the number of even and odd spin-1/2 fields in the Ramond sector, respectively. The values of these constants for each choice of $V \in \{V^{fE_8}, V^{f\natural}, F_{24}\}$ are listed in the following table.

SVOA V	$\chi^{\rm NS}(V)$	$\chi^{\mathrm{R}}_{+}(V)$	$\chi^{\rm R}_{-}(V)$
$V_{E_8}^f$	8	8	8
$V_{\pm}^{f at}$	0	24	0
$V_{-}^{f\natural}$	0	0	24
F_{24}	24	0	0.

Note that each of these theories has a total of 24 spin-1/2 fields across both of the NS and R sectors.

In order to construct a physical string model, one also needs a choice of $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supercurrent in these theories. As shown in [25], $V^{f^{\ddagger}}$ admits a unique (up to isomorphism) $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supercurrent, which is stabilized by the sporadic group Co_0 , the group of automorphisms of the Leech lattice. In the theory V^{fE_8} , there is a standard choice of supercurrent of the form

$$G(z) \sim \sum_{i=1}^{8} : \partial X^i \psi^i : (z),$$

which is left invariant by the group of inner automorphisms $U(1)^8 : W(E_8)$, i.e., a split extension of $W(E_8)$, the Weyl group of E_8 , by the group $U(1)^8$. Finally, the theory F_{24} has 8 inequivalent choices for a supercurrent, all of the form

$$G(z) \sim \sum_{i,j,k} c_{ijk} : \lambda^i \lambda^j \lambda^k : (z),$$

where the coefficients c_{ijk} are the structure constants of a semisimple Lie algebra g of total dimension 24 [33].

As described in [21], the three theories $V^{f_{\mathbb{B}}}, V^{f_{\mathbb{B}}}, F_{24}$ can be related to each other via orbifolding by a cyclic group of symmetries, that preserve the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ superconformal structure. This is described in detail in §3 of [36] for orbifolds relating F_{24} and $V^{f_{\mathbb{B}}}$. When we turn to full string theory models where these SVOAs are components of the worldsheet theory, we expect these relations will be important for understanding string dualities relating these models.

2.2. Superstring Models

We can build two-dimensional compactifications of type II string theory by taking worldsheet theories of the form $V_1 \otimes \bar{V}_2$ with $V_1, V_2 \in \{V^{fE_8}, V^{f\natural}, F_{24}\}$. For each such model, we list the number of fields of spin 0 or 1/2 in the massless spectrum (there are also fields with no propagating local degrees of freedom, namely containing only $G_{\mu\nu}$, $B_{\mu\nu}$, the dilaton ϕ , and possibly gravitinos and vector fields) and the number of spacetime supersymmetries in table 1.³

The theory $V^{fE_8} \otimes \overline{V}^{fE_8}$ is equivalent to the type IIA string compactified on $T^8 = R^8 / \Lambda_{E_8}$ at the holomorphically factorized point in moduli space. As both $V^{f \natural}$ and F_{24} can be realized as orbifolds of V^{fE_8} , all other theories in the table can be thought of as asymmetric orbifolds of the type IIA string on T^8 at the holomorphically factorized point. Some of these models were recently considered in [28].

Theory	NS-NS	R-R	NS-R	R-NS	SUSY
$V^{fE_8} \otimes \bar{V}^{fE_8}$	8×8	8×8	8×8	8×8	(16, 16)
$V^{fE_8} \otimes \bar{V}^{f\natural}$	0	8×24	8×24	0	(8, 32)
$F_{24} \otimes \bar{V}^{fE_8}$	24×8	0	24×8	0	(8, 8)
$V^{f atural}_+ \otimes \bar{V}^{f atural}$	0	24×24	0	0	(0, 48)
$V_{-}^{f abla}\otimes ar V_{-}^{f abla}$	0	24×24	0	0	(24, 24)
$F_{24} \otimes \bar{V}_{-}^{f\natural}$	0	0	24×24	0	(0, 24)
$F_{24} \otimes \bar{F}_{24}$	24×24	0	0	0	(0, 0)

TABLE 1. The two-dimensional type IIA models we consider in this paper

We enumerate the number of massless fields from each sector in the first four columns and identify the spacetime supersymmetry algebra in the fifth column

³Note that $F_{24} \otimes \overline{F}_{24}$ has massive spacetime fermions, though it has no spacetime supersymmetries.

Theory	NS	R	SUSY
$\overline{V_1 \otimes \bar{V}^{fE_8}}$	$N \times 8$	$N \times 8$	(8, 8)
$V_1 \otimes \bar{V}^{f}_+$	0	$N \times 24$	(0, 24)
$V_1\otimes \bar{F}_{24}$	$N \times 24$	0	(0,0)
	$N \wedge 24$		(0,

TABLE 2. The two-dimensional heterotic models we consider in this paper

Here, N is the number of currents in the VOA V_1

Similarly, we will also consider two-dimensional compactifications of heterotic string theory by considering worldsheet theories of the form $V_1 \otimes \bar{V}_2$, with V_1 a self-dual bosonic VOA with c = 24 and $V_2 \in \{V^{fE_8}, V^{f\natural}, F_{24}\}$. In Table 2, we list the number of massless fields and spacetime supersymmetries in terms of N, the number of currents in V_1 .

When considering type IIA or heterotic string theory compactified to two dimensions, there is the possibility that there is a tadpole for the *B*-field [49, 50, 69] (see also [68] and [67]). Such a tadpole can be canceled by adding a certain number of spacetime-filling strings. In "Appendix A," we discuss the derivation of the tadpole for the theories we consider.

3. Physical States in Type II on $V_1 \otimes \overline{V}_2$

In this section, we will identify the physical states of type II string theory compactified on $V_1 \otimes \bar{V}_2$, where V_1 and V_2 are each one of the self-dual $\mathcal{N} = 1$ SVOAs with c = 12, i.e., $V^{f^{\ddagger}}$, V_{E_8} , or F_{24} with a choice of $\mathcal{N} = 1$ structure. The final outcome of this section is that, roughly speaking, the space of physical states furnishes a tensor product of the physical states for the "chiral" superstring on V_1 times the physical states for the "anti-chiral" superstring on V_2 .

A similar factorization holds for the physical states in the heterotic string models on $V_1 \otimes \overline{V}_2$, where V_1 is a self-dual bosonic VOA of central charge c = 24 and V_2 a self-dual $\mathcal{N} = 1$ SVOA with c = 12.

3.1. Chiral Compactification

Let us first recall the main steps in the construction of the physical states for the "chiral" version of superstrings compactified on a self-dual c = 12 $\mathcal{N} = 1$ SVOA V. This material is largely standard, and we closely follow the notation and treatment of [36], to which we refer for further details. One starts from a product vertex algebra with underlying Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}^m \otimes \mathcal{H}^{gh}$. The "matter sector" \mathcal{H}^m is itself the product of the internal SVOA V and the super-vertex algebra (SVA) of 1 + 1-dimensional spacetime chiral bosons X^{μ} and fermions ψ^{μ} , $\mu = 0, 1$. The "ghost" sector \mathcal{H}^{gh} is the product of a bcghost and a $\beta\gamma$ superghost system.⁴ Recall that the $\beta\gamma$ system has a class of

⁴More precisely, we restrict as always to the relevant subalgebra of the $\eta\zeta\phi$ -VA, where $\beta = \partial\zeta e^{-\phi}, \gamma = \eta e^{\phi}$.

irreducible modules labeled by the "picture number" p, which takes values in \mathbb{Z} (NS sector) or in $\frac{1}{2} + \mathbb{Z}$ (R sector) [59]. The module at picture number p is constructed starting from a state $|p\rangle$ satisfying $\beta_r |p\rangle = 0 = \gamma_s |p\rangle$ for all $r \ge -\frac{1}{2} - p$ and $s > \frac{1}{2} + p$, and acting in all possible ways on $|p\rangle$ with the (mutually commuting) modes β_r, γ_s with $r < -\frac{1}{2} - p$ and $s \le \frac{1}{2} + p$. The L_0 eigenvalues of the representation at picture number p are bounded from below only for p = -1, -1/2 or -3/2; these are called the "canonical picture numbers."

The product $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}^m \otimes \mathcal{H}^{gh}$ splits into four sectors \mathcal{H}_{NS+} , \mathcal{H}_{NS-} , \mathcal{H}_{R+} , and \mathcal{H}_{R-} , corresponding to the four spin structures on the torus. Here,

$$\mathcal{H}_{NS} = \mathcal{H}_{NS}^m \otimes \mathcal{H}_{NS}^{gh}$$

and

$$\mathcal{H}_R = \mathcal{H}_R^m \otimes \mathcal{H}_R^{gh}$$

denote the NS and Ramond sector, respectively, and $\mathcal{H}_{NS\pm}$ and $\mathcal{H}_{R\pm}$ are the projections onto states of positive or negative fermion number $(-1)^{F.5}$ Next we perform the GSO projection, which restricts to the subspace of total fermion number +1, i.e.,

$$\mathcal{H}_{\rm GSO} := \mathcal{H}_{NS_+} \oplus \mathcal{H}_{R_+}.$$
(3.1)

We further restrict to the ker $b_0 \cap \ker L_0$

$$C := \mathcal{H}_{\text{GSO}} \cap \ker b_0 \cap \ker L_0. \tag{3.2}$$

The theory contains the conserved currents $j^{gh} = -: \xi\eta : +: bc :, j^p = \partial\phi +: \xi\eta :$ and $(P^0, P^1) = (i\partial X^0, i\partial X^1)$, whose zero modes eigenvalues correspond, respectively, to the ghost number n, the picture number p, and the winding-momenta $k := (k^0, k^1)$. The space C can be decomposed into components $C_p^n(k)$ with definite n, p, and k, as

$$C = \bigoplus_{\{k;n,p\}} C_p^n(k).$$
(3.3)

In [36,37], the momenta k were assumed to take values in the even unimodular lattice $\Gamma^{1,1}$; here, we leave them unspecified, for the time being.

The nilpotent BRST charge Q commutes with L_0 , picture number, and winding-momenta and has ghost number 1, so that for each momentum k and picture number p it defines a complex

$$\cdots \to C_p^{n-1}(k) \to C_p^n(k) \to C_p^{n+1}(k) \to \cdots$$
(3.4)

graded by the ghost number n. From this complex, one builds the BRST cohomology $H_p^n(k)$. Note that the picture number takes integral values in the NS sector and half-integral values in the Ramond sector.

⁵In the Ramond sector of the ψ^{μ}, X^{μ} theory, the fermion number acts on the ground states $|\pm\rangle$ by $\pm i$ (i.e., $(-1)^F$ coincides with $i\Gamma$, where Γ is the chirality matrix in 1+1 dimensional spacetime), while in the β, γ theory $(-1)^F$ acts by $e^{\pi i p}$ on the ground state with picture number p. Since p is integral in the NS sector and half-integral in the Ramond sector, the fermion number $(-1)^F$ has order 2 in the full matter+ghost theory.

It is also useful to recall the picture-changing homomorphism

$$X: H_p^n(k) \to H_{p+1}^n(k),$$
 (3.5)

which is an isomorphism for $k \neq 0$. This allows us to focus on the "canonical pictures" p = -1 for the NS sector and p = -1/2 for the R sector. Furthermore, for $k \neq 0$ the chiral cohomology groups $H^n_{-1}(k)$ and $H^n_{-1/2}(k)$ are trivial unless n = 1. Given this, we define the Hilbert space of (chiral) physical states as

$$\mathcal{H}^{\text{phys}} := \bigoplus_{k} H^{1}_{-1}(k) \oplus H^{1}_{-\frac{1}{2}}(k) = \bigoplus_{k} H^{1}(k),$$
(3.6)

where

$$H^{n}(k) := H^{n}_{-1}(k) \oplus H^{n}_{-1/2}(k).$$
(3.7)

Note that the same construction could be implemented starting from the GSO projection $\mathcal{H}_{\text{GSO}} = \mathcal{H}_{NS_+} \oplus \mathcal{H}_{R_-}$; the corresponding physical states are related by a spacetime parity transformation, which inverts the sign of X^1, ψ^1 , and k^1 .

Analogously, starting from anti-holomorphic rather than holomorphic vertex algebras, one can define a space of physical states for an anti-chiral superstring, in terms of the cohomology groups $\bar{H}_{\bar{p}}^{\bar{n}}(k)$ of a complex $\bar{C}_{\bar{p}}^{\bullet}(k)$ with respect to a nilpotent BRST operator Q_r .

3.2. Non-chiral Compactification

We are now ready to construct the non-chiral (left- and right-moving) compactification of type IIA on $V_1 \otimes \bar{V}_2$, where V_1 and V_2 are not necessarily the same SVOA. We define the spaces $\mathcal{H}^m, \mathcal{H}^{gh}$ and their right-moving analogues $\bar{\mathcal{H}}^m, \bar{\mathcal{H}}^{gh}$ as above. Similarly, we define NS_± and R_± sectors for both the leftand the right-moving spaces of states and the corresponding spaces $\mathcal{H}_{NS_{\pm}},$ $\mathcal{H}_{R_+}, \bar{\mathcal{H}}_{NS_+}, \bar{\mathcal{H}}_{R_+}$. The GSO projected space of states is

$$\mathcal{H}_{\text{GSO}} := (\mathcal{H}_{NS_{+}} \otimes \bar{\mathcal{H}}_{NS_{+}}) \oplus (\mathcal{H}_{NS_{+}} \otimes \bar{\mathcal{H}}_{R_{-}}) \oplus (\mathcal{H}_{R_{+}} \otimes \bar{\mathcal{H}}_{NS_{+}}) \oplus (\mathcal{H}_{R_{+}} \otimes \bar{\mathcal{H}}_{R_{-}}).$$
(3.8)

Note that we are only considering type IIA GSO projection. We could also consider type IIB theories, by projecting the NS-R and R-R sectors on the subspace with positive, rather than negative right-moving fermion number. However, we would not obtain anything new in this way: As stressed in Sect. 2, there is a choice of sign for the fermion number in the Ramond sector of the internal SVOA V_2 , and type IIB on $V_1 \otimes \bar{V}_2$ with one choice of sign for V_2 is equivalent to type IIA with the opposite choice. In particular, type IIA on $V_1 \otimes \bar{V}_{\pm}^{f \natural}$ is equivalent to type IIB on $V_1 \otimes \bar{V}_{\mp}^{f \natural}$; when V_2 is either $V_{fE_8}^{f E_8}$ or F_{24} , type IIA and type IIB GSO projections give equivalent theories.

We now restrict to the space

$$\mathsf{C} := \mathcal{H}_{\mathrm{GSO}} \cap \ker b_0 \cap \ker \bar{b}_0 \cap \ker L_0 \cap \ker \bar{L}_0, \tag{3.9}$$

Vol. 23 (2022)

which decomposes as

$$C = \bigoplus_{\{k_l, k_r\}} C(k_l, k_r) = \bigoplus_{\{k_l, k_r; n, \bar{n}, p, \bar{p}\}} C_{p; \bar{p}}^{n, \bar{n}}(k_l, k_r),$$
(3.10)

where $k_l := (k_l^0, k_l^1)$ and $k_r := (k_r^0, k_r^1)$ are left- and right-moving momenta, i.e., the eigenvalues of (P_l^0, P_l^1) and (P_r^0, P_r^1) , respectively. Here, P_l^{μ} and P_r^{μ} are the zero modes of $i\partial X^{\mu}(z)$ and $i\bar{\partial} X^{\mu}(\bar{z})$, respectively. We will consider two possibilities for the values of these momenta: In the "uncompactified case," where the target spacetime is $\mathbb{R}^{1,1}$, one has that $k_l^0 = k_r^0$ and $k_l^1 = k_r^1$ and both take values in \mathbb{R} ; in the "compactified case," where a spacelike direction of spacetime is compactified on a circle of radius R, one has

$$k_l^1 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\frac{m}{R} - wR \right), \qquad k_r^1 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\frac{m}{R} + wR \right), \qquad m, w \in \mathbb{Z}, \quad (3.11)$$

and again $k_l^0 = k_r^0 \in \mathbb{R}$.

Throughout this section, we will construct physical states in relative cohomology for simplicity, from the space C above. We will treat the physical states of the complete, non-chiral superstring more properly in semirelative cohomology (i.e., imposing the condition $b_0 - \bar{b}_0 = 0$ rather than $b_0 = \bar{b}_0 = 0$) in "Appendix B." These two cohomologies are isomorphic at nonzero momentum, and hence in particular are both supported in ghost number (1, 1). The relative and semirelative cohomologies differ, however, at zero momentum. Moreover, zero momentum states in both relative and semirelative cohomologies are supported in various ghost numbers. At ghost number 2, which are the states on which we will construct a BKM algebra action in the next section, the semirelative cohomology only differs from the relative cohomology (ker $b_0 \cap \ker \bar{b}_0$) by a single state at zero-momentum which is largely unimportant for our subsequent analyses.

Now, if we denote by $C_p^n(k_l)$ and $\overline{C}_{\overline{p}}^{\overline{n}}(k_r)$ the respective spaces that we would obtain by the chiral and anti-chiral construction described above for V_1 and \overline{V}_2 (with the appropriate GSO projections), one has

$$\mathsf{C}_{p,\bar{p}}^{N}(k_{l},k_{r}) = \bigoplus_{n+\bar{n}=N} C_{p}^{n}(k_{l}) \otimes \bar{C}_{\bar{p}}^{\bar{n}}(k_{r}), \qquad (3.12)$$

where N is the total (holomorphic plus anti-holomorphic) ghost number. Furthermore, if Q_l and Q_r are the chiral and anti-chiral BRST charges for the corresponding left- and right-moving complexes, the operator $Q := Q_l + Q_r \equiv$ $Q_l \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes Q_r$ is nilpotent (in particular, $\{Q_l, Q_r\} = 0$) and has total ghost number 1, so that it defines a complex

$$\cdots \to \mathsf{C}_{p,\bar{p}}^{N-1}(k_l,k_r) \to \mathsf{C}_{p,\bar{p}}^N(k_l,k_r) \to \mathsf{C}_{p,\bar{p}}^{N+1}(k_l,k_r) \to \cdots$$
(3.13)

This complex defines a Q-cohomology $\mathsf{H}_{p,\bar{p}}^{N}(k_{l},k_{r})$ such that

$$\mathsf{H}_{p,\bar{p}}^{N}(k_{l},k_{r}) = \bigoplus_{n+\bar{n}=N} H_{p}^{n}(k_{l}) \otimes \bar{H}_{\bar{p}}^{\bar{n}}(k_{r}), \qquad (3.14)$$

where $H_p^n(k_l)$ and $\bar{H}_{\bar{p}}^{\bar{n}}(k_r)$ are the corresponding left- and right-moving cohomologies of Q_l and Q_r , respectively.

Finally, we restrict to the canonical pictures $p, \bar{p} \in \{-1/2, -1\}$, and total ghost number N = 2. If $k \neq 0$, then the cohomology group reduces to

$$\mathsf{H}_{p,\bar{p}}^{2}(k_{l},k_{r}) = H_{p}^{1}(k_{l}) \otimes \bar{H}_{\bar{p}}^{1}(k_{r}), \qquad (3.15)$$

because the other components are zero. Again, see "Appendix B" for a discussion of (unimportant for our purposes) subtleties at zero-momentum. We define the Hilbert space of physical states as

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{H}^{\text{phys}} &:= \bigoplus_{\{k_l, k_r\}} \mathsf{H}^2(k_l, k_r) \\ &= \bigoplus_{\{k_l, k_r\}} (\mathsf{H}^2_{-1, -1}(k_l, k_r) \oplus \mathsf{H}^2_{-1, -\frac{1}{2}}(k_l, k_r) \oplus \mathsf{H}^2_{-\frac{1}{2}, -1}(k_l, k_r) \\ &\oplus \mathsf{H}^2_{-\frac{1}{2}, -\frac{1}{2}}(k_l, k_r)), \end{aligned}$$

where the four summands correspond, respectively, to the NS-NS, NS-R, R-NS and R-R sectors, and

$$\mathsf{H}^{N}(k_{l},k_{r}) := \bigoplus_{p,\bar{p}\in\{-1,-1/2\}} \mathsf{H}^{N}_{p,\bar{p}}(k_{l},k_{r}).$$
(3.16)

3.3. Heterotic Strings

Similar results hold for the physical states of heterotic strings compactified on $V_1 \otimes \overline{V}_2$, where V_1 is a bosonic self-dual VOA of central charge 24 and V_2 is one of the self-dual SVOA of central charge 12. The spacetime matter SCFT in 1+1 dimensions includes only right-moving fermions $\overline{\psi}^{\mu}(\overline{z})$, in addition to the usual bosonic fields $X^{\mu}(z,\overline{z})$. Similarly, the holomorphic ghost sector includes only the *bc*-system and not the $\beta\gamma$ -system; the anti-holomorphic ghost sector is as in type II theories.

The GSO-projected space of states is

$$\mathcal{H}_{\text{GSO}} := (\mathcal{H} \otimes \overline{\mathcal{H}}_{NS_+}) \oplus (\mathcal{H} \otimes \overline{\mathcal{H}}_{R_+}), \qquad (3.17)$$

where \mathcal{H} is the space of states of the holomorphic bosonic matter and ghost CFT. We restrict to the space

$$\mathsf{C} := \mathcal{H}_{\mathrm{GSO}} \cap \ker b_0 \cap \ker \bar{b}_0 \cap \ker L_0 \cap \ker \bar{L}_0, \tag{3.18}$$

which decomposes as

$$\mathsf{C} = \bigoplus_{\{k_l, k_r\}} \mathsf{C}(k_l, k_r) = \bigoplus_{\{k_l, k_r; n, \bar{n}, \bar{p}\}} \mathsf{C}_{\bar{p}}^{n, \bar{n}}(k_l, k_r),$$
(3.19)

where now only the anti-holomorphic picture number \bar{p} is defined. The spaces $C_{\bar{p}}^{n,\bar{n}}(k_l,k_r)$ decompose as

$$\mathsf{C}_{\bar{p}}^{N}(k_{l},k_{r}) = \bigoplus_{n+\bar{n}=N} C^{n}(k_{l}) \otimes \bar{C}_{\bar{p}}^{\bar{n}}(k_{r}), \qquad (3.20)$$

where $\bar{C}_{\bar{p}}^{\bar{n}}(k_r)$ is as in the previous section, and $C^n(k_l)$ is the space one would obtain by a chiral bosonic string construction starting from the internal VOA V_1 , tensoring with the chiral bosonic spacetime matter in 1 + 1 dimensions and *bc*-ghost system, and restricting to ker $b_0 \cap \ker L_0$. One can define a nilpotent BRST charge Q of ghost number 1 that is the sum $Q = Q_l + Q_r$ of BRST charges Q_l and Q_r acting only on the left- and right-moving sectors, respectively. For each \bar{p} and (k_l, k_r) , one has a complex

$$\cdots \to \mathsf{C}_{\bar{p}}^{N-1}(k_l,k_r) \to \mathsf{C}_{\bar{p}}^N(k_l,k_r) \to \mathsf{C}_{\bar{p}}^{N+1}(k_l,k_r) \to \cdots$$
(3.21)

and the corresponding cohomology $\mathsf{H}^{N}_{\bar{p}}(k_l,k_r)$ is given by

$$\mathsf{H}_{\bar{p}}^{N}(k_{l},k_{r}) = \bigoplus_{n+\bar{n}=N} H^{n}(k_{l}) \otimes \bar{H}_{\bar{p}}^{\bar{n}}(k_{r}).$$
(3.22)

Here, $\bar{H}_{\bar{p}}^{\bar{n}}(k_r)$ is as in the type II case, while $H^n(k_l)$ is the cohomology of the complex $C^{\bullet}(k_l)$ with respect to the nilpotent operator Q_l . For $k_l, k_r \neq 0$, the cohomology group $\mathsf{H}_{\bar{p}}^N(k_l, k_r)$ is non-trivial only at ghost number N = 2 and factorizes as

$$\mathsf{H}_{\bar{p}}^{2}(k_{l},k_{r}) = H^{1}(k_{l}) \otimes \bar{H}_{\bar{p}}^{1}(k_{r}).$$
(3.23)

Thanks to the picture-changing isomorphism, one can focus on the canonical pictures $\bar{p} = -1$ (NS sector) and $\bar{p} = -1/2$ (Ramond sector). The space of physical states of the heterotic strings is then defined as

$$\mathcal{H}^{\text{phys}} := \bigoplus_{\{k_l, k_r\}} \mathsf{H}^2(k_l, k_r) = \bigoplus_{\{k_l, k_r\}} (\mathsf{H}^2_{-1}(k_l, k_r) \oplus \mathsf{H}^2_{-\frac{1}{2}}(k_l, k_r)), \qquad (3.24)$$

where the sum over momenta depends on whether the 1+1-dimensional spacetime is compactified or not, as in the type II case.

4. BKM Algebras of BRST Exact States

Now that we have constructed the physical states of our model, we can define the corresponding action of a Borcherds–Kac–Moody (BKM) algebra on a particular subsector of the space of physical states. A BKM algebra is a type of infinite-dimensional Lie algebra introduced by Borcherds [10] expanding the notion of a Kac–Moody algebra. The construction of a BKM superalgebra on a chiral superstring is well known [61,62], so at a point in string theory moduli space where the worldsheet theory holomorphically factorizes, one might naively expect two complementary BKM algebras acting on the left and right. However, a tensor product of two Lie algebras is not a Lie algebra, so a more complicated action of a BKM algebra must arise in the physical superstring if it is to arise at all. Moreover, the chiral superstring construction of a BKM requires all spacetime dimensions to be compactified, and it would be far more interesting if the algebra structure arose in a standard non-chiral string theory where at least the time direction remains uncompactified.

To set the notation, we will begin this section with a brief overview of the basic structure theory of BKMs. Then, we proceed to discuss BPS states and show that they form a representation of a BKM algebra \mathfrak{g} . Finally, we demonstrate that \mathfrak{g} is also a symmetry of BPS saturated genus zero amplitudes. We also offer some speculations on the physical interpretation of these results.

Throughout the paper we will use the short term "BKM algebra" to collectively refer to *both* BKM Lie algebras and BKM Lie superalgebras. We hope that this will not cause confusion.

4.1. Basic Structure Theory of BKM Algebras

Let us review the definition of a Borcherds-Kac-Moody superalgebra. For more details, see [60]. Recall that, in general, a *Lie superalgebra* is a \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded vector space $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{g}_0 \oplus \mathfrak{g}_1$ equipped with a Lie bracket satisfying the \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded version of the usual skew-symmetry properties and Jacobi identity. A BKM Lie superalgebra \mathfrak{g} is characterized by a Cartan matrix A, which is allowed to have infinite rank and is generically of indefinite signature [7,60]. Let Ibe a set (finite or countably infinite) indexing the simple roots of \mathfrak{g} and let $S \subseteq I$ be a subset indexing the odd simple roots. Let $\mathfrak{h}_{\mathbb{R}}$ be a real vector space with generators $h_i, i \in I$, and equipped with a non-degenerate symmetric real-valued bilinear form $(\cdot|\cdot)$. The bilinear form satisfies the following three properties:

(1)
$$(h_i|h_j) \le 0$$
 if $i \ne j$,

(2) If
$$(h_i|h_i) > 0$$
 then $\frac{2(h_i|h_j)}{(h_i|h_i)} \in \mathbb{Z}$ for all $j \in I$,

(3) If $(h_i|h_i) > 0$ and $i \in S$ then $\frac{(h_i|h_j)}{(h_i|h_i)} \in \mathbb{Z}$ for all $j \in I$. (4.1)

Now set $\mathfrak{h} = \mathfrak{h}_{\mathbb{R}} \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$. The Cartan matrix is the symmetric matrix A with entries $A_{ij} = (h_i | h_j)$. The BKM superalgebra associated with the vector space \mathfrak{h} and (generalized) Cartan matrix A is the Lie superalgebra \mathfrak{g} generated by the elements $h_i, e_i, f_i, i \in I$, subject to the relations:

$$\begin{split} & [e_i, f_j] = \delta_{ij} h_i, \quad [h_i, h_j] = 0 \\ & [h, e_i] = (h|h_i) e_i, \quad [h, f_i] = -(h|h_i) f_i, \quad \forall h \in \mathfrak{h}, \\ & \deg(e_i) = \deg(f_i) = 0 \quad \text{if } i \notin S \quad \text{and} \quad \deg(e_i) = \deg(f_i) = 1, \quad \text{if } i \in S \\ & \operatorname{ad}_{e_i}^{1-2A_{ij}/A_{ii}} e_j = 0, \quad \operatorname{ad}_{f_i}^{1-2A_{ij}/A_{ii}} f_j = 0 \quad \text{if} \quad A_{ii} > 0 \quad \text{and} \quad i \neq j, \\ & \operatorname{ad}_{e_i}^{1-A_{ij}/A_{ii}} e_j = 0, \quad \operatorname{ad}_{f_i}^{1-A_{ij}/A_{ii}} f_j = 0 \quad \text{if } i \in S, \quad A_{ii} > 0 \quad \text{and} \quad i \neq j, \\ & [e_i, e_j] = [f_i, f_j] = 0 \quad \text{if} \quad A_{ij} = 0. \end{split}$$

Here, deg denotes the \mathbb{Z}_2 -grading. In the special case when $A_{ii} > 0$ for all $i \in I$ the resulting algebra \mathfrak{g} is a Kac–Moody Lie superalgebra.

Just like for ordinary Kac–Moody algebras, the diagonal elements h_i generate the Cartan subalgebra \mathfrak{h} and the e_i 's and f_j 's generate nilpotent subalgebras \mathfrak{g}^+ and \mathfrak{g}^- , respectively. This implies that \mathfrak{g} has a triangular decomposition

 $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{g}^- \oplus \mathfrak{h} \oplus \mathfrak{g}^+$ (direct sums of vector spaces). (4.3)

The bilinear form $(\cdot|\cdot)$ on $\mathfrak{h}_{\mathbb{R}}$ induces a bilinear form on the dual space $\mathfrak{h}_{\mathbb{R}}^*$. An important difference compared to standard Kac–Moody algebras is that the diagonal entries of the Cartan matrix A are not required to be positive. Vol. 23 (2022)

This implies that the simple roots of \mathfrak{g} come in two classes: *real* simple roots satisfying $(\alpha_i | \alpha_i) > 0$, and *imaginary* simple roots satisfying $(\alpha_i | \alpha_i) \leq 0$.

We denote by Δ the set of all roots. We say that a root is positive (resp. negative) if it is a nonnegative (resp. non-positive) integer linear combination of the simple roots. We therefore have a natural splitting into positive and negative roots

$$\Delta = \Delta^+ \oplus \Delta^-. \tag{4.4}$$

Accordingly, the nilpotent subalgebras \mathfrak{g}^- and \mathfrak{g}^+ can be written as direct sums

$$\mathfrak{g}^{\pm} = \bigoplus_{\alpha \in \Delta^{\pm}} \mathfrak{g}_{\alpha}, \tag{4.5}$$

where the root spaces \mathfrak{g}_{α} are finite-dimensional $\operatorname{mult}(\alpha) := \dim(\mathfrak{g}_{\alpha}) < \infty$. The bilinear form $(\cdot|\cdot)$ on \mathfrak{h} extends uniquely to a (super-)symmetric, nondegenerate, invariant bilinear form on \mathfrak{g} , such that \mathfrak{g}_{α} and \mathfrak{g}_{β} are orthogonal unless $\beta = -\alpha$. The integral span of all simple roots is the *root lattice*

$$\Phi = \sum_{i=1}^{\operatorname{rank} \mathfrak{g}} \mathbb{Z} \alpha_i \subset \mathfrak{h}^*.$$
(4.6)

The Weyl group $\mathcal{W}(\mathfrak{g})$ is the group of reflections in $\Phi \otimes \mathbb{C}$ with respect to the even real simple roots α_i , $i \in I \setminus S$. It is generated by the fundamental reflections

$$s_i : \alpha \longmapsto \alpha - 2 \frac{(\alpha | \alpha_i)}{(\alpha_i | \alpha_i)} \alpha_i.$$
 (4.7)

An additional important property of a BKM algebra is the existence of a Weyl vector ρ , satisfying

$$(\rho|\alpha) \ge \frac{1}{2}(\alpha|\alpha),\tag{4.8}$$

with equality if and only if α is a simple root.

Let us focus on the case where $S = \emptyset$, so that \mathfrak{g} is a (purely even) BKM Lie algebra, rather than a Lie superalgebra. For any irreducible (integrable) lowest weight representation $R(\lambda)$ of \mathfrak{g} one has the Weyl–Kac–Borcherds character formula

$$\operatorname{ch} R(\lambda) = \frac{\sum_{w \in \mathcal{W}} \epsilon(w) w(T) e^{\rho}}{\prod_{\alpha \in \Delta^+} (1 - e^{\alpha})^{\operatorname{mult}(\alpha)}},$$
(4.9)

where $\epsilon(w) = (-1)^{\ell(w)}$ with $\ell(w)$ the length of the Weyl element w. This differs from the standard Weyl–Kac character formula by the factor w(T) which contains a correction due to the imaginary simple roots

$$T = e^{\lambda - \rho} \sum_{\mu} \xi(\mu) e^{\mu}.$$
(4.10)

The sum is taken over all (unordered) sets of distinct mutually orthogonal imaginary simple roots, whose sum is denoted by μ . Here $\xi(\mu) = (-1)^m$ if μ is a sum of m distinct pairwise orthogonal imaginary simple roots which

are orthogonal to λ , and $\xi(\mu) = 0$ otherwise. For our purposes we are mainly interested in the simplest case of the trivial representation $\lambda = 0$, for which $\operatorname{ch} R(\lambda) = 1$, and the character formula reduces to the so-called *denominator* formula

$$\sum_{w \in \mathcal{W}} \epsilon(w) w(T) = e^{-\rho} \prod_{\alpha \in \Delta^+} (1 - e^{\alpha})^{\operatorname{mult}(\alpha)}.$$
(4.11)

This formula relates a sum over the Weyl group $\mathcal W$ to an infinite product over all positive roots of $\mathfrak g$.

Let us generalize the denominator formula to the case where \mathfrak{g} is a BKM superalgebra. To this end, we need a little bit of additional structure. Again, we refer to [60] for details. Denote the set of roots of \mathfrak{g} by Δ . This splits into even or odd roots Δ_0, Δ_1 , respectively. Define the corresponding even and odd root multiplicities as follows

$$m_0(\alpha) = \dim(\mathfrak{g}_\alpha \cap \mathfrak{g}_0), \qquad m_1(\alpha) = \dim(\mathfrak{g}_\alpha \cap \mathfrak{g}_1) = \operatorname{mult}(\alpha) - m_0(\alpha).$$

(4.12)

Any root $\alpha \in \Delta$ can be expanded as $\alpha = \sum_{i \in I} k_i \alpha_i$. Define the *height* ht(α) and *even height* ht₀(α) of α as follows

$$\operatorname{ht}(\alpha) = \sum_{i \in I} k_i, \qquad \operatorname{ht}_0(\alpha) = \sum_{i \in I \setminus S} k_i.$$
(4.13)

Now introduce the following expressions where the sums are taken over all sums μ of distinct pairwise orthogonal imaginary simple roots:

$$T = e^{-\rho} \sum_{\mu} (-1)^{\operatorname{ht}(\mu)} e^{\mu}, \qquad T' = e^{-\rho} \sum_{\mu} (-1)^{\operatorname{ht}_0(\mu)} e^{\mu}, \qquad (4.14)$$

where ρ is the Weyl vector.

For any BKM superalgebra \mathfrak{g} , we have the *denominator formula* and *superdenominator formula*:

$$\sum_{w \in W} \epsilon(w)w(T) = \frac{e^{-\rho} \prod_{\alpha \in \Delta_0^+} (1 - e^{\alpha})^{m_0(\alpha)}}{\prod_{\alpha \in \Delta_1^+} (1 + e^{\alpha})^{m_1(\alpha)}},$$
$$\sum_{w \in W} \epsilon(w)w(T') = \frac{e^{-\rho} \prod_{\alpha \in \Delta_0^+} (1 - e^{\alpha})^{m_0(\alpha)}}{\prod_{\alpha \in \Delta_1^+} (1 - e^{\alpha})^{m_1(\alpha)}}.$$
(4.15)

4.2. Lie Algebras from the Chiral Superstring

In this section, we review how infinite-dimensional Lie (super)algebras, and in particular BKM (super)algebras, can be defined on the BRST cohomology of a *chiral* (super)string. This is the first step in understanding the appearance of BKM algebras in non-chiral superstring models that will be discussed in the next subsection.

Let us first consider the case of a bosonic chiral superstring theory obtained from the compactification on a holomorphic CFT of the form $V_{\Gamma^{1,1}} \otimes V$, where $V_{\Gamma^{1,1}}$ is the lattice vertex algebra related to the even unimodular lattice $\Gamma^{1,1}$ of signature (1, 1), and V is one of the bosonic self-dual VOAs of central charge c = 24. As mentioned in Sect. 3, upon tensoring with a bc ghost system and restricting to the ker b_0 subspace, for each $k \in \Gamma^{1,1}$ one can consider a complex $C^{\bullet}(k)$ with respect to a nilpotent BRST operator Q, and the corresponding cohomology $H^{\bullet}(k)$, $k \in \Gamma^{1,1}$. For $k \neq 0$, the cohomology is concentrated at degree (ghost number) 1, so one can focus on the space $\mathcal{H}^{\text{phys}} = \bigoplus_{k \in \Gamma^{1,1}} H^1(k)$.

Following Lian and Zuckerman [51,52], one can introduce a bilinear map $\{\cdot, \cdot\} : C^n(k) \times C^{n'}(k') \to C^{n+n'-1}(k+k')$ given by

$$\{u, v\} = (b_{-1}u)_0 v, \tag{4.16}$$

for $u \in C^n(k)$ and $v \in C^{n'}(k')$, where $(b_{-1}u)_0$ denotes the zero mode of the vertex operator $b_{-1}u$. The BRST charge Q acts on the bracket as a derivation, i.e., [52]

$$Q\{u, v\} = \{Qu, v\} + \{u, Qv\}.$$
(4.17)

In particular, if Qu = 0 = Qv, then $Q\{u, v\} = 0$; furthermore, if Qu = 0and v = Qw, then $\{u, v\} = Q\{u, w\} - \{Qu, w\} = Q\{u, w\}$ is exact. This implies that $\{\cdot, \cdot\}$ induces a well-defined bilinear map on cohomology $\{\cdot, \cdot\}$: $H^n(k) \times H^{n'}(k') \to H^{n+n'-1}(k+k')$ (we use the same symbol $\{\cdot, \cdot\}$ with abuse of notation). When acting on cohomology, the bracket is antisymmetric $\{u, v\} = -\{v, u\}$ and satisfies the Jacobi identity

$$\{u, \{v, w\}\} + \{w, \{u, v\}\} + \{v, \{w, u\}\} = 0.$$
(4.18)

As a consequence, one can define a Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} with underlying vector space $\mathcal{H}^{\text{phys}}$ and Lie bracket $[\cdot, \cdot] : \mathcal{H}^{\text{phys}} \times \mathcal{H}^{\text{phys}} \to \mathcal{H}^{\text{phys}}$ which coincides with $\{\cdot, \cdot\}$.

For a more explicit description of \mathfrak{g} , first notice that all Q-closed states $u \in \ker b_0$ are necessarily in $\ker L_0$, so that $b_{-1}u$ is a current, i.e., has conformal weight 1. The Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} is essentially the quotient of the algebra of zero modes of these currents by the ideal of zero modes of states of the form $b_{-1}Qw$.

This construction generalizes easily to the supersymmetric case. In this case, one has a BRST complex $C_p^{\bullet}(k)$ and the corresponding cohomology $H_p^n(k)$ for each momentum $k \in \Gamma^{1,1}$ and picture number $p \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}$. For $k \neq 0$, the cohomology is concentrated at degree 1, and the picture changing homomorphism $X : H_p^n(k) \to H_{p+1}^n(k)$ is an isomorphism, so that one focuses on $\mathcal{H}^{\text{phys}} = \bigoplus_{k \in \Gamma^{1,1}} H_{-1}^1(k) \oplus H_{-1/2}^1(k)$.

The bilinear map of Lian and Zuckerman admits a simple generalization $\{\cdot, \cdot\} : C_p^n(k) \times C_{p'}^{n'}(k') \to C_{p+p'}^{n+n'-1}(k+k')$ given by [52]

$$\{u,v\} = (-1)^{|u|} (b_{-1}u)_0 v, \qquad u \in C_p^n(k), \quad v \in C_{p'}^{n'}(k')$$
(4.19)

where $|u| \in \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$ is defined as $|u| = n + 2p \mod 2$. A \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded version $Q\{u, v\} = \{Qu, v\} + (-1)^{|u|-1}\{u, Qv\}$ of (4.17) holds, so that the bracket is well defined on cohomology $\{\cdot, \cdot\} : H_p^n(k) \times H_{p'}^{n'}(k') \to H_{p+p'}^{n+n'-1}(k+k')$, where it satisfies a \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded skew-symmetry relation $\{u, v\} + (-1)^{(|u|+1)(|v|+1)}\{v, u\} =$

0 and a \mathbb{Z}_2 -graded version of the Jacobi identity. The action of the picturechanging operator X is compatible with the bracket, in the sense that

$$X\{u,v\} = \{Xu,v\} = \{u,Xv\}.$$
(4.20)

One can now use this bracket to define the structure of a Lie superalgebra \mathfrak{g} on $\mathcal{H}^{\text{phys}}$, where $\mathfrak{g}_0 := \bigoplus_{k \in \Gamma^{1,1}} H^1_{-1}(k)$ is the even component and $\mathfrak{g}_1 := \bigoplus_{k \in \Gamma^{1,1}} H^1_{-1/2}(k)$ is the odd component. The Lie bracket $[\cdot, \cdot]$ between two odd elements is simply defined as

$$[u, v] := \{u, v\}, \qquad u, v \in \mathfrak{g}_1. \tag{4.21}$$

When one of the elements is even, for example if $u \in \bigoplus_{k \in \Gamma^{1,1}} H^1_{-1}(k)$ and $v \in \bigoplus_{k \in \Gamma^{1,1}} H^1_p(k)$, $p \in \{-1, -1/2\}$, then the Lian–Zuckerman bracket $\{u, v\} \in \bigoplus_{k \in \Gamma^{1,1}} H^1_{p-1}(k)$ is not contained in $\mathcal{H}^{\text{phys}}$. In this case, one needs to use the picture-changing operator to define the Lie bracket

$$[u,v] := X\{u,v\}, \qquad u \in \mathfrak{g}_0, v \in \mathfrak{g} \quad \text{or} \quad u \in \mathfrak{g}, v \in \mathfrak{g}_0.$$
(4.22)

Both in the bosonic and in the supersymmetric case, the algebra \mathfrak{g} is graded by momentum $\mathfrak{g} = \bigoplus_{k \in \Gamma^{1,1}} \mathfrak{g}(k)$. The zero momentum subalgebra $\mathfrak{g}(0)$ always contains two commuting (even) generators P^{μ} , $\mu \in \{+, -\}$ corresponding to spacetime momentum, so that the spaces $\mathfrak{g}(k)$ are the eigenspaces of P^{μ} (in their adjoint action on \mathfrak{g}) with eigenvalue k^{μ} . The momentum generators P^{μ} are usually included in the Cartan subalgebra $\mathfrak{h} \subset \mathfrak{g}$; as a consequence, \mathfrak{h} is contained in the zero-momentum subalgebra $\mathfrak{g}(0)$. In the supersymmetric case, $\mathfrak{g}(0)$ can also contain some odd elements corresponding to spacetime supersymmetry generators. In fact, the construction that we just described, when restricted to zero momentum, provides the standard spacetime supersymmetry algebras in general superstring models, see [59].

A case-by-case analysis shows that the infinite-dimensional Lie (super) algebra \mathfrak{g} obtained from the BRST cohomology of a chiral (super)string on $V \otimes V_{\Gamma^{1,1}}$ is always a BKM (super)algebra. In particular, in the bosonic case, this has been first proved in [9] and [10] when V is the monster VOA V^{\ddagger} or one of the lattice VOAs related to Niemeier lattices, and in [22,42,43,53] for the other bosonic VOAs of central charge 24. The proofs for the supersymmetric cases V^{fE_8} , $V^{f\ddagger}$, and F_{24} can be found respectively in [36,37,61]. For most of these algebras, these references also provide some descriptions of \mathfrak{g} in terms of generators and relations, as in the definition of Sect. 4.1. An exception is F_{24} , where for some choices of $\mathcal{N} = 1$ superVirasoro algebra of F_{24} , the set of simple roots is not even known [36].

More generally, the Lian and Zuckerman construction can be applied to superstring compactifications where the chiral algebra is a generic VOA of central charge 26, not necessarily of the form $V \otimes V_{\Gamma^{1,1}}$ [51,52]. For these general cases, there is no reason to expect the Lie (super)algebra of the chiral BRST cohomology to be a BKM; in particular it might not admit an analog of the Borcherds–Kac–Weyl (super-)denominator formula.

4.3. BPS States in Superstring Models

In [55,56], several of the authors conjectured the appearance of a BKM algebra in a string theory whose worldsheet matter CFT, prior to compactification on a spatial circle, was holomorphically factorized. In this section, we will expand upon and generalize the BKM action studied in [55,56].

The basic idea of [55,56] was as follows. We began with a heterotic string theory whose internal worldsheet CFT was given by the c = 24 holomorphic monster VOA, V^{\ddagger} , tensored with the anti-holomorphic c = 12 SVOA $V^{f\ddagger}$ (for the NS sector), or its "canonically twisted module" (for the R sector). Completing the standard string theory voodoo (adding ghost sectors, GSO projecting, etc) resulted in a (1+1)-d theory with $\mathcal{N} = (0, 24)$ supersymmetry. In 2d string theory, the GSO projection relates the internal fermion number of the worldsheet CFT to fermion chirality in spacetime. Compactifying the remaining spatial direction on a circle S^1 of radius R enables one to write the supersymmetry algebra as

$$\left\{\mathcal{Q}^{i}, \mathcal{Q}^{j}\right\} = 2\delta^{ij}(P_{r}^{0} - P_{r}^{1}), \quad i, j = 1, \dots, 24,$$
(4.23)

expressed in terms of the temporal and spatial components of the *right-moving* momenta around the circle. BPS states in this model are annihilated by all supercharges and hence satisfy $k_r^0 = k_r^1$, having equal eigenvalues of the P_r^0, P_r^1 operators. BPS states furnish a subspace of physical states in the (0+1)-d string theory, and the latter arise as usual from BRST cohomology classes with respect to a nilpotent operator $Q = Q_l + Q_r$, which can be expressed as a sum of left- and right-moving pieces. When the right-moving momentum is nonzero, the space of physical states factorizes into a product of left- and right-moving cohomology classes, graded by momenta, picture number, and ghost number. To the left-moving factor, we can associate a BKM algebra following precisely the chiral construction; on the subspace of BPS states, the right-moving factor degenerates into 24 copies of the trivial representation of this algebra, contributing only a (24-fold) multiplicity to each BPS state. In other words, although we cannot tensor two Lie algebras to obtain a Lie algebra, a single copy of the BKM structure is preserved upon tensoring with (copies of) the trivial representation. It turns out that in this non-chiral string theory, for each choice of BRST-representative satisfying the BPS condition $k_r^0 = k_r^1$, there is a corresponding nonzero BRST-exact state obtained from it by acting with a single supercharge Q^i . The BRST-exact state is the Q_r image of a Q_l -closed state. One can then obtain a correspondence between generators of a BKM algebra (in this case, the monster Lie algebra) and the quotient space coming from the space of Q_r -exact Q_l -closed BPS states by the space of Q_l -exact states.

In the remainder of this section, we will expand and improve upon this algebra construction, generalize to the type II case, and clarify various subtleties and issues along the way.

Let us consider either a heterotic or type II superstring theory model compactified on $(V_1 \otimes \overline{V}_2) \otimes S^1$, where V_2 is a self-dual SVOA of central charge 12 and V_1 is either a self-dual VOA of central charge 24 (in the heterotic case) or a self-dual SVOA of central charge 12 (in the type II case). Following the analysis of the previous section, the space of physical states has the form

$$\mathcal{H}^{\text{phys}} := \left(\bigoplus_{\substack{k_l, k_r \neq 0 \\ k_l^0 = k_r^0}} H^1(k_l) \otimes \bar{H}^1(k_r) \right) \oplus \mathsf{H}^2(0,0), \tag{4.24}$$

where $H^1(k)$ and $\overline{H}^1(k)$ are the cohomology space for the chiral and anti-chiral models with respect to the left- and right-moving BRST charges Q_l and Q_r . We have separated the nonzero-momentum states from the zero-momentum states, which do not necessarily factorize (see "Appendix B"). In the fermionic case, H^1 is a direct sum of -1 (NS) and -1/2 (R) picture components.

We want to focus on the subspace

$$\mathcal{H}_{\text{BPS}} := \left(\bigoplus_{\substack{k_l, k_r \neq 0\\ k_l^0 = k_r^0 = k_r^1}} H^1(k_l) \otimes \bar{H}^1(k_r) \right) \oplus \mathsf{H}^2(0, 0)', \tag{4.25}$$

of physical states satisfying

$$k_r^0 = k_r^1. (4.26)$$

The zero-momentum sector $\mathsf{H}^2(0,0)'$ is obtained from $\mathsf{H}^2(0,0)$ by taking a certain quotient of a suitable subspace; we will give the precise definition in Sect. 4.5. If the model has spacetime supersymmetry, corresponding to gravitinos of positive chirality in the NS-R sector of the theory, then $\mathcal{H}_{\rm BPS}$ is the subspace of states annihilated by those supersymmetries, hence BPS states. We use the same notation $\mathcal{H}_{\rm BPS}$ even when there are no spacetime supersymmetries. The possible momenta for states in $\mathcal{H}_{\rm BPS}$ are labeled by two integers $m, w \in \mathbb{Z}$ as follows:

$$k_l^0 = k_r^0 = k_r^1 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\frac{m}{R} + wR\right), \qquad k_l^1 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\frac{m}{R} - wR\right), \qquad (4.27)$$

where R is the radius of the circle.

Recall that with the self-dual VOA or SVOA V_1 is canonically associated, via the "chiral (super)string construction," a BKM algebra (if V_1 is bosonic) [10] or superalgebra (if V_1 is an SVOA) \mathfrak{g} [61,62].

In the remainder of this section, we will prove the following:

1. There is a representation δ

$$\delta: \mathfrak{g} \to \operatorname{End}(\mathcal{H}_{\mathrm{BPS}}) \tag{4.28}$$

$$x \mapsto \delta_x \tag{4.29}$$

of the BKM (super)algebra \mathfrak{g} associated with V_1 on the space \mathcal{H}_{BPS} of physical BPS states. The elements $x \in \mathfrak{g}$ are identified with certain Q_l closed states v_x of ghost number (1,0) in the superstring theory satisfying the "BPS" condition $k_r^0 = k_r^1$, or equivalently with their BRST variation Qv_x , which only has components with ghost numbers (1,1). For the heterotic string, the BRST variations Qv_x are exact "BPS" states in the NS sector; in the type II case, the even and odd components \mathfrak{g}_0 and \mathfrak{g}_1 correspond to exact "BPS" states in the NS-NS and R-NS sector, respectively. Here, "BPS" is in quotes because these states satisfy the condition $k_r^0 = k_r^1$, but they are not physical states since they are cohomologically trivial. Note that the algebra action does not mix the right-moving NS sector with the right-moving R sector of \mathcal{H}_{BPS} , so that the representation \mathcal{H}_{BPS} is, in general, the sum of two representations corresponding to these sectors. This is proven in Sect. 4.4.

2. The action of \mathfrak{g} on \mathcal{H}_{BPS} is a symmetry of tree-level string theory amplitudes involving only states in \mathcal{H}_{BPS} (purely BPS amplitudes). Explicitly, for each $x \in \mathfrak{g}$ and every $\varrho_1, \ldots, \varrho_n \in \mathcal{H}_{BPS}$, we have

$$\delta_x \left(\int_{\mathcal{M}_{0,n}} \left\langle \prod_{i=1}^n \mathcal{V}_{\varrho_i} \right\rangle \right) \equiv \sum_{j=1}^n \int_{\mathcal{M}_{0,n}} \left\langle \mathcal{V}_{\delta_x(\varrho_j)} \prod_{i \neq j} \mathcal{V}_{\varrho_i} \right\rangle = 0, \quad (4.30)$$

where $\int_{\mathcal{M}_{0,n}}$ denotes the integration over the appropriate (super)moduli space of genus 0 with *n* punctures. Here, \mathcal{V}_{ϱ} is the vertex operator corresponding to a state $\varrho \in \mathcal{H}_{BPS}$. Roughly speaking, this result will be obtained as follows. One considers an n + 1-point amplitude where the additional vertex operator corresponds to the insertion of the BRSTexact state Qv_x associated with $x \in \mathfrak{g}$. By standard arguments, since this amplitude includes one BRST-exact and *n* BRST-closed states, it is expected to vanish. One then integrates over the modulus parametrizing the position of the exact state.⁶ The amplitude is a total derivative with respect to this modulus, so it gets contributions only from the boundary of the moduli space, i.e., from the limit where the insertion of the exact vertex operator coincides with one of the other *n* punctures. One then just needs to prove that the sum over the boundary contributions has the form (4.30).

Claim 1 above is proven in Sect. 4.4 and claim 2 is proven in Sect. 4.6.

We further conjecture that \mathfrak{g} is a symmetry of BPS amplitudes at all loops, by analogous reasoning to that outlined above. On the other hand, we do not expect the action of \mathfrak{g} to extend to the whole space of physical states $\mathcal{H}^{\mathrm{phys}}$.⁷

Similarly, the superalgebra $\bar{\mathbf{g}}$ associated with the anti-holomorphic SVOA \bar{V}_2 acts on the space $\bar{\mathcal{H}}_{BPS}$ of states satisfying $k_l^0 = k_l^1$, and is a symmetry of the amplitudes built only from the states in such space. Note that the space $\bar{\mathcal{H}}_{BPS}$ is different from \mathcal{H}_{BPS} , so that there is apparently no space of states where both \mathbf{g} and $\bar{\mathbf{g}}$ act.

⁶When x is an odd element of a superalgebra, so that v_x is in the R-NS sector, this statement needs to be refined; see Sect. 4.6.

⁷Of course, the zero-momentum subalgebra of \mathfrak{g} , which corresponds to the standard symmetries related to conservation of spacetime momentum and winding number, will act on all of $\mathcal{H}^{\mathrm{phys}}$.

4.4. The BPS Subspace as a Representation of the BKM Algebra

In this section, we define the action of \mathfrak{g} on \mathcal{H}_{BPS} . We begin by focusing on the states of nonzero momentum, which factorize into chiral and anti-chiral components. The algebra \mathfrak{g} associated with V_1 is the direct sum of finitedimensional components graded by "momentum" k taking values in the even unimodular lattice $\Gamma^{1,1} \cong \mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z}$:

$$\mathfrak{g} = \bigoplus_{k \in \Gamma^{1,1}} \mathfrak{g}(k) = \bigoplus_{m,w \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathfrak{g}(m,w), \qquad (4.31)$$

where the components $\mathfrak{g}(k)$ are isomorphic, as vector spaces, to the BRST cohomology with respect to the left-moving BRST charge Q_l at momentum k,

$$\mathfrak{g}(k) \cong H^1(k), \qquad k \in \Gamma^{1,1}. \tag{4.32}$$

There is an analogous BKM superalgebra $\bar{\mathfrak{g}}$ associated with the SVOA V_2 , which admits a similar decomposition

$$\bar{\mathfrak{g}} = \bigoplus_{k \in \Gamma^{1,1}} \bar{\mathfrak{g}}(k) = \bigoplus_{m,w \in \mathbb{Z}} \bar{\mathfrak{g}}(m,w), \tag{4.33}$$

with

$$\bar{\mathfrak{g}}(k) \cong \bar{H}^1(k), \qquad k \in \Gamma^{1,1}.$$
(4.34)

We work in the relative, rather than semirelative, cohomology, so that the BPS states in \mathcal{H}_{BPS} admit representatives that are holomorphically factorized

$$\varrho \otimes \bar{\varsigma} \tag{4.35}$$

as tensor products of representatives ρ and $\bar{\varsigma}$ for classes in $H^1(k_l) \cong \mathfrak{g}(k_l)$ and $\bar{H}^1(k_r)$, respectively. (Here, the isomorphisms are to be understood as isomorphisms of vector spaces; we do not claim that an algebra structure is preserved on the tensor product.) The BPS condition $k_r^0 = k_r^1$, together with the quantization of momentum k^1 along the circle S^1 of radius R and the conditions $k_l^0 = k_r^0$ (from the uncompactified time direction), implies that

$$k_l^0 = k_r^0 = k_r^1 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\frac{m}{R} + wR \right), \qquad k_l^1 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\frac{m}{R} - wR \right), \qquad m, w \in \mathbb{Z}$$
(4.36)

where m and w are the quantized momentum and winding number along S^1 , respectively. This means that the left-moving momentum takes values in a lattice isomorphic to $\Gamma^{1,1} \cong \mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z}$. The right-moving momentum takes values in a null subspace of $\mathbb{R}^{1,1}$, i.e., $k_r^2 = 0$, and depends on $m, w \in \mathbb{Z}$ as

$$k_r^0 = k_r^1 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\frac{m}{R} + wR\right).$$
(4.37)

Let us focus on the space $\bar{H}^1(k_r)$. Suppose that $\{\bar{v}^a\}_{a=1,..,\chi^{NS}}$ and $\{\bar{u}^{i+}\}_{i=1,...,\chi^R_+}$ are bases for the spaces $\bar{V}_2^{NS}(1/2)$ and $\bar{V}_2^{R+}(1/2)$ of states of conformal weight 1/2 in, respectively, the NS and positive fermion number Ramond sector of the anti-holomorphic SCFT \bar{V}_2 . For $k_r^0 = k_r^1 \neq 0$, the space of Q_r -closed states with ghost number 1, picture number -1 and weight 0 in the anti-holomorphic matter+ghost CFT is spanned by:

$$\bar{v}^{a}_{-1/2}e^{-\tilde{\phi}}\bar{c}_{1}e^{ik_{r}X_{r}}|0\rangle, \qquad \left(\bar{\psi}^{0}_{-1/2}-\bar{\psi}^{1}_{-1/2}\right)e^{-\tilde{\phi}}\bar{c}_{1}e^{ik_{r}X_{r}}|0\rangle, \qquad (4.38)$$

and the latter state is the only Q_r -exact state. It is proportional to $Q_r\bar{\beta}_{-1/2}e^{-\bar{\phi}}\bar{c}_1e^{ik_rX_r}|0\rangle$. In the -1/2 picture, the space of Q_r -closed states with $k_r^0 = k_r^1 \neq 0$ is spanned by

$$\bar{u}_{-1/2}^{i+}e^{-\tilde{\phi}/2}\bar{c}_{1}e^{ik_{r}X_{r}}|0,-\rangle, i=1,\ldots,\chi_{+}^{\mathrm{R}}(V_{2}),$$
(4.39)

where $|0, -\rangle$ is a Ramond ground state of the $(\bar{\psi}^{\mu}, \bar{\partial}X^{\mu})$ SVOA with negative chirality. This shows that all cohomology spaces $\bar{H}^1(k_r)$, with $k_r^0 = k_r^1 \neq 0$, have dimension $\chi^{\rm NS}(V_2) + \chi^{\rm R+}(V_2)$ and are all isomorphic to each other. In fact, there is a distinguished isomorphism among them. One considers the vertex operator $e^{i(k'_r - k_r)X_r}$, which has conformal weight 0 and non-singular OPE with all the states (4.38) and (4.39). It is easy to see that the zero mode $(e^{i(k'_r - k_r)X_r})_0$ induces a well-defined map

$$\left(e^{i(k'_r-k_r)X_r}\right)_0: \bar{H}^1(k_r) \to \bar{H}^1(k'_r),$$
 (4.40)

which is an isomorphism for $k_r, k'_r \neq 0$.

With these preparations, one can then define the action of an element $x \in \mathfrak{g}(m, w)$ on a physical state $\varrho \otimes \overline{\varsigma} \in \mathcal{H}_{BPS}$ by

$$\delta_x(\varrho \otimes \bar{\varsigma}) := [x, \varrho] \otimes (e^{\frac{i}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\frac{m}{R} + wR\right) X_r})_0 \bar{\varsigma}.$$
(4.41)

Here, we use the fact that the left-moving factor $\varrho \in H^1(k_l) \cong \mathfrak{g}(k_l)$ can be seen as an element of the algebra \mathfrak{g} itself. The shift in the right-moving momentum is necessary to preserve the condition $k_l^0 = k_r^0 = k_r^1$.

If we have two elements $x \in \mathfrak{g}(m, w), x' \in \mathfrak{g}(m', w')$, one has

$$\begin{aligned} (\delta_x \delta_{x'} - \delta_{x'} \delta_x)(\varrho \otimes \bar{\varsigma}) &= ([x, [x', \varrho]] - [x', [x, \varrho]]) \otimes \left(e^{\frac{i}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\frac{m+m'}{R} + (w+w')R \right) X_r} \right)_0 \bar{\varsigma} \\ (4.42) \\ &= [[x, x'], \varrho] \otimes \left(e^{\frac{i}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\frac{m+m'}{R} + (w+w')R \right) X_r} \right)_0 \bar{\varsigma} \end{aligned}$$

$$=\delta_{[x,x']}(\varrho\otimes\bar{\varsigma})\tag{4.43}$$

where in the second line we used the Jacobi identity. This shows that δ is indeed a representation of \mathfrak{g} —in fact, it is the tensor product of the adjoint representation of \mathfrak{g} times a trivial (in general, not irreducible) representation of dimension $\chi^{NS}(V_2) + \chi^R_+(V_2)$. This proves the first claim in Sect. 4.3.

4.5. Subtleties with Zero Momentum

The procedure described in the previous subsection is problematic when either $\rho \otimes \bar{\varsigma} \in \mathcal{H}_{BPS}$ or $\delta_x(\rho \otimes \bar{\varsigma})$ has zero right-moving momentum.⁸ The problem

⁸As explained below, we are going to exclude the ghost dilaton from the space \mathcal{H}_{BPS} . This allows us to represent the states in \mathcal{H}_{BPS} as elements in the tensor product $H^1(k_l) \otimes \bar{H}^1(k_r)$ even at zero momentum $k_l = k_r = 0$. See "Appendix B" for details.

is that the operator $(e^{i(k'_r-k_r)X_r})_0$ from states of momentum k_r to states of momentum k'_r does not map, in general, Q_r -closed states to Q_r -closed states and Q_r -exact states to Q_r -exact states.

Indeed, the vertex operator $e^{ip_r X_r}(\bar{z})$, with $p_r^1 = p_r^0$, does not commute with Q

$$[Q, e^{ip_r X_r}] = p_{r\mu} (\bar{c}\bar{\partial}X^\mu + \bar{\gamma}\bar{\psi}^\mu) e^{ip_r X_r}.$$

$$(4.44)$$

Given this result, it is quite surprising that, at least for certain momenta, the zero mode $(e^{ip_r X_r})_0$ gives a well-defined map on the cohomology at all. Note, however, that the zero mode of $p_{r\mu}\bar{\partial}X^{\mu}$, when acting on states with $k_r^0 = k_r^1$, gives a term proportional to $k_r \cdot p_r = 0$, since k_r and p_r are both null and proportional to each other. As for the second term, the only cases where it is potentially nonvanishing is when the commutator $[Q, e^{ip_r X_r}]$ is applied to the ghost number 0 state $\bar{\beta}_{-1/2}e^{-\bar{\phi}}\bar{c}_1|k_r\rangle$ or the ghost number 1 states $\bar{\psi}^{\mu}_{-1/2}e^{-\bar{\phi}}\bar{c}_1|k_r\rangle$ and $\bar{u}^{i\mp}_{-1/2}e^{-\bar{\phi}-\bar{\lambda}}[k_r,\pm\rangle$. In these cases, we have

$$(e^{ip_r X_r})_0 Q_r \,\bar{\beta}_{-1/2} e^{-\bar{\phi}} \bar{c}_1 |k_r\rangle = k_{r\mu} \bar{\psi}^{\mu}_{-1/2} e^{-\tilde{\phi}} \bar{c}_1 |k_r + p_r\rangle, \tag{4.45}$$

$$Q_r(e^{ip_r X_r})_0 \bar{\beta}_{-1/2} e^{-\bar{\phi}} \bar{c}_1 |k_r\rangle = (k_{r\mu} + p_{r\mu}) \bar{\psi}^{\mu}_{-1/2} e^{-\phi} \bar{c}_1 |k_r + p_r\rangle, \qquad (4.46)$$

as well as

$$(e^{ip_{r}X_{r}})_{0}Q_{r}\epsilon_{\mu}\bar{\psi}^{\mu}_{-1/2}e^{-\tilde{\phi}}\bar{c}_{1}|k_{r}\rangle = \epsilon_{\mu}k_{r}^{\mu}\gamma_{-1/2}e^{-\tilde{\phi}}\bar{c}_{1}|k_{r}+p_{r}\rangle, \qquad (4.47)$$

$$Q_r(e^{ip_r X_r})_0 \epsilon_\mu \bar{\psi}^{\mu}_{-1/2} e^{-\phi} \bar{c}_1 |k_r\rangle = \epsilon_\mu (k_r^{\mu} + p_r^{\mu}) \gamma_{-1/2} e^{-\phi} \bar{c}_1 |k_r + p_r\rangle, \quad (4.48)$$

and

$$(e^{ip_r X_r})_0 Q_r \bar{u}_{-1/2}^{i\mp} e^{-\tilde{\phi}/2} \bar{c}_1 |k_r, \pm\rangle = k_{r\mu} \bar{\gamma}_0 \bar{\psi}_0^{\mu} \bar{u}_{-1/2}^{i\mp} e^{-\tilde{\phi}/2} \bar{c}_1 |k_r + p_r, \pm\rangle, \quad (4.49)$$

$$Q_r(e^{ip_r X_r})_0 \bar{u}_{-1/2}^{i\mp} e^{-\phi/2} \bar{c}_1 |k_r, \pm\rangle = (k_{r\mu} + p_{r\mu}) \bar{\gamma}_0 \bar{\psi}_0^{\mu} \bar{u}_{-1/2}^{i\mp} e^{-\phi/2} \bar{c}_1 |k_r + p_r, \pm\rangle.$$
(4.50)

Since k_r and $k_r + p_r$ are proportional to each other, then so long as both $k_r \neq 0$ and $k_r + p_r \neq 0$, exchanging $(e^{ip_r X_r})_0$ and Q_r gives just a rescaling of the resulting state. This explains why $(e^{ip_r X_r})_0$ provides an isomorphism of cohomology in these cases. Of course, these arguments only work for states in \mathcal{H}_{BPS} , so there seems to be no natural way to extend the action of \mathfrak{g} to the whole space of physical states \mathcal{H}^{phys} .

The problems arise when either k_r or $k_r + p_r$ is zero. Recall that for $k_r^0 = k_r^1 = 0$ and ghost number 1 the Q_r -closed states are

$$\nu^{a} := \bar{v}^{a}_{-1/2} e^{-\tilde{\phi}} \bar{c}_{1} |0\rangle, \qquad a = 1, \dots, \chi^{\text{NS}}(V_{2}) \qquad (4.51)$$

$$\nu_{-} := (\bar{\psi}^{0}_{-1/2} - \bar{\psi}^{1}_{-1/2}) e^{-\tilde{\phi}} \bar{c}_{1} |0\rangle, \qquad (4.52)$$

$$\nu_{+} := (\bar{\psi}^{0}_{-1/2} + \bar{\psi}^{1}_{-1/2}) e^{-\tilde{\phi}} \bar{c}_{1} |0\rangle, \qquad (4.53)$$

in the -1-picture (NS sector), and

$$v_{+}^{i} := \bar{u}_{-1/2}^{i-} e^{-\tilde{\phi}/2} \bar{c}_{1} |0,+\rangle, \qquad i = 1, \dots, \chi_{-}^{\mathrm{R}}(V_{2})$$
(4.54)

$$v_{-}^{i} := \bar{u}_{-1/2}^{i+} e^{-\tilde{\phi}/2} \bar{c}_{1} |0, -\rangle, \qquad i = 1, \dots, \chi_{+}^{\mathrm{R}}(V_{2})$$
(4.55)

in the -1/2-picture (Ramond sector). None of these states is Q_r -exact.

Therefore, we have two kinds of problems:

- 1. The state $\epsilon_{\mu}\bar{\psi}^{\mu}_{-1/2}e^{-\tilde{\phi}}\bar{c}_{1}|0\rangle$ at zero momentum, which is closed for every choice of polarization ϵ_{μ} , is mapped by $(e^{ip_{r}X_{r}})_{0}$ to $\epsilon_{\mu}\bar{\psi}^{\mu}_{-1/2}e^{-\tilde{\phi}}\bar{c}_{1}|p_{r}\rangle$, which is closed only when ϵ_{μ} is proportional to $p_{r\mu}$. Similarly, the Q_{r} closed states v^{i+} in the Ramond sector are mapped to the states $\bar{u}^{i-}_{-1/2}e^{-\tilde{\phi}/2}\bar{c}_{1}|p_{r},+\rangle$ that are not closed for $p_{r}^{0} = p_{r}^{1}$. Therefore, $(e^{ip_{r}X_{r}})_{0}$ maps physical states with zero momentum to non-physical states with momentum p_{r} .
- 2. The state $k_{r\mu}\bar{\psi}^{\mu}_{-1/2}e^{-\tilde{\phi}}\bar{c}_1|k_r\rangle$ at momentum $k_r \neq 0$, which is exact, is mapped by $(e^{-ik_rX_r})_0$ to the state $k_{r\mu}\bar{\psi}^{\mu}_{-1/2}e^{-\tilde{\phi}}\bar{c}_1|0\rangle$, which is closed but not exact. Therefore, $(e^{-ik_rX_r})_0$ maps exact states with momentum k_r to non-exact states with momentum 0.

As a consequence, $(e^{ip_r X_r})_0$ does not induce a well-defined map on cohomology in these cases.

Possible resolutions. For problem 1 above, there is actually a simple (though perhaps slightly unnatural) solution. In the NS sector, we can just exclude the states $\epsilon_{\mu} \bar{\psi}^{\mu}_{-1/2} e^{-\tilde{\phi}} \bar{c}_1 |0\rangle$ from \mathcal{H}_{BPS} , with the exception of the combination

$$\nu_{-} = (\bar{\psi}^{0}_{-1/2} - \bar{\psi}^{1}_{-1/2})e^{-\tilde{\phi}}\bar{c}_{1}|0\rangle.$$
(4.56)

Similarly, in the Ramond sector, we only include the states v_{-}^{i} and exclude the states v_{+}^{i} . Since we are already considering a particular subspace of $\mathcal{H}^{\text{phys}}$, there seems to be nothing wrong with making one further restriction. Note that by acting with the algebra \mathfrak{g} on \mathcal{H}_{BPS} there is no way to obtain a linear combination $\epsilon_{\mu} \bar{\psi}_{-1/2}^{\mu} e^{-\tilde{\phi}} \bar{c}_{1} |0\rangle$ different from (4.56), nor a state of the form v_{+}^{i} , so the restricted space is still a representation of \mathfrak{g} . In the same fashion, we also exclude the ghost dilaton (see "Appendix B").

Problem 2, related to the fact that the state (4.56) is not exact at zero momentum, is more subtle. This state, when tensored with an appropriate leftmoving counterpart, corresponds to a soft particle. Soft particles in amplitudes couple to other particles through conserved charges. In this case, the conserved charge is $k^0 - k^1$. (The 0 picture version of the corresponding vertex operator is proportional to the current $\bar{\partial}X^0 - \bar{\partial}X^1$.) Therefore, ν_- should decouple from any amplitude with states in \mathcal{H}_{BPS} , i.e., amplitudes with one state (4.56) and all the other states in \mathcal{H}_{BPS} are always zero. In Sect. 4.6, we check this expectation by a direct calculation. This implies that, so long as we consider symmetries of purely BPS amplitudes, the state ν_- is equivalent to 0 (or to a BRST-exact state). For these reasons, it seems reasonable that the action of \mathfrak{g} , which is a symmetry of these purely BPS amplitudes, is only defined modulo ν_- .

3693

The conclusion is that, at zero momentum, one should really consider a quotient of $\bar{H}^1(0)$ by the state (4.56). Altogether, the zero-momentum space $H^2(0,0)'$ that should be included in \mathcal{H}_{BPS} is

$$\mathsf{H}^{2}(0,0)' = H^{1}(0) \otimes \bar{H}^{1}(0)', \tag{4.57}$$

where

$$\bar{H}^{1}(0)' = \left(\bigoplus_{a=1}^{\chi^{\rm NS}} \mathbb{C}\nu^{a} \oplus \mathbb{C}\nu_{-} \oplus \bigoplus_{i=1}^{\chi^{\rm R}_{+}} \mathbb{C}\upsilon_{-}^{i} \right) / \mathbb{C}\nu_{-} \cong \bigoplus_{a=1}^{\chi^{\rm NS}} \mathbb{C}\nu^{a} \oplus \bigoplus_{i=1}^{\chi^{\rm R}_{+}} \mathbb{C}\upsilon_{-}^{i}.$$

$$(4.58)$$

The restricted quotient space $\bar{H}^1(0)'$ has dimension $\chi^{\rm NS} + \chi^{\rm R}_+$, and it is isomorphic to the cohomology at nonzero momentum, with the isomorphism given by operators $(e^{ip_r X_r})_0$.

With this definition, the action of \mathfrak{g} on $\mathcal{H}_{\mathrm{BPS}}$ is well defined, but it remains to show that it acts in the appropriate way on BPS amplitudes.

4.6. Symmetry of BPS Amplitudes

In this subsection, we will prove (4.30).

Let us consider a purely BPS genus zero string amplitude

$$A_n = \int_{\mathcal{M}_{0,n}} \left\langle \prod_{i=1}^n \mathcal{V}_{\varrho_i \otimes \bar{\varsigma}_i}(z_i, \bar{z}_i) \right\rangle$$
(4.59)

with $n \geq 3$ insertions of vertex operators $\mathcal{V}_{\varrho_i \otimes \bar{\varsigma}_i}$ corresponding to BRST-closed states $\varrho_i \otimes \bar{\varsigma}_i$ representing classes in the BPS subspace \mathcal{H}_{BPS} , i.e., such that $k_r^0 = k_r^1$ for all *i*. The picture numbers are chosen so as to give a nonzero answer, and n-3 vertex operators are integrated.

For states in $\mathcal{H}_{\mathrm{BPS}}$, the integrand factorizes into a holomorphic times an anti-holomorphic factor

$$\left\langle \prod_{i=1}^{n} \mathcal{V}_{\varrho_{i} \otimes \bar{\varsigma}_{i}}(z_{i}, \bar{z}_{i}) \right\rangle = \left\langle \prod_{i=1}^{n} \mathcal{V}_{\varrho}(z_{i}) \right\rangle \left\langle \prod_{i=1}^{n} \mathcal{V}_{\bar{\varsigma}_{i}}(\bar{z}_{i}) \right\rangle.$$
(4.60)

Let us focus on the right-moving factor, which must be anti-holomorphic in the variables z_i , with possible singularities when two insertion points coincide. The BPS and physical state conditions imply that the $\mathcal{V}_{\bar{\varsigma}_i}$ are built using only the following combinations of right-moving "spacetime" operators

$$\bar{\psi}^0 - \bar{\psi}^1, \qquad \bar{\partial}X^0 - \bar{\partial}X^1, \qquad e^{ik_r X_r} \text{ (with } k_r^0 = k_r^1), \qquad (4.61)$$

multiplied by (super-)ghost and internal matter operators. Using the OPE

$$\bar{\partial}X^{\mu}(\bar{z})\bar{\partial}X^{\nu}(0) = -\frac{\eta^{\mu\nu}}{\bar{z}^{2}} + O(1), \qquad \bar{\psi}^{\mu}(\bar{z})\bar{\psi}^{\nu}(0) = \frac{\eta^{\mu\nu}}{\bar{z}} + O(1) \quad (4.62)$$

$$\bar{\partial}X^{\mu}(z)e^{ik_rX_r}(0) = \frac{ik_r^{\mu}}{\bar{z}}e^{ik_rX_r}(0) + O(1), \qquad (4.63)$$

$$e^{ik_r X_r}(\bar{z})e^{ik'_r X_r}(0) = \bar{z}^{k_r \cdot k'_r}(\pm e^{i(k_r + k'_r)X_r}(0) + O(\bar{z})),$$
(4.64)

it is easy to see that the spacetime operators (4.61) have non-singular OPE with each other.

Now, suppose that one of the vertex operators $\mathcal{V}_{\bar{\varsigma}}(\bar{z})$ (taken in the 0picture, integrated form) is just a product of spacetime operators (4.61), with no further "internal" matter or ghost factor. An example is

$$\mathcal{V}_{\bar{\varsigma}}(\bar{z}) =: (\bar{\partial}X^0 - \bar{\partial}X^1)e^{ik_r X_r} : (\bar{z})d\bar{z}, \tag{4.65}$$

which is the 0-picture vertex operator of the closed state $\bar{\varsigma} = (\bar{\psi}^0_{-1/2} - \bar{\psi}^1_{-1/2}) e^{-\tilde{\phi}} \bar{c}_1 e^{ik_r X_r} |0\rangle.$

In this case, the anti-holomorphic factor $\langle \mathcal{V}_{\bar{\varsigma}}(\bar{z}) \prod_{i=1}^{n} \mathcal{V}_{\bar{\varsigma}_{i}}(\bar{z}_{i}) \rangle$ has no singularities in \bar{z} , so it must be a constant in this variable. It follows that, for these closed states, the CFT correlator $\langle \mathcal{V}_{\varrho \otimes \bar{\varsigma}}(z, \bar{z}) \prod_{i=1}^{n} \mathcal{V}_{\varrho i \otimes \bar{\varsigma}_{i}}(z_{i}, \bar{z}_{i}) \rangle$ is meromorphic in the insertion position z.

Note that the state $\bar{\varsigma} = (\bar{\psi}^0_{-1/2} - \bar{\psi}^1_{-1/2})e^{-\tilde{\phi}}\bar{c}_1 e^{ik_r X_r}|0\rangle$ is BRST-exact if and only if $k_r \neq 0$, and in this case the full vertex operator $\mathcal{V}_{\varrho\otimes\bar{\varsigma}}(z,\bar{z})$ is a total derivative

$$\mathcal{V}_{\varrho\otimes\bar{\varsigma}}(z,\bar{z}) \propto \partial_{\bar{z}}(\mathcal{V}_{\varrho}(z)e^{ik_rX_r}(\bar{z})).$$
(4.66)

Let us consider an (n+1)-point amplitude where the final vertex operator is of the form (4.66) for $k_r \neq 0$.

$$A_{n+1} = \int_{\mathcal{M}_{0,n}} \int_{\mathbb{P}^1} \mathrm{d}z \mathrm{d}\bar{z} \,\frac{\partial}{\partial\bar{z}} \left\langle \prod_{i=1}^n \mathcal{V}_{\varrho_i \otimes \bar{\varsigma}_i}(z_i, \bar{z}_i) \mathcal{V}_{\varrho}(z) e^{ik_r X_r}(\bar{z}) \right\rangle. \tag{4.67}$$

Since the vertex operator (4.66) corresponds to an exact state, we expect the amplitude to vanish. We will now prove that this is the case.

The integral in z needs to be regularized by cutting a small disk around each of the other insertion points z_1, \ldots, z_n and then taking the limit where the radius of each disk goes to zero. Since the integrand is a total derivative of a meromorphic function in z, by Stokes' theorem we obtain

$$A_{n+1} = \int_{\mathcal{M}_{0,n}} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \oint_{\gamma_{z_j}} \mathrm{d}z \left\langle \prod_{i=1}^{n} \mathcal{V}_{\varrho_i \otimes \bar{\varsigma}_i}(z_i, \bar{z}_i) \mathcal{V}_{\varrho}(z) e^{ik_r X_r}(\bar{z}) \right\rangle.$$
(4.68)

where γ_{z_j} is a small circle centered in z_j . Each contour integral picks up the residue of the correlator at the corresponding singularity. For a (single-valued) meromorphic function, the sum over all residues vanishes, so that

$$A_{n+1} = 0, (4.69)$$

as expected.

An analogous result holds even when the state $\bar{\varsigma}$ has zero momentum $k_r = 0$. In this case, $\bar{\varsigma}$ coincides with the state v^- of Eq. (4.56). The vertex operator can still be written as a total derivative, if one allows for the fields $X_r^{\mu}(\bar{z})$ to appear without derivatives or exponentials

$$\mathcal{V}_{\varrho\otimes\bar{\varsigma}}(z,\bar{z}) \propto \partial_{\bar{z}}(\mathcal{V}_{\varrho}(z)(X_r^0 - X_r^1)(\bar{z})).$$
(4.70)

In general, there are some subtleties in trying to apply the previous argument in presence of the fields $X^{\mu}_{r}(\bar{z})$. Indeed, these fields might in principle lead to logarithmic singularities that spoil the single-valuedness of the correlator. However, this never happens in the case of the pure BPS amplitudes we are interested in, because the combination $X_r^0 - X_r^1$ has non-singular OPE with itself and with all the operators in (4.61). We conclude that, while v^- is not an exact state at zero momentum $k_r = 0$, a pure BPS amplitude with an insertion of the corresponding vertex operator always vanishes, as anticipated in the previous subsection.

Coming back to (4.68), the singularity at the point $z = z_i$ arises from the OPE of $\mathcal{V}_{\varrho}(z)e^{ik_r X_r}(\bar{z})$ with $\mathcal{V}_{\varrho_i \otimes \bar{\varsigma}_i}(z_i, \bar{z}_i)$. In order to prove (4.30), we just need to show that the residue of this OPE is the action of the algebra element corresponding to ϱ acting on the state $\varrho_i \otimes \bar{\varsigma}_i$, i.e.,

$$\oint_{\gamma_{z_i}} \mathrm{d}z \,\mathcal{V}_u(z) e^{ik_r X_r}(\bar{z}) \mathcal{V}_{\varrho_i \otimes \bar{\varsigma}_i}(z_i, \bar{z}_i) = \mathcal{V}_{\delta_\varrho(\varrho_i \otimes \bar{\varsigma}_i)}(z_i, \bar{z}_i). \tag{4.71}$$

The OPE of the anti-holomorphic operators $e^{ik_r X_r}(\bar{z})$ and $\mathcal{V}_{\bar{\varsigma}_i}(\bar{z}_i)$ is nonsingular and gives just a shift in the momentum of $\bar{\varsigma}_i$

$$e^{ik_r X_r}(\bar{z}) \mathcal{V}_{\bar{\varsigma}_i}(\bar{z}_i) = \mathcal{V}_{(e^{ik_r X_r})_0 \bar{\varsigma}_i}(\bar{z}_i) + O(\bar{z} - \bar{z}_i).$$
(4.72)

Note that the terms of order $O(\bar{z} - \bar{z}_i)$ in this OPE will not contribute to the full anti-holomorphic correlator, since, as we argued above, the correlator is constant in \bar{z} . Let us focus on the case where ρ is in the NS sector, so that it is a representative of a left-moving BRST cohomology class with ghost number 1 and canonical (-1)-picture. The vertex operator \mathcal{V}_{ρ} is in the integrated form and in the 0-picture, so it corresponds to the state $b_{-1}X\rho$ with picture and ghost numbers 0. The latter state has conformal weight 1 and the residue picks up the zero mode acting on the state ρ_i :

$$\oint_{\gamma_{z_i}} \mathrm{d}z \, \mathcal{V}_{\varrho}(z) \mathcal{V}_{\varrho_i}(z_i) = \mathcal{V}_{(b_{-1}X\varrho)_0 u_i}(z_i). \tag{4.73}$$

Now, we recall that the Lie bracket of the (even part of the) BKM algebra \mathfrak{g} is precisely defined to be (see Sect. 4.2)

$$[\varrho, \varrho_i] = (b_{-1} X \varrho)_0 \varrho_i. \tag{4.74}$$

We conclude that

$$\oint_{\gamma_{z_i}} \mathrm{d}z \, \mathcal{V}_{\varrho}(z) e^{ik_r X_r}(\bar{z}) \mathcal{V}_{\varrho_i \otimes \bar{\varsigma}_i}(z_i, \bar{z}_i) = \mathcal{V}_{[\varrho, \varrho_i]}(z_i) \mathcal{V}_{(e^{ik_r X_r})_0 \bar{\varsigma}_i}(\bar{z}_i) \\
= \mathcal{V}_{\delta_{\varrho}(\varrho_i \otimes \bar{\varsigma}_i)}(z_i, \bar{z}_i).$$
(4.75)

A similar result holds when ρ is in the Ramond sector, and represents a leftmoving BRST cohomology classes with ghost number 1 and canonical (-1/2)picture. The vertex operator \mathcal{V}_{ρ} is in the integrated form and corresponds to the state $b_{-1}\rho$ of conformal weight 1 and picture number -1/2, and the residue picks out the zero mode of this current acting on ρ_i ,

$$(b_{-1}\varrho)_0\varrho_i. \tag{4.76}$$

When ρ_i is in the Ramond sector with canonical (-1/2)-picture, the state $(b_{-1}\rho)_0\rho_i$ is in the NS sector with canonical picture number -1 and is simply the commutator $[\rho, \rho_i]$. When ρ_i is in the NS sector with canonical picture

number -1, one should move the picture-changing operators so that the resulting Ramond state is $X(b_{-1}\varrho)_0\varrho_i \equiv [\varrho, \varrho_i]$ with picture number -1/2. This seemingly *ad hoc* prescription for the placement of picture-changing operators in fact arises naturally when one describes the superstring amplitude in terms of an integration over supermoduli.⁹ This concludes the proof of the second claim in Sect. 4.3.

4.7. Physical Interpretation

Let us pause for a moment and discuss the physical interpretation of the results of this section. We have shown that the subspace \mathcal{H}_{BPS} of physical states is a representation of a BKM (super-)algebra \mathfrak{g} . Furthermore, \mathfrak{g} arises as an algebra of symmetries of the string tree-level amplitudes where all insertion points correspond to states in \mathcal{H}_{BPS} .

If the uncompactified spacetime were higher dimensional, the physical interpretation would be straightforward: \mathfrak{g} is an algebra of symmetries of the S-matrix for the scattering of these BPS states, at least at tree level. In the present case, the spacetime we are considering is 0+1-dimensional (or 1+1 dimensional on a cylinder). Naively, it seems natural to interpret the amplitudes as transition amplitudes between an initial asymptotic state at time $t = -\infty$ and a final state at time $t = +\infty$.

However, this interpretation is problematic. Let us regard our models as theories in a 1 + 1-dimensional cylindrical spacetime. The states in \mathcal{H}_{BPS} , in general, represent spacetime-filling strings. The initial and final states in our transition amplitudes, therefore, represent arbitrary numbers of spacetime-filling strings. However, these states are coupled to the metric and B-field, so they cannot make sense in general: The field equations for these massless degrees of freedom require a precise number of spacetime-filling strings to cancel the B-field tadpole and cosmological constant (see "Appendix A" for a calculation of such a tadpole). In Sect. 5, we will consider a second quantized version of this theory in a zero coupling limit. In this limit, one can neglect any back-reaction and regard the massless fields as a non-dynamical fixed background; these kind of inconsistencies can be safely ignored in this case. However, when considering amplitudes, as in this section, we are implicitly assuming that the string coupling is nonzero, so that this solution is not available here.

One possible attitude is to view the amplitudes as a purely formal construction. We can build a collection of functions that are symmetric under the BKM algebra. This statement is certainly true, even if the quantities do not have a sensible spacetime interpretation.

⁹In particular, the limit where z coincides with another insertion point z_i corresponds to a degeneration of the (n + 1)-punctured sphere into two spheres joined through a nodal point, with the first sphere containing the two insertion points z and z_i and the second containing all the other punctures. The nodal point is an additional puncture in each of the two spheres, and the puncture is of Ramond type if ϱ and ϱ_i are one NS and one R, and of NS type otherwise. While an NS degeneration is parametrized only by one even supermodulus, a Ramond degeneration corresponds to one even and one odd supermodulus, and the integration over the odd one corresponds to the insertion of a picture-changing operator. See for example [71], sections 3 and 5, for more details.

On the other hand, the existence of this rich collection of functions is suggestive and hints that there should be a reasonable way to interpret our results. One possibility could be that the vertex operators are accompanied by a background charge that offsets their coupling to the massless fields. This would be analogous to matter coupled to Liouville gravity in two dimensions, where the Liouville and the matter part are coupled in such a way that the combined stress energy tensor is always traceless. A more suggestive possibility is that there exists a topological version of these string models, where only the states in \mathcal{H}_{BPS} survive, and the dangerous massless fields are either not present or decouple.

While we are not going to further investigate these proposals in the present article, let us conclude by mentioning evidence that the BKM symmetry persists in BPS amplitudes at all loops. We believe this provides an additional hint that a sensible physical interpretation of these amplitudes exists.

To start, we consider the possibility that, at least, the even subalgebra \mathfrak{g}_0 is g is a symmetry of pure BPS amplitudes at all orders in perturbation theory. The argument of the previous subsection generalizes in a straightforward way. One considers an (n+1)-point amplitude on a genus q Riemann surface Σ , where one of the vertex operators corresponds to a BRST-exact NS-NS state, and has the form (4.70), i.e., a total derivative in the insertion position. One then integrates the position of this BRST-exact state over Σ . Technically, this is an integration over the even supermodulus parametrizing this position, i.e., an integration along the fibers of the forgetful map $\mathcal{M}_{g,n+1} \to \mathcal{M}_{g,n}$. Being a total derivative, this integral would vanish trivially if the integrand was nonsingular. However, there are singularities when z collides with one of the other insertion points, so one needs to cut out from Σ small disks around each of these insertion points. For pure BPS amplitudes, the integrand still factorizes into left- and right-moving factors, and the right-moving factor is non-singular in \bar{z} . Therefore, the integrand is a total derivative of a meromorphic form. The integration reduces to a sum over all the residues of this meromorphic form, and this sum vanishes. The sum over residues can again be interpreted as a variation of an n-point amplitude with respect to the action of some element of the algebra \mathfrak{g}_0 , so its vanishing implies that the *n*-point amplitude is invariant. This is a highly non-trivial result, that points toward the existence of a meaningful physical interpretation of these amplitudes.

The odd component of the algebra requires a more sophisticated formalism. In this case, the BRST-exact vertex operator is in the R-NS sector, and there is no even supermodulus that simply parametrizes the position of this operator. Equivalently, there is no map $\mathcal{M}_{g,n+1} \to \mathcal{M}_{g,n}$ where one "forgets" about one Ramond puncture.¹⁰ In this case, one needs to integrate over all supermoduli at once. The integrand is still a total derivative, so one gets only

¹⁰To show that such a forgetful map does not exist, it is sufficient to note that the number of Ramond punctures must always be even.

contributions from the boundary components of the Deligne–Mumford compactification of the supermoduli space. To prove that our result at tree level generalizes to higher genus, one needs to show that the only nonvanishing boundary contributions are the ones coming from degenerations of the Riemann surface Σ , of genus g and n + 1 punctures, into a surface Σ' of the same genus g and n - 1 punctures and a sphere with two punctures (one of them being the exact state), joined through a double point. Furthermore, the sum over all such degenerations should vanish. In the previous case of NS-NS punctures, these kind of boundary components in the Deligne–Mumford compactification correspond exactly to the limits where the exact vertex operator collides with one of the other punctures.

These conditions are similar (though not exactly the same) as the conditions for spacetime supersymmetry in general string perturbation theory. In that case, one can show (see for example [70]) that there are only a few, particular degeneration limits that can potentially spoil spacetime supersymmetry at higher loop, and that these cases are related to either tadpoles, spontaneous supersymmetry breaking, or to higher loop modifications of supersymmetry transformations. Checking that the full algebra \mathfrak{g} (including the odd component) is a symmetry of purely BPS amplitudes at all orders in string perturbation theory would provide strong evidence that a consistent physical interpretation of this theory does exist.

5. Second Quantization and BPS Indices

Starting from the space of physical states in our type IIA or heterotic theory on $V_1 \otimes \overline{V}_2$, let us now define a "second quantized" Hilbert space describing an arbitrary number of strings. We will consider only the limit where the string coupling constant is zero, so that we have a theory of free strings.

We begin by constructing our second quantized Hilbert space and we define an associated supersymmetric index which only receives contributions from BPS states. We show that the second quantized space of BPS state forms a representation for the BKM algebra \mathfrak{g} associated with the (super)VOA V_1 , so that the index is a character for that representation. We then proceed to consider two examples in detail: a family of heterotic string compactifications on $V \otimes \overline{V}^{f \natural}$ (Sect. 5.3) and type IIA compactifications on $V \otimes \overline{V}^{f \natural}$ (Sect. 5.4). In these cases, we calculate the BPS indices and show that they correspond to known (super)denominator formulas of BKM algebras.

5.1. A Second Quantized Hilbert Space

Let us consider type IIA or heterotic string theory on $V_1 \otimes \overline{V}_2$, where $V_2 \in \{V^{fE_8}, V^{f\natural}, F_{24}\}$. Occasionally, we will compactify one further space-like direction on a circle S^1 . In order to construct this second quantized space, we first introduce one operator η_a for each physical state $a \in H^2(k)$ with $k \neq 0$. The operators obey a free oscillator algebra, with (anti-)commutation relations determined by the string two point functions. The $k \neq 0$ operators can be separated into creation $(k^0 > 0)$ or annihilation $(k^0 < 0)$ operators. The

idea is that each creation/annihilation operator η_a creates or destroys a string in the state *a* in the (1 + 1)-dimensional spacetime.

For the physical states with k = 0 (i.e., $k_l = k_r = 0$), the construction is slightly more complicated. First note that the k = 0 physical states are the same in the uncompactified and in the compactified theory; for these definitions, it is convenient to work in the uncompactified theories. We separate the space of zero-momentum physical states into two orthogonal subspaces, the "propagating" and "non-propagating" states. The "propagating" states are the ones that can be obtained starting from massless $(k_l)^2 = (k_r)^2 = 0$ states with $k \neq 0$ and then taking the $k \rightarrow 0$ limit (this limit is well defined only in the uncompactified case, which is why we prefer to give the definition in this set up). The "non-propagating" states are the states that are orthogonal to the propagating ones. The physical interpretation is clear: The propagating states are the zero modes of some local propagating degrees of freedom in the 1 + 1-dimensional spacetime, corresponding, for example, to some massless scalars (excluding the dilaton) or spin 1/2 fermions in spacetime. The non-propagating degrees of freedom correspond, for example, to the metric, B-field, dilaton, gravitinos and gauge vectors, that have no local propagating degrees of freedom in 1 + 1-dimensions. The presence of the latter states in the physical spectrum of the superstring correspond to the possibility to deform the background, such as the geometry of the spacetime and the string coupling constant. In the construction of the second quantized space of states, we will introduce one operator η_a for each "propagating" state $a \in H^2(0)$, and no operator for the "non-propagating" ones. For each of the latter, we can instead introduce a fixed non-dynamical background field: For example, in the compactified case, one can set the radius of the circle, a background B-field, or Wilson lines of gauge fields along the circle (besides the string coupling, which we always fix to zero).

We can now define the second quantized Hilbert space as the Fock space for the operators η_a , where *a* runs over a basis of $\bigoplus_{k\neq 0} \mathsf{H}^2(k)$ and of the subspace of states in $\mathsf{H}^2(0)$ that are "propagating," in the sense above. A ground state in this Hilbert space is a state in the kernel of all annihilation $(k^0 < 0)$ operators; physically, these states should correspond to the vacuum, i.e., no strings are present. The ground states might be degenerate if there are k = 0 "propagating" operators. The second quantized Hilbert space is then constructed by acting in all possible ways on the ground states with the creation operators η_a with $k^0 > 0$.

Let us consider the theory compactified on a circle S^1 of radius R. We define a supersymmetric index

$$\mathcal{Z}^{V_1 \otimes V_2}(\beta, b, v, R, A_k) := \operatorname{Tr}(e^{-\beta H} e^{2\pi i b W} e^{2\pi i v M} e^{2\pi i \sum_k A_k q_k} (-1)^{\mathbf{F}}), \quad (5.1)$$

where the trace is taken over the second quantized Hilbert space we have just defined, H, M, and W are the total Hamiltonian, momentum, and winding, the q_k are charges with respect to some abelian background gauge fields (corresponding to a maximal abelian subgroup of the possibly non-abelian gauge group), and $(-1)^{\mathbf{F}}$ is the spacetime fermion number. The superscript denotes

Type IIA	w_0	m_0	
$\overline{V^{fE_8}\otimes \bar{V}^{fE_8}}$	0	0	
$F_{24} \otimes \overline{V}^{fE_8}$	0	0	
$V^{fE_8} \otimes \bar{V}^{f\natural}$	0	0	
$V^{f\natural}_{+} \otimes \bar{V}^{f\natural}_{-}$	0	-24	
$V_{-}^{f\natural} \otimes \bar{V}_{-}^{f\natural}$	-24	0	
$F_{24} \otimes \bar{V}_{-}^{f\natural}$	24	24	
$F_{24} \otimes \bar{F}_{24}$	0	0	
Het	w_0	m_0	
$\overline{V \otimes \bar{V}^{fE_8}}$	0	0	
$V \otimes \bar{V}^{f}_{+}$	$\pm (N - 24)$	$\pm N$	
$V\otimes \bar{F}_{24}$	0	0	

TABLE 3. The vacuum winding w_0 (i.e., the B-field tadpole) and momentum m_0 for the type IIA and heterotic compactifications we are interested in

The details of the calculations are given in "Appendix A"

the factorized worldsheet theory in which we are computing the index. The real chemical potentials β , b, v, A_k admit natural physical interpretations: β is the usual inverse temperature; b is a constant background B-field; v is a constant off-diagonal term in the 1+1 dimensional metric; A_k are constant background for the gauge fields in a maximal abelian torus of the gauge group, giving non-trivial Wilson lines along the circle S^1 . If η is an oscillator corresponding to momentum $k_l^0 = k_r^0 = E$ and $k_{l,r}^1 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (\frac{m}{R} \mp wR)$, one has

$$[H,\eta] = E\eta \qquad [M,\eta] = m\eta \qquad [W,\eta] = w\eta. \tag{5.2}$$

The ground states of the second quantized Hilbert space are (possibly degenerate) eigenstates for H, M, W

$$H|0\rangle = E_0|0\rangle, \qquad M|0\rangle = m_0|0\rangle, \qquad W|0\rangle = w_0|0\rangle.$$
 (5.3)

Here, w_0 and m_0 have a straightforward physical interpretation as a B-field tadpole and a "vacuum momentum," respectively, since they couple to the background B-field b and to the off-diagonal metric component v. They arise as a 1-loop effect in superstring theory, and can be easily computed for all the theories we are considering, see "Appendix A." The "cosmological constant" E_0 is usually fixed in terms of w_0, m_0 by spacetime supersymmetry.

The theories we are considering often contain some spacetime supersymmetries Q_{α}^{i} (see Tables 1 and 2), where i = 1, 2, 3, ... and $\alpha \in \{\pm\}$ denote the chirality. In this case, the index gets nonvanishing contributions only from a BPS subspace of the second quantized Hilbert space, which can be constructed as a Fock space by acting on the vacuum only with the creation operators that (anti-)commute with the supercharges. In turn, these operators correspond to single string states that are annihilated by the supercharges (BPS states). Thus, we can restrict our analysis to these BPS single string states. In heterotic
models, the two-dimensional supersymmetry algebra is

$$\{\mathcal{Q}^{i}_{\pm}, \mathcal{Q}^{j}_{\pm}\} = 2\delta^{ij}(P^{0}_{r} \pm P^{1}_{r}), \qquad \{\mathcal{Q}^{i}_{+}, \mathcal{Q}^{j}_{-}\} = 0,$$
(5.4)

and involves only the right-moving momentum. The same relations hold in type II theories when the supercharges arise from the NS-R sector, while for the R-NS sector we have the analogous relations with the left-moving momenta,

$$\{\mathcal{Q}^{i}_{\pm}, \mathcal{Q}^{j}_{\pm}\} = 2\delta^{ij}(P^{0}_{l} \pm P^{1}_{l}), \qquad \{\mathcal{Q}^{i}_{+}, \mathcal{Q}^{j}_{-}\} = 0.$$
(5.5)

Type II supercharges coming from different sectors anticommute with each other.

When any of these supersymmetries is present, the BPS condition is equivalent to a linear relation between the energy $E = k_l^0 = k_r^0$ and the winding and momentum m, w of a single string state. By linearity, the same relation must hold between the Hamiltonian H and the momentum and winding operators M and W in the BPS subsector of the second quantized Hilbert space. For example, when negative chirality supersymmetries Q_{-}^i from the right-moving Ramond sector are present, the BPS condition implies

$$H = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\frac{M}{R} + WR \right). \tag{5.6}$$

Note that if we require the ground states of the second quantized Hilbert space to be supersymmetric, we have the corresponding relation $E_0 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\frac{m_0}{R} + w_0 R \right)$ of vacuum eigenvalues. By restricting the trace to the BPS subsector of the second quantized Hilbert space, we can reexpress the above index as

$$\mathcal{Z}^{V_1 \otimes V_2}(\beta, b, v, R, A_k) = \operatorname{Tr}_{BPS} \left(e^{-\frac{\beta}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\frac{M}{R} + WR \right)} e^{2\pi i b W} e^{2\pi i v M} \prod_i e^{2\pi i \sum_k A_k q_k} (-1)^{\mathbf{F}} \right).$$
(5.7)

It is convenient to reorganize the real parameters β , R, b and v into two complex variables,

$$T = b + i \frac{\beta R}{2\sqrt{2}\pi}, \qquad U = v + i \frac{\beta}{2\sqrt{2}\pi R}.$$
(5.8)

Both T and U take values in the upper half-plane and parametrize, respectively, the Kähler and complex structure of the Euclidean spacetime torus obtained upon Wick rotation of the time direction. In terms of these variables, the index becomes

$$\mathcal{Z}^{V_1 \otimes \bar{V}_2}(T, U, A_k) = \operatorname{Tr}_{BPS} \left(e^{2\pi i TW} e^{2\pi i UM} \prod_i e^{2\pi i \sum_k A_k q_k} (-1)^{\mathbf{F}} \right)$$
$$= \operatorname{Tr}_{BPS} \left(p^W q^M \prod_k y_k^{q_k} (-1)^{\mathbf{F}} \right), \tag{5.9}$$

where we introduced the variables

$$p := e^{2\pi i T}, \qquad q := e^{2\pi i U}, \qquad y_k := e^{2\pi i A_k}.$$
 (5.10)

If there are bosonic or fermionic zero modes, this definition may need to be modified. Bosonic zero modes might lead to a divergence that needs to be regularized. In the examples we consider below, massless scalars always come from the R-R sector. Since there is no physical string states representing the zero momentum of R-R fields, their contribution is automatically factored out. Fermionic zero modes $\lambda^1, \lambda^2 \dots$ make the index vanish (unless they carry nontrivial charges q_k). In all the examples, we will consider, the fermionic zero modes will arise as gauginos, i.e., superpartners of the gauge fields, and thus transforming in the adjoint representation of the spacetime gauge group. The number of neutral fermionic zero modes in this case is equal to the rank of the gauge group. In order to get a nonvanishing quantity, one can absorb these zero modes by inserting them in the trace

$$\mathcal{Z}^{V_1 \otimes \bar{V}_2}(\beta, b, v, R, A_k) := \operatorname{Tr}\left(e^{-\beta H} e^{2\pi i bW} e^{2\pi i vM} e^{2\pi i \sum_k A_k q_k} (-1)^{\mathbf{F}} \prod_i \lambda^i\right).$$
(5.11)

We will use the notation $\mathcal{Z}(T, U, A_k)$ throughout this section to refer to the minimal nonvanishing index for each of the theories we study: If the theory has no fermionic zero modes, then \mathcal{Z} indicates (5.9), while if the theory does have fermionic zero modes, we absorb them as in (5.11).

There are further modifications to the index which one may want to consider. First, in type II theories, the spacetime fermions may come either from the NS-R or from the R-NS sector. If there are supercharges coming from both of these sectors, then only the ground states will contribute to the index, thus giving a constant. To get a more interesting quantity, one can consider a modified index

$$\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}^{V_1 \otimes \bar{V}_2}(\beta, b, v, R, A_k) := \operatorname{Tr}\left(e^{-\beta H} e^{2\pi i b W} e^{2\pi i v M} e^{2\pi i \sum_k A_k q_k} (-1)^{\mathbf{F}_r} \prod_i \lambda^i\right),$$
(5.12)

where the fermion number $(-1)^{\mathbf{F}}$ is replaced by an operator $(-1)^{\mathbf{F}_r}$ anticommuting only with, say, states in the right-moving R sector (NS-R and R-R) and commuting with states in the right-moving NS sector (NS-NS and R-NS). Under this definition, the states contributing to the index obey $k_r^0 = k_r^1$, but not necessarily $k_l^0 = k_l^1$. As above, we use $\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}$ to refer to the minimal nonvanishing (with any fermionic zero modes inserted) modified index for a given theory.

When the string theory has $V_2 = V_-^{f \natural}$ as its right-moving SVOA, Z, \tilde{Z} evaluate to the 24th powers of the superdenominator and denominator (respectively) of the BKM algebra constructed from the left-moving (S)VOA. We will derive this in detail in Sects. 5.3 and 5.4, but the basic idea is that $V^{f \natural}$ has 24 states of conformal weight 1/2 in the Ramond sector and none in the NS sector. The contribution from these 24 fermionic ground states is to produce a 24-fold multiplicity of single-string BPS states, resulting in a second quantized Fock space that has the form of a 24th tensor power. Any of the 24 factors effectively counts contributions from the left-movers, and produces the BKM (super)denominator.

There are other options to modify the index. We could impose antiperiodic boundary conditions on the fermions around the spacelike S^1 circle. This corresponds to taking a different quantization for the spacelike momenta k_l^1 and k_r^1 in the NS-R and R-NS sectors, where *n* takes values in $\frac{1}{2} + \mathbb{Z}$ instead of \mathbb{Z} . We could also impose anti-periodic boundary conditions only on (say) the NS-R fermions and periodic ones on the R-NS fermions. We will not consider these modifications in the rest of the text and focus on computing the indices in Eqs. (5.11) and (5.12).

5.2. The BPS Fock Space as an Algebra Module

As mentioned in the previous subsection, when the string theory has the rightmovers fixed to be $V_2 = V^{f\natural}$, the supersymmetric indices (5.11), (5.12) reproduce the 24th power of the denominator and superdenominator of the BKM associated with the left-movers. The factor of 24 simply comes from the rightmoving ground state degeneracy. In fact, the supersymmetric index can be viewed as the graded supercharacter of a certain algebra module for the leftmoving BKM superalgebra \mathfrak{g} . Let us restrict for simplicity to the case where \mathfrak{g} is bosonic, i.e., with no odd components; the generalization to the case where \mathfrak{g} is a superalgebra is straightforward. Let us consider the usual triangular decomposition as $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{g}^+ \oplus \mathfrak{h} \oplus \mathfrak{g}^-$ in terms of positive and negative roots and the Cartan subalgebra. As discussed below, the module describing the second quantized states is $(\bigwedge \mathfrak{g}^{-})^{\otimes 24}$, 24 copies of the graded sum of all exterior powers of the subalgebra associated with the negative roots. It is well known that for ordinary Lie algebras or Kac–Moody algebras, this is an irreducible \mathbb{Z}_2 graded module with highest weight the Weyl vector. It also inherits the weight space grading from g. In the case of the heterotic string with $V_1 = V^{\natural}$, the BKM algebra \mathfrak{g} is the monster Lie algebra, and the module was constructed in [55]. We will briefly review its construction and the relation with the second quantized Hilbert space described in Sect. 5.1, and then comment on subtleties in the generalization to our other examples. We will focus on the construction of a single copy of $\bigwedge \mathfrak{g}^-$, since the 24 copies do not interact with one another.

The g-representation $\bigwedge \mathfrak{g}^-$ can be formally constructed as follows. Recall that \mathfrak{g} decomposes as $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{h} \oplus \bigoplus_{\alpha \in \Delta} \mathfrak{g}_{\alpha}$, and has a non-degenerate invariant bilinear form $(\cdot|\cdot)$ with respect to which \mathfrak{g}_{α} is orthogonal to \mathfrak{h} and \mathfrak{g}_{β} , for all $\alpha, \beta \in \Delta$ with $\alpha \neq -\beta$. The basic idea is to build a module $A_{\mathfrak{g}}$ over the Clifford algebra whose underlying vector space is \mathfrak{g} endowed with $(\cdot|\cdot)$. More precisely, let us consider an algebra of fermionic operators $\xi_a, \forall a \in \mathfrak{g}$, transforming in the adjoint representation of \mathfrak{g} . The fermionic modes satisfy the Clifford algebra

$$\{\xi_a, \xi_b\} = (a|b) \tag{5.13}$$

where the right-hand side vanishes whenever $a \in \mathfrak{g}_{\alpha}$ and $b \in \mathfrak{g}_{\beta}$, with $\alpha, \beta \in \Delta$, $\alpha \neq -\beta$. Let us define a module $A_{\mathfrak{g}}$ for this Clifford algebra as follows: We start from a space of ground states, forming an irreducible representation for the finite-dimensional Clifford algebra of operators ξ_a , $a \in \mathfrak{h}$, and annihilated by all ξ_a with $a \in \mathfrak{g}^+$; the module $A_{\mathfrak{g}}$ is obtained by acting in all possible ways on such ground states by the operators ξ_a , $a \in \mathfrak{g}^-$. We can view \mathfrak{g} as a subalgebra of the orthogonal algebra $so(\mathfrak{g})$ that preserves the bilinear form $(\cdot|\cdot)$, since $(\cdot|\cdot)$ is preserved by the adjoint action of the BKM on itself. This Clifford module can be understood as a spinorial representation of the orthogonal algebra $so(\mathfrak{g})$ and hence of its subalgebra \mathfrak{g} .

The space of ground states of $A_{\mathfrak{g}}$ forms a module for the Clifford subalgebra associated with $\mathfrak{h} \subset \mathfrak{g}$. Each of these ground states is a highest weight vector for a representation of $\mathfrak{g} \subset so(\mathfrak{g})$. This immediately shows that, in general, the Clifford module $A_{\mathfrak{g}}$ is not irreducible as a \mathfrak{g} -representation. In the case of the rank-2 monster Lie algebra, one has a twofold ground state degeneracy of opposite chirality. Indeed, for general \mathfrak{g} of even rank, the module always splits, as a representation over $so(\mathfrak{g})$, into two spinors of definite chirality. Focusing on the rank-2 case for the moment, it is natural to consider the \mathfrak{g} -representation obtained by restricting to a subspace $A_{\mathfrak{g}}^+$ of definite chirality, which effectively allows us to skirt vacuum degeneracy issues relating to the Cartan operators, as follows. If we take a light-cone decomposition of the Cartan as $\mathfrak{h} = \mathfrak{h}^+ \oplus \mathfrak{h}^-$ such that $\{\xi_+, \xi_-\} = 1$ (and all other anticommutators zero), we may define a vacuum

$$\xi_a|0\rangle = 0, \quad a \in \mathfrak{g}^+ \oplus \mathfrak{h}^+. \tag{5.14}$$

The Clifford module $A_{\mathfrak{g}}$ is recovered by acting on the vacuum in all possible ways with the $\xi_a, a \in \mathfrak{g}^- \oplus \mathfrak{h}^-$. Next, we consider a chirality operator $(-1)^J$, distinct from the fermion parity operator used in the index definition, which leaves the vacuum invariant but acts on all ξ_a with a minus sign. We project to the positive chirality subspace of our module $A_{\mathfrak{g}}$, to obtain a graded vector space $A_{\mathfrak{g}}^+$ isomorphic to $\bigwedge \mathfrak{g}^-$. Namely, to obtain the even powers of \mathfrak{g}^- , simply act on the vacuum with an even number of $\xi_a, a \in \mathfrak{g}^-$, and to obtain the odd powers, act first with ξ_- on the vacuum, and then with an odd number of ξ_a , $a \in \mathfrak{g}^-$.

We stress that the set of modes $\{\xi_a\}$ are different from the set $\{\eta_a\}$ considered in Sect. 5.1: In that case, we exclude the modes corresponding to gravitinos, while here we include all modes. Excluding the gravitinos leads, in the rank-2 case, to a non-degenerate vacuum for the second quantized Fock space. This suggests that the second quantized space is isomorphic to the positive chirality subspace $A_{\mathfrak{q}}^+$ of the ξ_a Clifford module; as such, it is naturally a representation for the BKM algebra \mathfrak{g} . Indeed, the operators η_a considered in Sect. 5.1 can be identified with the operators $\xi_{-}\xi_{a}$, that are even with respect to $(-1)^J$ and carry the same grading with respect to $\Phi \subset \mathfrak{h}^*$. Implicitly, then, we may imagine that our index can be defined as a trace over the full Clifford module $A_{\mathfrak{g}}$, with an additional insertion of $(1 + (-1)^J)/2$ in the trace that has so far been suppressed. With this identification, the spacetime fermion number $(-1)^{\mathbf{F}}$ can be defined as an operator acting trivially on the vacuum, commuting with ξ_{-}, ξ_{+} and anti-commuting with the other ξ_{a} . The fact that we have two \mathbb{Z}_2 operators to employ in defining our index, $(-1)^J$ and $(-1)^F$, is special to supersymmetric indices in 0+1 dimensions. We prove in [55] that the resulting module is indeed a suitable highest weight representation of \mathfrak{g} .

A similar construction holds for the more general, higher-rank BKMs we discuss in this paper. In the construction of the second quantized Fock space in Sect. 5.1, we consider oscillators η_a at zero momentum only when they correspond to the zero-momentum limit of "propagating" massless degrees of freedom, while we exclude the modes that exist only at zero momentum, i.e., the two gravitinos. The space spanned by the gravitino zero modes correspond to a subspace of signature (1,1) in the Cartan subalgebra of \mathfrak{g} . In particular, gravitinos can be associated with a pair of fermionic modes ξ_+, ξ_- obeying $\{\xi_+,\xi_+\}=0, \{\xi_+,\xi_-\}=1$. The other elements of the Cartan subalgebra now correspond to gaugino zero modes, which we absorb in the definition of the index. Once again, the second quantized Fock space can be identified with the positive chirality subspace $A_{\mathfrak{g}}^+$ of the ξ_a -Clifford module $A_{\mathfrak{g}}$, where the η_a operators correspond to the generators $\xi_{-}\xi_{a}$ of the even Clifford algebra. For a BKM of even rank r, the Clifford module $A_{\mathfrak{g}}$ has ground state degeneracy $2^{r/2}$, where each chirality $A_{\mathfrak{g}}^{\pm}$ of the orthogonal algebra splits as $A_{\mathfrak{g}}^{\pm} \cong (\bigwedge \mathfrak{g}^{-})^{\oplus 2^{r/2-1}}$ into $2^{r/2-1}$ representations of \mathfrak{g} , each isomorphic (as a graded vector space) to $\bigwedge \mathfrak{g}^{-}$.

The separation between the gauginos and gravitinos zero modes looks unnatural from the algebra point of view, since the adjoint action of \mathfrak{g} can rotate the ξ_+, ξ_- operators into any other $\xi_a, a \in \mathfrak{h}$. In fact, the distinction between propagating and non-propagating zero modes makes sense only in the decompactification limit, where the radius R of the circle S^1 goes to infinity. When the rank of the algebra is greater than 2, there are different decompactification limits, which correspond to different choices of a null direction of the Cartan subalgebra.

We therefore have the option of defining the full BPS Fock space using the full module $A_{\mathfrak{g}}$ of the Clifford algebra, including both chiralities of the spinorial rep of $so(\mathfrak{g})$. This necessitates absorbing the gravitino modes to get a nonzero index. Alternatively, we may project onto a single chirality $A_{\mathfrak{g}}^+$ of the spinorial rep, as we did with the monster. As a graded vector space, the resulting chiral representation is isomorphic to the second quantized Fock space obtained from ignoring the gravitino zero modes. This is simpler and seems natural from the physical viewpoint, in particular if one sees the superstring model as a (1+1)-dimensional theory on the cylinder. The downside of privileging the gravitinos relative to the gauginos in this way is that it requires choosing a null direction in the Cartan subalgebra, viewed as a space of rank (1, r - 1). The resulting BKM algebra action on the Fock space module is rather unnatural.

5.3. Heterotic Strings on $V \otimes \bar{V}^{f\natural}$

Let us now apply the general formalism described in Sect. 5.1 to some specific superstring models. As a first example, let us consider the heterotic string on $V_L \otimes \bar{V}_+^{f \natural}$, where V_L is a lattice VOA for one of the 24 Niemeier lattices L and contains N currents. Each massless string state is the tensor product of a chiral and an anti-chiral physical state, which in turn are in one-to-one correspondence with, respectively, a left-moving weight 1 state and a right-moving weight 1/2 state is the internal CFT.

Let us adopt the following notation for these chiral and anti-chiral states:

- ν^a , $a = 1, \ldots, N$ denote the currents in V;
- \bar{v}^i_+ , $i = 1, \dots, 24$ correspond to the 24 Ramond ground states in $\bar{V}^{f\natural}$;
- $\alpha_{++}, \alpha_{--}, \bar{\psi}_{++}, \bar{\psi}_{--}$ correspond to the light-cone components of ∂X^{μ} and $\bar{\psi}^{\mu}$ from the sigma model with target $\mathbb{R}^{1,1}$.

The + and - subscripts keep track of the action of the SO(1,1) spacetime Lorentz group: Each + or - is $\pm 1/2$ in the spin; spacetime parity exchanges + and -.

By taking the tensor products of chiral and anti-chiral states, we obtain the massless content of the theory:

- Graviton $\alpha_{++}\bar{\psi}_{++}$ and $\alpha_{--}\bar{\psi}_{--}$; B-field $\alpha_{++}\bar{\psi}_{--} \alpha_{--}\bar{\psi}_{++}$; dilaton $\alpha_{++}\bar{\psi}_{--} + \alpha_{--}\bar{\psi}_{++}$. These states are non-physical, except for k = 0.
- 24 chiral gravitinos $\alpha_{++}\bar{v}^i_+$ (spin +3/2); 24 anti-chiral dilatinos $\alpha_{--}\bar{v}^i_+$ (spin -1/2). These states are also only physical for k = 0.
- N gauge vectors $A^a = \nu^a \bar{\psi}_{++}, \nu^a \bar{\psi}_{--}$. These states are only physical for k = 0.
- 24N chiral gauginos $\lambda^{ai} = \nu^a \bar{\upsilon}^i_+$ (spin 1/2); these states are physical for all k with $k^2 = 0$ (they are the only massless propagating degrees of freedom).

The N gauge vectors A^a correspond to a semi-simple Lie algebra g of dimension N; the propagating gauginos λ^{ai} form 24 copies of the adjoint representation for g.

The zero-momentum modes of the gauginos form a Clifford algebra, and the ground states of our second quantized Hilbert space must form a module over this Clifford algebra. The full Clifford algebra is a direct sum of 24 copies of the Clifford algebra generated by a single set (i.e., a fixed *i*, say i = 1) of Ngauginos λ^{ai} , $a = 1, \ldots, N$. The Clifford module of ground states, therefore, is the tensor product of 24 copies of the Clifford module for a single set of gauginos. Thus, we can focus on one of these sets and simply take the tensor product at the end.

We choose a Cartan subalgebra $h \,\subset g$ and take a triangular decomposition $g = g^- \oplus h \oplus g^+$. We have an associated decomposition of the gauginos zero modes into a Cartan subspace plus the positive and negative roots subspaces. We turn on non-trivial Wilson lines y_1, \ldots, y_r , where $r = \operatorname{rank} g$ (for the theories we are considering we always have r = 24) for the gauge vectors A_a in the Cartan subalgebra, under which the gauginos in $g^- \oplus g^+$ are charged. To get a nonvanishing supersymmetric index, one needs to absorb the zero modes of the neutral λ^{ai} , i.e., the ones in the Cartan subalgebra. The ground states of the Hilbert space live in a tensor product of a Clifford module for the "Cartan" gauginos times a Clifford module for the $g^+ \oplus g^-$ gauginos. After absorbing the zero modes, the trace over the "Cartan" Clifford module just gives a nonzero constant, which, with the appropriate normalization, can be taken to be 1. Thus, we can just focus on the factor corresponding to the Clifford module for $g^+ \oplus g^-$. The latter module can be constructed by starting from a state (a highest weight vector) annihilated by all gauginos in g^- and then acting in all possible ways with the gauginos in g^+ . The ground state contribution to the supersymmetric index is a trace $\operatorname{Tr}((-1)^{\mathbf{F}} \prod y_i^{q_i})$ over this module, where q_i are the charges with respect to the background gauge fields in the Cartan torus. The final result is the Weyl denominator of the algebra g

$$y^{-\rho_g} \prod_{\alpha \in \Delta_g^+} (1 - y^{\alpha}), \tag{5.15}$$

where Δ_g^+ are the positive roots of the Lie algebra g and ρ_g is the charge of the lowest weight vector, which equals the Weyl vector of the Lie algebra g. (We implicitly use the notation that y^{α} for any vector α is shorthand for $\prod_k y_k^{\alpha_k}$). Note that there are 24 copies of this set of gauginos, and hence one needs to take the 24th power of this Weyl denominator in computing the index.¹¹

The full supersymmetric index is given by multiplying this trace over the ground states by the contributions of the positive energy oscillators. For $k \neq 0$, the BRST quantization of the string is equivalent to the light-cone quantization, so that the classes in $\mathsf{H}^2(k_l, k_r)$ are in one-to-one correspondence with states in the internal CFT $V_L \otimes \bar{V}_+^{\dagger \natural}$ satisfying the physical state conditions

$$L_0 - 1 = -(k_l)^2/2, \qquad \bar{L}_0 - \frac{1}{2} = -(k_r)^2/2.$$
 (5.16)

The BPS condition forces $(k_r)^2 = 0$, and since $V^{f\natural}_+$ contains no NS states with weight 1/2, all BPS states come from the Ramond sector and are therefore spacetime fermions. This means that the corresponding operators η_a obey a free fermion oscillator algebra.

In order to count the number of such oscillators, let us consider the "flavored" partition function for the lattice VOA V_L

$$Z_{V_L}(\tau,\xi) := \operatorname{Tr}_{V_L}(\mathsf{q}^{L_0 - \frac{c}{24}} e^{2\pi i \sum_k \xi_k q_k}).$$

Here, $\xi \equiv (\xi_1, \xi_2, \ldots)$ are chemical potentials, and q_k are the weights with respect to the Lie algebra generated by the zero modes of the N currents in V_L ; as the notation suggests, these are also the charges of the corresponding physical string states with respect to the background gauge fields $A = (A_1, A_2, \ldots)$. For a lattice VOA V_L based on the Niemeier lattice L, this is given by

$$Z_{V_L}(\tau,\xi) = \frac{\Theta_L(\tau,\xi)}{\eta(\tau)^{24}} = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}, \ell \in \mathbb{Z}^{24}} c(n,\ell) \mathsf{q}^n e^{2\pi i \sum_k \xi_k \ell_k}, \tag{5.17}$$

where Θ_L is the "flavored" lattice theta series

$$\Theta_L(\tau,\xi) = \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^{24}} \mathsf{q}^{\frac{1}{2}\sum_{j,k}\ell_j \ell_k \mu_j \cdot \mu_k} e^{2\pi i \sum_k \xi_k \ell_k}, \qquad (5.18)$$

¹¹The ground states of the second quantized Hilbert space must form a representation of the gauge algebra g. It is clear what kind of representation this is: One considers the group G, the adjoint group of g, as a subgroup of the orthogonal group SO(g) acting on the vector space of the algebra g, and preserving the Cartan Killing form. The gauginos form a vector representation for SO(g). The ground states form a module for the Clifford algebra associated with the vector space underlying g, so they form a spinorial representation of Spin(g), the universal cover of SO(g). The group G being a subgroup of SO(g) lifts to a subgroup of Spin(g), and this determines the representation of G on the ground states.

where μ_1, \ldots, μ_{24} is a basis of L.

Let us first express the ground state factor (5.15) in terms of the Fourier coefficients $c(n, \ell)$ of the partition function $Z_{V_L}(\tau, \xi)$. The number of currents in V is

$$N = \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^{24}} c(0,\ell),$$

and the rank of the algebra is c(0,0), which is always equal to 24 for L a Niemeier lattice. The set of roots $\{\lambda \in L, \lambda^2 = 2\}$ correspond to the roots of the algebra g, and can accordingly be written as the disjoint union of the sets of positive or negative roots. For $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^{24}$ such that $\lambda = \sum_i \ell_i \mu_i$ is a root, we write $\ell > 0$ or $\ell < 0$ depending on whether λ is positive or negative. The ground state contribution to the index (5.15) can thus be written as

$$y^{-24\rho} \prod_{\ell>0} \left(1 - \prod_{i=1}^{24} y_i^{\ell_i} \right)^{24c(0,\ell)}, \qquad (5.19)$$

where for each $\ell \neq 0$, $c(0, \ell)$ is either 1 (if the vector $\sum_i \ell_i \mu_i$ has length 2) or 0 (otherwise).

For the contribution of positive energy string oscillators to the second quantized index, we note that, for BPS states of winding and momentum (w,m), one has $-(k_l)^2/2 = mw$. Therefore, the number of BPS single string states of winding-momentum (w,m) and charge vector $\ell \equiv (\ell_1, \ldots, \ell_{24})$ is $24c(mw,\ell)$ (the factor 24 comes from the fact that there are 24 Ramond ground states in $V^{f\natural}$). The positive energy condition $E = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(\frac{m}{R} + wR) > 0$ in the large radius regime R > 1 is satisfied for $w > 0, m \in \mathbb{Z}$ (the only possible state with m < 0 is m = -1, w = 1) or for w = 0, m > 0. Therefore, the contribution from positive energy oscillators is

$$\prod_{m>0} \prod_{\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^{24}} \left(1 - q^m \prod_{i=1}^{24} y_i^{\ell_i} \right)^{24c(0,\ell)} \prod_{w>0, m \in \mathbb{Z}} \prod_{\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^{24}} \left(1 - p^w q^m \prod_{i=1}^{24} y_i^{\ell_i} \right)^{24c(mw,\ell)}.$$
(5.20)

Altogether, we find the index can be written as

$$\mathcal{Z}^{V_L \otimes \bar{V}_+^{f^{\natural}}}(T, U, A_k) = p^{N-24} q^N y^{-24\rho} \prod_{\substack{m, w \in \mathbb{Z}, \ell \in \mathbb{Z}^{24} \\ (m, w, \ell) > 0}} \left(1 - p^w q^m \prod_{i=1}^{24} y_i^{\ell_i} \right)^{24c(mw, \ell)},$$
(5.21)

where $(m, w, \ell) > 0$ means $w \ge 0$, with $m \ge 0$ if w = 0, and with $\ell > 0$ if m = w = 0. The winding-momentum (w_0, m_0) of the ground states is computed in "Appendix A" and is given by $w_0 = N - 24$ and $m_0 = N$. This index is equal to the 24th power of the denominator for the BKM algebra constructed from any Niemeier lattice VOA, which is known as the fake monster Lie algebra [9,10].

This algebra denominator turns out to be equal to the automorphic form Φ_{12} [34], whose appearance in string theory has been explored earlier [35]. Φ_{12} enjoys 24 expansions associated with 24 "Niemeier cusps" in moduli space corresponding to the 24 complementary constructions of the BKM. The fact that there is a unique BKM algebra associated with all the 24 VOAs V_L associated with a Niemeier lattice L is not a coincidence. Indeed, the (non-chiral) CFTs obtained as the product of any of the V_L with the CFT of a single free boson on a circle S^1 are all equivalent to each other. These CFTs admit a uniform description as theories of 25 chiral and 1 anti-chiral free boson compactified on the unique even unimodular lattice $\Gamma^{25,1}$ of signature (25,1). The Narain moduli space of this CFT is $O(25) \times O(1) \setminus O(25, 1) / O(25, 1, \mathbb{Z})$, and is spanned by the radius R and the Wilson lines (A_1, \ldots, A_{24}) . The different descriptions of this theory as a product $S^1 \times V_L$ correspond to the 24 inequivalent ways of writing the lattice $\Gamma^{25,1}$ as an orthogonal sum of a Niemeier lattice and a unimodular lattice of signature (1, 1). These descriptions are related to one each other by the action of the T-duality group $O(25, 1, \mathbb{Z})$, which mixes the radius and the Wilson line moduli, as well as the winding-momentum (w, m)with the gauge charges q_k .

In general, if we turn off some of the Wilson lines (i.e., set $y_i = 1$ for some i), the index vanishes because of the zero modes of some combination of gauginos in $g^+ \oplus g^-$. The only exception is when V_L is the VOA associated with the Leech lattice $L = \Lambda$, where g is the abelian algebra $u(1)^{\oplus 24}$ and $c(0, \ell) = 0$ for all $\ell \neq 0$. In this case, we can turn off all Wilson lines, and by setting

$$c(n) = \sum_{\ell} c(n,\ell), \qquad (5.22)$$

such that c(n) are the Fourier coefficients of

$$Z_{V_{\Lambda}}(\tau,0) = \frac{\Theta_{\Lambda}(\tau,0)}{\eta(\tau)^{24}} = J(\tau) + 24 = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} c(n) \mathsf{q}^n = \mathsf{q}^{-1} + 24 + 196884\mathsf{q} + \cdots,$$
(5.23)

the index reduces to

$$\mathcal{Z}^{V_{\Lambda}\otimes\bar{V}_{+}^{f\natural}}(T,U,A_{k}=0) = \left(q\prod_{m>0}(1-q^{m})^{c(0)}\prod_{w>0,m\in\mathbb{Z}}(1-p^{w}q^{m})^{c(mw)}\right)^{24}.$$
(5.24)

Recall the Koike–Norton–Zagier identity

$$p^{-1} \prod_{w>0, m \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}} (1 - p^w q^m)^{c(mw)} = J(T) - J(U)$$
(5.25)

which can be interpreted as the denominator identity for the monster BKM algebra [10]. Multiplying this factor by the w = 0 and the m = 0 parts yields

$$\mathcal{Z}^{V_{\Lambda} \otimes \bar{V}_{+}^{f \natural}}(T, U, 0) = \left(q \prod_{m>0} (1-q^{m})^{c(0)}\right) \left(p \prod_{w>0} (1-p^{w})^{c(0)}\right)$$
$$\times p^{-1} \prod_{w>0, m \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}} (1-p^{w}q^{m})^{c(mw)}$$
$$= \eta(U)^{24} \eta(U)^{24} (J(T) - J(U))$$
$$= \eta(U)^{24} \Theta_{\Lambda}(T) - \eta(T)^{24} \Theta_{\Lambda}(U), \qquad (5.26)$$

which is the denominator of the fake monster Lie algebra [9].

This construction should generalize straightforwardly to all 71 self-dual VOAs V with c = 24. When we compactify one further direction on a circle S^1 , we expect many non-trivial equivalences between these different models, as is the case for the 24 Niemeier lattice VOAs V_L . It is known [19,41] that there are only 11 isomorphism classes of holomorphic vertex algebras of central charge 26 of the form $V_{\Gamma^{1,1}} \otimes V$, where $V_{\Gamma^{1,1}}$ is the lattice vertex algebra based on the even unimodular lattice of signature (1, 1) and V is a self-dual VOA of central charge 24 with currents. In particular, the 24 VOAs $V_{\Gamma^{1,1}} \otimes V_L$ are all isomorphic to each other; the proof is similar to the one showing that the (nonchiral) CFTs on $S^1 \otimes V_L$ are all isomorphic. Conjecturally, there is only one additional isomorphism class $V_{\Gamma^{1,1}} \otimes V$ where V is a self-dual VOA of c = 24without currents—it is the case where $V = V^{\natural}$ is the monster VOA [30]. From each of these isomorphism classes of vertex algebras, one can define a BKM algebra using Borcherds' construction based on chiral bosonic string theory compactified on $V_{\Gamma^{1,1}} \otimes V$; see [9,10,22,42,43,53] for explicit descriptions and denominator identities.¹² It is natural to conjecture that by tensoring any selfdual VOA of c = 24 with the bosonic (non-chiral) CFT on a circle S^1 , one gets one of precisely 12 distinct CFTs of left and right central charges (25, 1). If this is correct, then there are only 12 inequivalent compactifications of the heterotic string of the form $(V \otimes \overline{V}^{f\natural}) \otimes S^1$. We expect that our construction can be used to show that the corresponding second quantized indices \mathcal{Z} are just the (24th powers of the) denominators of the 12 associated BKM algebras.

5.4. Type IIA Strings on $V \otimes \bar{V}^{f\natural}$

Now, we consider the type IIA string compactified on $V \otimes \bar{V}_{-}^{f\natural}$, where V is one of the self-dual $\mathcal{N} = 1$ SVOAs with $c = 12.^{13}$ We assume that V contains χ^{NS} states of weight 1/2 in the NS sector, χ_{+}^{R} states of weight 1/2 in the R_{+} sector and χ_{-}^{R} states in the R_{-} sector. These VOA states correspond to

 $^{^{12}}$ These references describe 10 out of 12 distinct BKM algebras; N. Scheithauer informed us that he calculated the denominator identities for the two remaining cases (unpublished).

¹³Note that in these type IIA examples we take $V_{+}^{f^{\ddagger}}$ as the right-moving internal SVOA, while for the heterotic examples we took $V_{+}^{f^{\ddagger}}$. The reason is that in heterotic string theory the GSO projection restricts to the right-moving R_{+} sector, while in the type IIA string the projection is onto the right-moving R_{-} sector. Our choice then corresponds to having 24 gravitinos with positive chirality in all examples.

massless physical states in the chiral cohomology, denoted, respectively, by ν^a , $a = 0, \ldots, \chi^{\text{NS}}$, v_+^i , $i = 1, \ldots, \chi_+^{\text{R}}$, v_-^i , $i = 1, \ldots, \chi_-^{\text{R}}$. As discussed in Sect. 2, we distinguish between the two cases $V = V_{\pm}^{f \natural}$ which have 24 Ramond ground states in the \mathbb{R}_{\pm} sector. The anti-holomorphic $\bar{V}_{-}^{f \natural}$ contains 24 Ramond ground states in the \mathbb{R}_{-} sector corresponding to anti-chiral physical states \bar{v}_+^i , $i = 1, \ldots, 24$. The subscripts + or - on the Ramond states v_{\pm}^i and \bar{v}_+^i refer to the spin with respect to the SO(1, 1) spacetime Lorentz group; note that the type IIA GSO projection identifies the sign of the spacetime spin with the internal fermion number in the holomorphic Ramond sector, and with the opposite of the fermion number in the anti-holomorphic Ramond sector. Additionally, there are the left- and right-moving states arising from the $\mathcal{N} = (1, 1)$ supersymmetric nonlinear sigma model with target $\mathbb{R}^{1,1}$. The massless single string states are

- Gravitons $\psi_{++}\bar{\psi}_{++}$ and $\psi_{--}\bar{\psi}_{--}$; B-field $\psi_{++}\bar{\psi}_{--} \psi_{--}\bar{\psi}_{++}$; dilaton $\psi_{++}\bar{\psi}_{--} + \psi_{--}\bar{\psi}_{++}$. These states are non-physical, except for k = 0.
- $(24+\chi_+^{\rm R})$ chiral gravitinos $\psi_{++}\bar{v}_+^i$, $i=1,\ldots,24$, and $v_+^i\bar{\psi}_{++}^i$, $i=1,\ldots,\chi_+^{\rm R}$ (spin +3/2); $\chi_-^{\rm R}$ anti-chiral gravitinos $v_-^i\bar{\psi}_{--}^i$, $i=1,\ldots,\chi_-^{\rm R}$ (spin -3/2); $(24+\chi_+^{\rm R})$ anti-chiral dilatinos $\psi_-\bar{v}_+^i$, $i=1,\ldots,24$ and $v_+^i\bar{\psi}_{--}^i$, $i=1,\ldots,\chi_+^{\rm R}$ (spin -1/2); $\chi_-^{\rm R}$ chiral dilatinos $v_-^i\bar{\psi}_{++}^i$, $i=1,\ldots,\chi_-^{\rm R}$ (spin +1/2). These states are only physical for k=0.
- χ^{NS} gauge vectors $A^a = \nu^a \bar{\psi}_{++}, \nu^a \bar{\psi}_{--}$ from the NS-NS sector. These states are only physical for k = 0.
- From the R-R sector, 24χ^R₊ states vⁱ₊v^j₊, i = 1,..., χ^R₊, j = 1,..., 24 corresponding to derivatives ∂₊φ^{ij} of scalar chiral fields φ^{ij} with ∂₋φ^{ij} = 0, and 24χ^R₋ states vⁱ₋v^j₊, i = 1,..., χ^R₋, j = 1,..., 24, corresponding to field strengths of U(1) vectors. When the theory is uncompactified, only the scalar fields have propagating degrees of freedom. When we compactify the space direction on a circle S¹, the equations of motion force the scalars to carry no winding along S¹, while the vectors can carry winding but not momentum. There are no physical string states representing the zero modes of the scalars or of the vectors—this is standard for R-R bosons. See "Appendix C" for more detail.
- $24\chi^{\text{NS}}$ chiral gauginos $\lambda^{ai} = \nu^a \bar{v}^i_+$ (spin 1/2) from the NS-R sector; these states are physical for all k with $k^2 = 0$ (massless propagating degrees of freedom).

In total, the spacetime theory has $(\chi_{-}^{R}, 24 + \chi_{+}^{R})$ SUSY. When we compactify the space direction on a circle S^{1} , the corresponding supercharges obey slightly different algebras then presented previously:

• The "standard" (0, 24) supercharges Q_{r-}^i from the NS-R gravitinos $\psi_{++}\bar{v}_+^i$ obey the algebra

$$\{\mathcal{Q}_{r-}^{i}, \mathcal{Q}_{r-}^{j}\} = \delta^{ij} (P_{r}^{0} - P_{r}^{1}).$$
(5.27)

• The $(0, \chi_+^{\rm R})$ supercharges Q_{l-}^i from the R-NS gravitinos $v_+^i \bar{\psi}_{++}$ obey the algebra

$$\{\mathcal{Q}_{l-}^{i}, \mathcal{Q}_{l-}^{j}\} = \delta^{ij} (P_{l}^{0} - P_{l}^{1}).$$
(5.28)

Note that here only left-moving momenta appear, while in the previous equation we had only right-moving momenta. In the uncompactified theory, one has $P_l^0 = P_r^0$ and $P_l^1 = P_r^1$ and the algebra is the same; in the compactified theory, P_l^1 and P_r^1 are independent operators.

• The $(\chi_{-}^{\rm R}, 0)$ supercharges Q_{l+}^i from the R-NS gravitinos $v_{-}^i \bar{\psi}_{--}$ obey the algebra

$$\{\mathcal{Q}_{l+}^{i}, \mathcal{Q}_{l+}^{j}\} = \delta^{ij}(P_{l}^{0} + P_{l}^{1}).$$
(5.29)

Now, we are going to discuss the computation of the supersymmetric indices defined in Eqs. (5.11), (5.12) for these theories. Since the time direction is always uncompactified, we have $P_l^0 = P_r^0$. The spacetime index \mathcal{Z} gets contributions only from states that are annihilated by all the supercharges. Since the 24 supercharges \mathcal{Q}_{r-}^i are always present, this implies that $k_r^1 = k_r^0 = k_l^0$. If $\chi_{\mathbf{R}}^{\mathbf{R}} \neq 0$, then the states contributing to \mathcal{Z} have momenta satisfying

$$k_r^1 = k_r^0 = k_l^0 = k_l^1, (5.30)$$

which means that they cannot have any winding around the circle S^1 , so that the index is independent of T. If $\chi^{\mathbf{R}}_{-} \neq 0$, we get the condition

$$k_r^1 = k_r^0 = k_l^0 = -k_l^1 \tag{5.31}$$

which implies that states contributing to the index cannot carry any units of momentum along S^1 , and \mathcal{Z} is independent of U. If both χ^{R}_+ and χ^{R}_- are not zero (this happens if $V = V^{fE_8}$) then the only states contributing are the ones with zero momentum

$$k_l^0 = k_r^0 = k_l^1 = k_r^1 = 0, (5.32)$$

so the index is just a number.

As we will show below, the supersymmetric index $\mathcal{Z}^{V \otimes \bar{V}_{-}^{f^{\dagger}}}$ (5.11) and the modified index $\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}^{V \otimes \bar{V}_{-}^{f^{\dagger}}}$ (5.12) reproduce, respectively, the superdenominator and the denominator of the BKM superalgebra corresponding to V. Passing from \mathcal{Z} to $\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}$ amounts to inserting a "left-moving" spacetime fermion number $(-1)^{\mathbf{F}_{l}}$ in the trace, which acts by -1 on the left-moving Ramond and by +1on the left-moving NS sector. With this insertion, the states contributing to $\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}$ are the ones that are annihilated by the 24 supercharges \mathcal{Q}_{r-}^{i} from the NS-R gravitinos $\psi_{++} \bar{v}_{+}^{i}$. Thus, the only condition is

$$k_l^0 = k_r^0 = k_r^1, (5.33)$$

with no constraints on k_l^1 . Indeed, all the other supercharges do not commute with the operator $(-1)^{\mathbf{F}_l}$, so there are no cancellations between states that are related by these supersymmetries. Then, $\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}$ will in general be a function of both T and U for all algebras. This is indeed what happens for the algebra denominators. The only propagating massless fermions are the $24\chi^{\rm NS}$ chiral gauginos λ^{ai} , that are the superpartners of the gauge vectors A^a . The gauge algebra $g^{\oplus 24}$ consists of 24 copies of a $\chi^{\rm NS}$ -dimensional Lie algebra g. Therefore, when $\chi^{\rm NS} \neq 0$, we can consider Wilson lines corresponding to the Cartan generators of g. Furthermore, in order to get a nonvanishing result for the index, one needs to absorb the zero modes of the gauginos corresponding to Cartan generators, which are neutral under the Wilson lines. This situation occurs when $V = V^{fE_8}$ ($\chi^{\rm NS} = 8$) and for $V = F_{24}$ ($\chi^{\rm NS} = 24$).

Let us now consider a case-by-case analysis of the three possibilities for V.

1. For $V = V_{+}^{f\natural}$ (or $V = V_{-}^{f\natural}$) one has $\chi_{+}^{R} \neq 0$ and $\chi^{NS} = \chi_{-}^{R} = 0$ (resp., $\chi_{-}^{R} \neq 0$ and $\chi^{NS} = \chi_{+}^{R} = 0$), so the index \mathcal{Z} receives contributions only from states with w = 0 (resp., m = 0) and therefore is a function of U only (resp., of T only). This fits with the fact that the superdenominator of the Conway superalgebra associated with $V^{f\natural}$ depends on one variable only (see equation 4.30 and the surrounding discussion in [37]). The two cases $V = V_{+}^{f\natural}$ and $V = V_{-}^{f\natural}$ are related by exchanging winding and momentum along S^1 , i.e., by T-duality along this circle; this fits with the idea that T-duality is a "left-moving parity" exchanging the left-moving R_{+} and R_{-} sectors while keeping the right-moving sectors fixed. The conditions (5.30) (or (5.31)) on momenta imply that only propagating massless bosons in the R-R sector; they are either scalars carrying only momentum for $V = V_{+}^{f\natural}$, or vectors carrying only winding number for $V = V_{-}^{f\natural}$. The index is therefore

$$\mathcal{Z}^{V_{+}^{f\natural}\otimes\bar{V}_{-}^{f\natural}}(U) = \left(q^{-1}\prod_{m=1}^{\infty}\frac{1}{(1-q^{m})^{24}}\right)^{24} = \left(\frac{1}{\eta^{24}(U)}\right)^{24}, \quad (5.34)$$

$$\mathcal{Z}^{V_{-}^{f^{\natural}} \otimes \bar{V}_{-}^{f^{\natural}}}(T) = \left(p^{-1} \prod_{w=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(1-p^{w})^{24}}\right)^{24} = \left(\frac{1}{\eta^{24}(T)}\right)^{24}, \quad (5.35)$$

that are indeed the 24th power of the superdenominator of Conway BKM superalgebra [37].

The modified index \tilde{Z} receives contributions from both massive and massless states with $k_r^0 = k_r^1$. Let $c_{NS}(n)$ and $c_R(n)$ be the multiplicities of the GSO-projected NS and R states in the internal SVOA V at level $L_0 - \frac{1}{2} = n$ —these multiplicities are the same for both $V_-^{f \natural}$ and $V_+^{f \natural}$. For winding and momenta m, w, we have $24c_{NS}(mw)$ fermions from the NS-R sector and $24c_R(mw)$ bosons from the R-R sector. The multiplicities are nonzero only for $mw \ge 0$, and the positive energy condition $E = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(\frac{m}{R} + wR) > 0$ implies that $m, w \ge 0$. As discussed above, the $24c_R(0) = 24^2$ massless bosons must have w = 0 for $V = V_+^{f \natural}$ or m = 0for $V = V_-^{f \natural}$. The product $(-1)^{\mathbf{F}}(-1)^{\mathbf{F}_l} = (-1)^{\mathbf{F}_r}$ of spacetime fermion number $(-1)^{\mathbf{F}}$ and the "left-moving" fermion number $(-1)^{\mathbf{F}_l}$ acts by a minus sign on all of these states. The final result for the modified index is therefore

$$\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}^{V_{+}^{f\natural}\otimes\bar{V}_{-}^{f\natural}}(T,U) = \left(q^{-1}\prod_{m=1}^{\infty}\frac{1}{(1+q^{m})^{24}}\prod_{w=1}^{\infty}\frac{(1-p^{w}q^{m})^{c_{NS}(mw)}}{(1+p^{w}q^{m})^{c_{R}(mw)}}\right)^{24},$$

$$\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}^{V_{-}^{f\natural}\otimes\bar{V}_{-}^{f\natural}}(T,U) = \left(p^{-1}\prod_{w=1}^{\infty}\frac{1}{(1+p^{w})^{24}}\prod_{m=1}^{\infty}\frac{(1-p^{w}q^{m})^{c_{NS}(mw)}}{(1+p^{w}q^{m})^{c_{R}(mw)}}\right)^{24}.$$
(5.36)
(5.37)

These are indeed the 24th power of the superalgebra denominator (as computed in [37]).

2. When $V = F_{24}$, we have $\chi^{NS} = 24$ and $\chi^{R}_{+} = \chi^{R}_{-} = 0$. Thus, for both the index and the modified index, the states giving nonzero contribution to the trace may carry any value of winding and momentum. To be precise, there are 8 different string models, depending on the choice of a $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supercurrent for F_{24} (as described in Sect. 2.) Each choice is associated with a semi-simple Lie algebra g of dimension 24; g is also the algebra of gauge symmetries in spacetime for the corresponding model. One can turn on r Wilson lines for these gauge fields where r is the rank of the algebra. We are left with r neutral massless gauginos that need to be absorbed in order to get a nonzero result. The treatment of the massless modes is completely analogous to the case of heterotic strings with Ncurrents that we saw in the previous section. The only difference is that in this case we have massive BPS bosons, while in the heterotic case all BPS states were fermions. Let us denote by $c_{NS}(n,\lambda)$ and $c_R(n,\lambda)$ the GSO-projected NS and Ramond multiplicities of states in the internal CFT F_{24} with level $L_0 - \frac{1}{2} = n$ and charge λ with respect to the algebra q. The result for the index is then

$$\mathcal{Z}^{F_{24}\otimes\bar{V}_{-}^{f_{\natural}}} = \left(pqy^{-\rho}\prod_{\lambda\in\Delta_{g}^{+}}(1-y^{\lambda})^{c_{NS}(0,\lambda)}\prod_{\substack{m,w=0\\(m,w)\neq(0,0)}}^{\infty}\prod_{\lambda\in\Delta_{g}}\frac{(1-p^{w}q^{m}y^{\lambda})^{c_{NS}(mw,\lambda)}}{(1-p^{w}q^{m}y^{\lambda})^{c_{R}(mw,\lambda)}}\right)^{24},$$
(7.26)

and for the modified index

$$\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}^{F_{24}\otimes\bar{V}_{-}^{f!}} = \left(pqy^{-\rho}\prod_{\lambda\in\Delta_{g}^{+}}(1-y^{\lambda})^{c_{NS}(0,\lambda)}\prod_{\substack{m,w=0\\(m,w)\neq(0,0)}}^{\infty}\prod_{\lambda\in\Delta_{g}^{g}}\frac{(1-p^{w}q^{m}y^{\lambda})^{c_{NS}(mw,\lambda)}}{(1+p^{w}q^{m}y^{\lambda})^{c_{R}(mw,\lambda)}}\right)^{24}.$$
(5.39)

(5.38)

where, for any vector α , y^{α} is shorthand for $\prod_{k} y_{k}^{\alpha_{k}} = e^{2\pi i \sum_{k} A_{k} \alpha_{k}}$. Again, up to the power 24, these are, respectively, the superdenominator and denominator of the associated BKM superalgebra (see [36]).

3. Finally, for $V = V^{fE_8}$, we have $\chi^{\text{NS}} = \chi^{\text{R}}_{+} = \chi^{\text{R}}_{-} = 8$. The $8 \cdot 24$ vectors from the NS-NS sectors are the gauge bosons of an abelian $U(1)^{8\cdot 24}$ algebra. The $8 \cdot 24$ massless gauginos from the NS-R sector are all neutral, so their zero modes force the indices to vanish independently of the Wilson lines, unless they are absorbed. For simplicity, we consider the case where the Wilson lines are set to zero. The theory contains supersymmetries of the form \mathcal{Q}^i_{l+} and \mathcal{Q}^i_{l-} from the R-NS sector and \mathcal{Q}^i_{r-} from the NS-R sector; as discussed above, this implies that the contributions to the index \mathcal{Z} from states of nonzero momentum always cancel. So, the index $\mathcal{Z}^{V^{fE_8}\otimes \bar{V}^{f_{1_1}}}$ is simply a nonzero constant that can be normalized to 1. The modified index is more interesting, and gives

$$\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}^{V^{fE_8}\otimes\bar{V}^{f\natural}}(T,U) = \left(\prod_{\substack{m,w=0\\(m,w)\neq(0,0)}}^{\infty} \frac{(1-p^w q^m)^{c_{NS}(mw)}}{(1+p^w q^m)^{c_R(mw)}}\right)^{24}, \quad (5.40)$$

where $c_{NS}(n) = c_R(n)$ are the Fourier coefficients of the GSO projected NS and Ramond characters of V^{fE_8} (that are actually equal to each other). This is the denominator of the fake monster superalgebra (to the power 24) [10,61,62].

6. Path Integrals and Theta Lifts

The index described in the previous section, and its variations, can be calculated using a path integral. In this section, we discuss this point of view, first reviewing the structure and modular properties of second quantized partition functions (Sect. 6.1), and then discussing the relationship between the path integral and operatorial formalism in more detail (Sect. 6.2). In Sect. 6.3, we show that the path integral reduces to a so-called theta lift in the theory of automorphic forms. We then demonstrate how to recover the (super)denominator identities using this approach (Sects. 6.4 and 6.5).

6.1. First and Second Quantized Partition Functions

Let us first consider the relation between first and second quantized partition functions in particle physics/ quantum field theory. For a single point particle of mass m in a d-dimensional spacetime, one defines a (first quantized) partition function by summing over worldlines all possible ways to embed a single (Euclidean) loop in spacetime

$$Z_{particle}(m^2) = V_d \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^d k}{(2\pi)^d} \int_0^{+\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}l}{2l} e^{-\frac{1}{2}(k^2 + m^2)l}.$$
 (6.1)

Here, l is the length of the loop, $\frac{1}{2}(k^2 + m^2)$ is the worldline Hamiltonian, and the factor 2l takes into account the translation and reflection invariance

of the worldline parametrization. To obtain the (second quantized) partition function in a quantum field theory, one needs to sum over an arbitrary number n of disconnected worldlines describing n particles going around a closed loop in spacetime, where on each worldline one sums over all possible particles in the theory. One should also divide by a factor n! to take into account the permutations of the n worldlines. The final result is

$$Z_{QFT} = \exp\left(\sum_{i} Z_{particle}(m_i^2)(-1)^{\mathbf{F}_i}\right),\tag{6.2}$$

where the factor $(-1)^{\mathbf{F}_i}$ takes into account that fermions running in the loop contribute with negative sign with respect to the bosons (see [58], §7.3.).

Now, let us turn to the analogue of this in string theory. In order to obtain the second quantized partition function in string theory, one needs to exponentiate the (first quantized) torus partition function for a single string, with opposite signs for spacetime fermions and bosons, namely

$$\mathscr{Z} = \exp\left(\frac{1}{2} \int_{SL(2,\mathbb{Z})\backslash\mathbb{H}} \frac{\mathrm{d}^2 \tau}{\tau_2} \operatorname{Tr}\left(\mathsf{q}^{L_0} \bar{\mathsf{q}}^{\bar{L}_0} e^{2\pi i \sum_k A_k q_k} (-1)^{\mathbf{F}}\right)\right), \quad (6.3)$$

where $\tau = \tau_1 + i\tau_2$ and $\mathbf{q} = e^{2\pi i\tau}$. The trace is over the GSO-projected single string states and $(-1)^{\mathbf{F}}$ is a spacetime fermion number. The factors of 1/2 and $1/\tau_2$ in the exponential are needed in the torus amplitude to take into account, respectively, of the reflection and translation automorphisms of the worldsheet torus [58]. The A_k are background gauge fields (if present), and q_k are the corresponding charges. The Virasoro operators L_0 and \bar{L}_0 depend implicitly on the geometry of the spacetime and on the background B-field. The target space should be a Euclidean two-dimensional spacetime on a torus $S^1 \times S^1$, where the first S^1 corresponds, in Lorentzian signature, to the spacelike circle of radius R, while the second S^1 is a thermal circle, i.e., a Euclidean time circle with radius the inverse temperature β . This means that both k^0 and k^1 are quantized in the path integral. The standard quantization of momenta in the path integral will lead, on the operatorial side, to the index with fermions that are periodic along the spacelike circle S^1 and with $(-1)^{\mathbf{F}}$ inserted. Nonstandard quantizations of momenta in the path integral (i.e., with half-integral rather than integral momentum, either in the space or in the Euclidean time directions) for *some* of the sectors will lead, in the operatorial side, to either anti-periodic fermions around the space circle, or to modifications of the $(-1)^{\mathbf{F}}$ factor in the trace.

The path integral representation of the index should make invariance under a suitable subgroup of $O(2,2,\mathbb{Z}) \sim SL(2,\mathbb{Z}) \times SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ manifest. The precise invariance subgroup depends on the periodicity conditions imposed on the fields around the spatial and Euclidean time circles. The two $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ factors in $O(2,2,\mathbb{Z})$ act by fractional linear transformations on the complex variables T, U parametrizing, respectively, the complexified Kähler and the complex structure moduli of the spacetime torus. Thus, duality invariance implies that the index is a modular function in both variables T and U. This invariance may be modified in the presence of non-trivial Wilson lines, which give rise to (possibly multivariate) Jacobi forms rather than modular functions.

The path integral might have infrared divergences in the presence of massless or tachyonic modes. These can be regularized in a way that preserves spacetime diffeomorphism invariance and T-duality invariance, by cutting a suitable region in the integration over the fundamental domain $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})\backslash\mathbb{H}$. Therefore, one expects the path integral to be $O(2,2,\mathbb{Z})$ -invariant even in this case.

This is in contrast with the expected modular properties of the index Z, as obtained from the operatorial formalism of Sect. 5. For example, suppose that our theory contains some fermionic zero modes that need to be absorbed as in Eqs.(5.11) and (5.12). In this case, one expects a nonzero modular weight depending on the number of fermions one needs to absorb. For example, consider a modular transformation $U \rightarrow \frac{aU+b}{cU+d}$ of the complex structure of the Euclidean torus. Spacetime fermions are sections of a spinorial bundle on the torus; in particular, a left-moving fermion is a section of $K^{1/2}$, a square root of the canonical bundle on the torus. Similarly, right-moving fermions transform as $d\bar{z}^{1/2}$. This means that if one needs to absorb n_l left-moving and n_r right-moving fermions, the corresponding index is a modular form of weights (n_l, n_r) , rather than a modular invariant function.

In order to explain this mismatch, we will now discuss in more detail the relationship between the path integral \mathscr{Z} and the corresponding index \mathcal{Z} .

6.2. Path Integral Versus Operatorial Formalism

Some of the theories we are considering contain chiral massless fermions or bosons, whose path integral description is notoriously problematic. For a single chiral free boson or fermion, a standard method to overcome this issue consists in introducing additional massless degrees of freedom with the opposite chirality, so as to make the whole theory non-chiral. One can then easily compute the path integral \mathscr{Z} for this non-chiral theory. Finally, the chiral partition function \mathcal{Z} is obtained by extracting a suitable "holomorphic square root" of the non-chiral one \mathscr{Z} —this last step might be quite non-trivial, as discussed below.

Including spurious degrees of freedom. Since we are interested in computing indices in free theories, a similar method can be generalized to our case. Actually, it is simpler to modify the indices computed in Sect. 5 directly in the operatorial formalism, by introducing suitable spurious degrees of freedom that make the theory non-chiral. The "non-chiral" indices we obtain this way can be compared with the path integral results we discuss in the following subsections.

Let us take a closer look at the chiral content of the superstring compactifications. Chiral massless fields can appear when the SVOA $V^{f\natural}$ is the holomorphic or anti-holomorphic factor in the internal CFT. All 24 Ramond ground states of this SVOA have the same worldsheet fermion number, which can be taken to have either positive (for $V_{+}^{f \natural}$) or negative $(V_{-}^{f \natural})$. The GSO projection relates the fermion number of these ground states to the spacetime spin of the corresponding massless fields. Finally, the mass-shell condition, arising from the requirement that the state is BRST closed, relates the spin to the spacetime momentum. For example, for chiral fermions of spin +1/2 or -1/2, the massless Dirac equation admits a nonzero solution only for $k^0 = -k^1$ or $k^0 = k^1$, respectively. As a result, we obtain massless fields that are either purely left-moving or purely right-moving in spacetime. This phenomenon does not occur for $V^{f E_8}$ or F_{24} , for which the Ramond sector contains the same number of states with positive or negative worldsheet fermion number.

In a path integral formulation, the mass-shell condition is not imposed on fields, so that the relationship between spacetime momentum and spin (and, in turn, with the internal fermion number) is lost. One simply sums over all possible spacetime momenta and, independently, over all possible internal states. Nevertheless, this procedure gives the correct result if the number of internal states with positive and negative worldsheet fermion numbers is the same. Therefore, it is clear how to modify the operatorial description so as to obtain a "non-chiral" index that can be compared with the path integral: For each (holomorphic or anti-holomorphic) internal SVOA $V^{f^{\ddagger}}$, containing 24 Ramond ground states having fermion number +1 or -1, one needs to add 24 "spurious" ground states with the opposite fermion number.

Het/Type IIA on $V \otimes \bar{V}_{-}^{f\natural}$. Let us analyze how the index is modified by these spurious degrees of freedom. Let us first suppose that the theory is heterotic string theory on $V \otimes \bar{V}_{\pm}^{f^{\ddagger}}$ or type IIA on $V \otimes \bar{V}_{\pm}^{f^{\ddagger}}$, where V is a VOA or SVOA different from $V^{f\natural}$. As described in Sect. 5, in this case, the only single string physical states relevant to the supersymmetric index are the ones with $k_r^0 = k_r^1$, and correspond to products $v \otimes \bar{v}_+^i$, where v is a state in V and $\bar{v}_{+}^1, \ldots, \bar{v}_{+}^{24}$ are the anti-holomorphic Ramond ground states in $\bar{V}_{+}^{f \natural}$ (heterotic) or $\bar{V}_{-}^{f\natural}$ (type IIA) (the subscript + in \bar{v}_{+}^{i} denotes positive spacetime chirality, and not the worldsheet fermion number; notice that, according to our conventions, the GSO projection on the anti-holomorphic internal factor for type IIA is the opposite than for heterotic). For each of these states, there is a creation or annihilation (depending on the sign of the energy) operator acting on the second quantized Hilbert space. Adding 24 further anti-holomorphic Ramond ground states $\bar{v}_{-}^{1}, \ldots, \bar{v}_{-}^{24}$ with opposite worldsheet fermion number to $\bar{V}^{f\natural}$ corresponds to introducing a second copy of each creation/annihilation operator, but now with right-moving momenta satisfying $k_r^0 = -k_r^1$ rather than $k_r^0 = k_r^1$. This means that, for these new operators, the relation between energy and winding-momentum changes sign and becomes $E = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(\frac{m}{R} + wR)$, so that the second copy of a creation (i.e., positive energy) operator has the same energy and the opposite winding and momentum with respect to the first copy. Changing the sign of m and w while keeping the energy fixed is equivalent to the transformation $(T, U) \mapsto (-\overline{T}, -\overline{U})$. In turn, this is equivalent to applying complex conjugation $\overline{\mathcal{Z}(T,U)}$ to the index, because the latter is a power series in $p = e^{2\pi i T}$ and $q = e^{2\pi i U}$ with integral coefficients.

This construction generalizes to the case where Wilson lines are present. In this case, one has

$$\overline{\mathcal{Z}(T,U,A_k)} = \mathcal{Z}(-\bar{T},-\bar{U},-A_k) = \mathcal{Z}(-\bar{T},-\bar{U},A_k).$$
(6.4)

The last equality follows because the spectrum of a self-dual VOA V is invariant under charge conjugation—in general, applying charge conjugation to a VOA V leads to a different V-module, but since V is self-dual the charge conjugate V-module must be isomorphic to V itself.¹⁴

Finally, the "non-chiral" index obtained by including both the original and the spurious degrees of freedom, therefore, is just the modulus square,

$$|\mathcal{Z}(T, U, A_k)|^2 = \mathcal{Z}(T, U, A_k)\overline{\mathcal{Z}(T, U, A_k)},$$
(6.5)

of the original index. A similar result was already discussed in [55] in the case of a heterotic string theory on $V^{\natural} \otimes V^{f\natural}$.

Type IIA on $V_{\pm}^{f^{\natural}} \otimes \bar{V}_{-}^{f^{\natural}}$. The treatment is slightly more complicated for type IIA compactified on $V_{+}^{f^{\natural}} \otimes \bar{V}_{-}^{f^{\natural}}$ or $V_{-}^{f^{\natural}} \otimes \bar{V}_{-}^{f^{\natural}}$, because one needs to add spurious degrees of freedom to both the holomorphic and the anti-holomorphic factor. Let us start with $V_{+}^{f^{\natural}} \otimes \bar{V}_{-}^{f^{\natural}}$. For the index \mathcal{Z} (corresponding to the superdenominator of the associated BKM superalgebra), the only relevant single string physical states are the ones satisfying $k_l^1 = k_l^0 = k_r^0 = k_r^1$, i.e., with zero winding w = 0 along the circle, so that the index equals $\mathcal{Z}(T, U) = (1/\eta(U)^{24})^{24}$. Let us first add 24 spurious ground states with fermion number -1 to the holomorphic factor $V_{+}^{f^{\natural}}$. This amounts to introducing creation/annihilation operators with momentum $-k_l^1 = k_l^0 = k_r^0 = k_r^1$, i.e., with m = 0, which multiply the index by a factor $(1/\eta(T)^{24})^{24}$. Similarly, the modified index $\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}$, corresponding to the denominator of the associated BKM superalgebra, gets multiplied by $(p^{-1} \prod_{w=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(1+p^w)^{24}})^{24}$. Therefore, once these holomorphic spurious states are introduced, the index \mathcal{Z} becomes

$$\mathcal{Z}_{sp}^{V_{+}^{\sharp_{b}} \otimes \bar{V}_{-}^{f_{b}}}(T, U) = \left(\frac{1}{\eta(T)^{24} \eta(U)^{24}}\right)^{24},\tag{6.6}$$

and the modified index $\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}$ becomes

$$\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}_{sp}^{V_{+}^{\mathfrak{q}} \otimes \bar{V}_{-}^{\mathfrak{q}}}(T, U) = \left(q^{-1} \prod_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(1+q^{m})^{24}}\right)^{24} \left(p^{-1} \prod_{w=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(1+p^{w})^{24}}\right)^{24} \\ \left(\prod_{m,w=1}^{\infty} \frac{(1-p^{w}q^{m})^{c_{NS}(mw)}}{(1+p^{w}q^{m})^{c_{R}(mw)}}\right)^{24}.$$
(6.7)

 $^{^{14}\}mathrm{In}$ VOA language, charge conjugation associates a VOA module with its contragredient module; here, we are simply observing that a self-dual VOA V is necessarily self-contragredient.

Exactly the same result can be obtained by adding spurious states to the holomorphic factor of $V_{-}^{f\natural} \otimes \bar{V}_{-}^{f\natural}$. This is obvious, since the only difference between these two theories is the fermion number of the Ramond ground states.

But we are not done yet: One needs to add also the spurious states for the anti-holomorphic factor $\bar{V}^{f\natural}$. The treatment is similar to the other $V \otimes \bar{V}^{f\natural}$ compactifications: The new spurious degrees of freedom just introduce a second copy of each creation and annihilation operator with the same energy but with opposite winding and momentum. Therefore, the complete non-chiral index (respectively, non-chiral modified index) is just the modulus square of \mathcal{Z}_{sp} in (6.6) (respectively, of $\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}_{sp}$ in (6.7)).

Scalar and fermionic zero modes. One final subtlety occurs when there are scalar or fermionic zero modes. It is well known that the path integral representation for the partition function of a free massless scalar field on a two dimensional torus is not holomorphically factorized, i.e., it is not simply the modulus square of a function depending holomorphically on the complex structure modulus U. Something similar can happen for a free fermion on the torus with doubly periodic boundary conditions, due to the zero modes. In Euclidean signature, the fermion is necessarily complex, and its partition function is a regularized determinant det' $\Delta_{1/2}$, where $\Delta_{1/2}$ is the two-dimensional (spacetime) Laplace operator acting on 1/2-differentials, and the symbol det' means that the zero eigenvalues are excluded, i.e., the zero modes have been absorbed. At first sight, there seems to be no problem with the holomorphic factorization of det' $\Delta_{1/2}$. Indeed, if one chooses a conformal gauge $ds^2 = \rho(z, \bar{z}) dz d\bar{z}$ for the metric of the spacetime torus, the functional determinant can be regularized in such a way that it is the modulus square of a chiral determinant det $\bar{\partial}_{1/2}$ depending homolorphically on U (in fact, it is the modulus square of an eta function). This is the standard result one obtains in two-dimensional conformal field theory for the torus 1-point function of the free fermion with periodic boundary conditions. This factorized expression for det' $\Delta_{1/2}$, however, is not invariant under diffeomorphisms of the spacetime torus: Indeed, being a 1point function on a torus, it transforms as a section of $K^{1/2}$, a square root of the cotangent bundle. On the other hand, the path integral we are considering in this section is manifestly diff-invariant—it depends on the spacetime metric only through diff-invariant quantities, such as the volume, the lengths of geodesics or the angle between them. Therefore, it must correspond to a different, diff-invariant regularization of the functional determinant det $\Delta_{1/2}$.

A classical result by Belavin and Knizhnik [3] shows that, in general, a diff-invariant regularized determinant det' Δ_n of the Laplacian acting on *n*-differentials on a Riemann surface Σ fails to be holomorphically factorized. More precisely, det' Δ_n is related to a chiral determinant det' $\bar{\partial}_n$ by

$$\frac{\det' \Delta_n}{\det\langle \phi_a^n | \phi_b^n \rangle \det\langle \phi_a^{1-n} | \phi_b^{1-n} \rangle} = e^{-c_n S_L(\rho)} |\det' \bar{\partial}_n|^2.$$
(6.8)

Here, $\{\phi_1^n, \phi_2^n, \ldots\}$ and $\{\phi_1^{1-n}, \phi_2^{1-n}, \ldots\}$ are bases of, respectively, the kernel and cokernel of $\bar{\partial}_n$, i.e., holomorphic *n*- and 1 - n-differentials, $S_L(\rho)$ is the

Liouville action, depending on the metric $\rho(z, \bar{z})$ used to define the Laplacian, c_n is the conformal anomaly, and $(\det' \bar{\partial}_n) \phi_1^n \wedge \phi_2^n \wedge \cdots \wedge \phi_1^{1-n} \wedge \phi_2^{1-n} \wedge \cdots$ is a section of a holomorphic line bundle on the moduli space of Riemann surfaces. Furthermore, the scalar product $\langle \phi_a^n | \phi_b^n \rangle$ is defined by

$$\langle \phi_a^n | \phi_b^n \rangle = \int_{\Sigma} (\rho(z, \bar{z}) \mathrm{d}z \, \mathrm{d}\bar{z})^{1-n} \phi_a^n(z) \overline{\phi_b^n(z)}, \tag{6.9}$$

and an analogous definition holds for the scalar product between 1 - n differentials.

In our case, Σ is the Euclidean spacetime torus T^2 , which can be parametrized by the complex coordinate z taking values in $\mathbb{C}/(\mathbb{Z} + U\mathbb{Z})$, with respect to which the metric is of the form $ds^2 = \rho(z, \bar{z})dz d\bar{z}$. The holomorphic 1-differential dz is canonically normalized $\oint_A dz = 1$, $\oint_B dz = U$, where the A- and B-cycles are identified with the spatial and the Euclidean time circle, respectively. The metric is constant $\rho(z, \bar{z}) \equiv \rho$ and normalized so that the torus volume is Im T. These conditions imply that

$$\int_{T^2} \mathrm{d}z \,\mathrm{d}\bar{z} = \mathrm{Im} \ U, \qquad \int_{T^2} \rho \,\mathrm{d}z \,\mathrm{d}\bar{z} = \mathrm{Im} \ T. \tag{6.10}$$

There is a one-dimensional space of holomorphic 1/2-differentials with doubly periodic boundary conditions, and we can take a generator to be $\phi^{1/2}(z) = (dz)^{1/2}$. Note that free chiral fermions with standard normalization of the OPE, such as the ones used to absorb the zero modes in the indices \mathcal{Z} and $\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}$ in eqs. (5.11) and (5.12), correspond, up to a numerical (T, U-independent) factor, to the half-differential $(dz)^{1/2}$. The square norm of $\phi^{1/2}$ is

$$\langle \phi^{1/2} | \phi^{1/2} \rangle = \int_{T^2} (\rho \, \mathrm{d}z \, \mathrm{d}\bar{z})^{1/2} (\mathrm{d}z)^{1/2} \, (\mathrm{d}\bar{z})^{1/2} = (\mathrm{Im} \ U)^{1/2} (\mathrm{Im} \ T)^{1/2}.$$
 (6.11)

For a flat torus, the Liouville factor e^{-S_L} admits holomorphic factorization so that it can be reabsorbed into the definition of the chiral determinants

$$\det \Delta_{1/2} = (\operatorname{Im} U)(\operatorname{Im} T)e^{c_{1/2}S_L} |\det'\bar{\partial}_{1/2}|^2 = (\operatorname{Im} U)(\operatorname{Im} T)|\det'\bar{\partial}_{1/2}|^2.$$
(6.12)

An analogous result holds for scalar fields. The partition function of a free *complex* scalar field is the inverse $(\det' \Delta_0)^{-1}$ of the regularized functional determinant for the scalar Laplacian. We can choose $\phi^1(z) = dz$ and $\phi^0(z) = 1$ as generators of the spaces of holomorphic 1- and 0-differentials on the torus, respectively, so that

$$\langle \phi^1 | \phi^1 \rangle = \int_{T^2} \mathrm{d}z \, \mathrm{d}\bar{z} = \mathrm{Im} \ U, \qquad \langle \phi^0 | \phi^0 \rangle = \int_{T^2} \rho \mathrm{d}z \, \mathrm{d}\bar{z} = \mathrm{Im} \ T. \tag{6.13}$$

We conclude that

$$\det' \Delta_0 = (\operatorname{Im} U)(\operatorname{Im} T) |\widetilde{\det'} \bar{\partial}_0|^2, \qquad (6.14)$$

where, once again, the Liouville factor is absorbed in a redefinition of the chiral determinant.

This discussion finally suggests the correct relation between the indices \mathcal{Z} and $\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}$ of Sect. 5 and their path integral representation \mathscr{Z} considered in

this section. In particular, if the string theory we are considering contains n_b massless scalars and n_f massless fermions, then the path integral equals

$$\mathscr{Z} = [(\operatorname{Im} U)(\operatorname{Im} T)]^{n_f - n_b} |\mathcal{Z}_{sp}|^2, \qquad (6.15)$$

where \mathcal{Z}_{sp} possibly contains additional "spurious" degrees of freedom, as in Eq. (6.6).

Note that if the massless degrees of freedom are charged with respect to some non-trivial background gauge fields, then the corresponding Laplacian is modified in such a way that the zero modes are lifted. This means that one can take the full regularized determinant $\det \Delta$, without projecting onto nonzero modes, and such a determinant automatically factorizes. As a consequence, in the presence of non-trivial Wilson lines for the gauge fields, the correct power $[(\operatorname{Im} U)(\operatorname{Im} T)]^{n_f - n_b}$ in Eq. (6.15) is given by the number n_f of neutral massless fermions minus the number n_b of *neutral* massless scalars.

An analogous formula to (6.15) holds for the path integral $\tilde{\mathscr{Z}}$ corresponding to $\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}$. The insertion of the factor $(-1)^{\mathbf{F}_l}$ in the trace corresponds, in the path integral formulation, to requiring the fermions and bosons to obey periodic or anti-periodic boundary conditions along the Euclidean time circle, depending on their $(-1)^{\mathbf{F}_l}$ eigenvalue. Fermions and bosons with anti-periodic boundary conditions on the torus have no zero modes; therefore, the analog (6.15) holds if n_f and n_b are the number of zero modes of *periodic* fermions and bosons.

Examples. Let us consider some examples:

• For heterotic strings on $V_L \otimes V_+^{f\natural}$, where V_L is the lattice VOA of the Niemeier lattice L, the number of massless fermions is 24N, where N is the number of currents in the VOA V_L . Only 24^2 of them are neutral with respect to the background gauge fields in a maximal abelian torus of the gauge group. Therefore, $n_f = 24^2$. There are no massless propagating scalars, so $n_b = 0$. Thus, we expect the path integral to reproduce

$$\mathscr{Z}^{V_L \otimes V_+^{f\natural}}(T, U, A_k) = [(\operatorname{Im} U)(\operatorname{Im} T)]^{24^2} |\mathcal{Z}^{V_L \otimes V_+^{f\natural}}(T, U, A_k)|^2, \quad (6.16)$$

where Z<sup>V_L⊗V^{f↓}₊(T,U,A_k) is given in (5.21).
Consider type IIA on V^{f↓}_± ⊗ V^{f↓}₋. Once the spurious states are included, the theory contains 24² massless scalars from the R-R sector, and no
</sup> propagating massless fermions. When we consider the index \mathcal{Z} , we have $n_b = 24^2$ and $n_f = 0$, so that the path integral will reproduce

$$\mathscr{Z}(T,U) = [(\operatorname{Im} U)(\operatorname{Im} T)]^{-24^{2}} |\mathcal{Z}_{sp}(T,U)|^{2}$$
$$= \frac{1}{[(\operatorname{Im} U)(\operatorname{Im} T)]^{24^{2}}} \left| \frac{1}{\eta(T)^{24^{2}} \eta(U)^{24^{2}}} \right|^{2}, \quad (6.17)$$

where \mathcal{Z}_{sp} was calculated in (6.6). As for the modified index $\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}$, recall that $(-1)^{\mathbf{F}_l}$ acts by -1 on the R-NS and R-R sector and trivially on the NS-R and NS-NS sector. Therefore, all 24² massless R-R scalars obey anti-periodic boundary conditions along the Euclidean time circle, and there are no zero modes. It follows that $n_b = n_f = 0$ and the path integral $\tilde{\mathscr{X}}$ factorizes as the modulus square

$$\tilde{\mathscr{Z}}_{\pm}^{V_{\pm}^{f\natural}\otimes V_{-}^{f\natural}} = |\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}_{sp}^{V_{\pm}^{f\natural}\otimes V_{-}^{f\natural}}|^2$$
(6.18)

of the index in Eq. (6.7).

• In type IIA on $F_{24} \otimes V_{-}^{f^{\ddagger}}$, there are 24² massless fermions from the NS-R sector and no massless bosons. Only 24*r* of these fermions are neutral, where *r* is the rank of the gauge group, which depends on the choice of the $\mathcal{N} = 1$ supercurrent in F_{24} . Thus, both for the index \mathcal{Z} and the modified index $\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}$, one has $n_f = 24r$ and $n_b = 0$, so that the path integral is expected to give

$$\mathscr{Z}^{F_{24} \otimes V_{-}^{f\natural}}(T, U, A_k) = [(\operatorname{Im} U)(\operatorname{Im} T)]^{24r} |\mathcal{Z}^{F_{24} \otimes V_{-}^{f\natural}}(T, U, A_k)|^2 \quad (6.19)$$

and

$$\tilde{\mathscr{Z}}^{F_{24}\otimes V_{-}^{f\natural}}(T,U,A_k) = \left[(\operatorname{Im} U)(\operatorname{Im} T) \right]^{24r} |\tilde{\mathscr{Z}}^{F_{24}\otimes V_{-}^{f\natural}}(T,U,A_k)|^2 \quad (6.20)$$

where $\mathcal{Z}^{F_{24} \otimes V_{-}^{f_{\natural}}}$ and $\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}^{F_{24} \otimes V_{-}^{f_{\natural}}}$ are given in (5.38) and (5.39), respectively.

• Finally, in type IIA on $V^{fE_8} \otimes V_-^{f\natural}$, there are $8 \cdot 24$ bosons from the R-R sector and $8 \cdot 24$ fermions from the NS-R sector. The gauge group is abelian and all of these states are neutral. For the index \mathcal{Z} , one has $n_b = n_f = 8 \cdot 24$, so that the path integral \mathscr{Z} is holomorphically factorized (in fact, it is just a constant). For the modified index, the scalars obey anti-periodic boundary conditions, so that $n_f = 8 \cdot 24$ and $n_b = 0$. Thus, we expect the path integral to reproduce

$$\tilde{\mathscr{Z}}^{V^{fE_8} \otimes V_-^{f\natural}} = [(\operatorname{Im} U)(\operatorname{Im} T)]^{8 \cdot 24} |\tilde{\mathscr{Z}}^{V^{fE_8} \otimes V_-^{f\natural}}|^2,$$
(6.21)

where $\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}^{V^{fE_8} \otimes V_{-}^{f\natural}}$ is given in Eq. (5.40).

In Sects. 6.4 and 6.5, we will verify some of these expectations by explicit path integral calculations. In particular, we compute explicitly the path integrals corresponding to the superdenominators of type IIA on $F_{24} \otimes V_{-}^{f\natural}$, $V_{-}^{f\natural} \otimes V_{-}^{f\natural}$ and $V_{\pm}^{f\natural} \otimes V_{-}^{f\natural}$, as well as the denominators of type IIA on $V_{\pm}^{f\natural} \otimes V_{-}^{f\natural}$.

6.3. Path Integrals and Theta Lifts

Let us consider heterotic or type II superstring theory on a generic internal CFT $V_1 \otimes \overline{V}_2$. Let us first consider the case where there are no Wilson lines. As mentioned above, the path integral representation of the second quantized index is given by

$$\mathscr{Z} = \exp\left(\frac{1}{2} \int_{SL(2,\mathbb{Z})\backslash\mathbb{H}} \frac{\mathrm{d}^2 \tau}{\tau_2} \operatorname{Tr}\left(\mathsf{q}^{L_0} \bar{\mathsf{q}}^{\bar{L}_0}(-1)^{\mathbf{F}}\right)\right).$$
(6.22)

The trace in the integrand is taken over the full GSO-projected ghost and matter CFT, restricted to ker $b_0 \cap \ker \bar{b}_0$. The latter condition corresponds to the insertion of suitable ghost vertex operators in the path integral. The operator $(-1)^{\mathbf{F}}$ is a spacetime fermion number; for example, in type II theories it acts trivially on the NS-NS and R-R sectors and by a minus sign on the NS-R and R-NS sectors. As usual, the contributions from nonzero modes of the ghosts and superghosts exactly cancel the bosonic and fermionic matter oscillators in the 1 + 1 spacetime directions. Thus, the trace is the product of a term coming from a sum over winding-momenta along the two-dimensional Euclidean spacetime torus, times the partition function of the internal CFT $V_1 \otimes \bar{V}_2$.

The winding-momenta take values in an even unimodular lattice $\Gamma^{2,2}$ of signature (2, 2), so that their contribution gives a Narain–Siegel theta function

$$\Theta_{\Gamma^{2,2}}(\tau;T,U) = \tau_2 \sum_{m_1,w_1,m_0,w_0 \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathsf{q}^{\frac{k_I^2}{2}} \mathsf{q}^{\frac{k_T^2}{2}}, \qquad (6.23)$$

(we included a factor τ_2 to make it modular invariant and match with the mathematical literature) where

$$k_l^2 = \frac{\left| (T \ 1) \begin{pmatrix} w_0 & w_1 \\ -m_1 & m_0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} -U \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} \right|^2}{2T_2 U_2} \tag{6.24}$$

$$k_r^2 = k_l^2 - 2m_1 w_1 - 2m_0 w_0. ag{6.25}$$

The partition function of the CFT $V_1 \otimes \overline{V}_2$ factorizes as a product $f(\tau, V_1)\overline{f(\tau, V_2)}$ of a holomorphic and an anti-holomorphic factor.

Let us focus on type II models; in this case, the spacetime fermion number factorizes as $(-1)^{\mathbf{F}} = (-1)^{\mathbf{F}_l}(-1)^{\mathbf{F}_r}$, where $(-1)^{\mathbf{F}_{l,r}}$ acts by a minus sign on the (left- or right-moving) Ramond sector. In terms of the traces of Eq. (2.1), for each given SVOA V, one has

$$f(\tau, V) = \frac{\phi_{NS}(\tau, V) - \phi_{\widetilde{NS}}(\tau, V)}{2} - \frac{\phi_R(\tau, V) \pm \phi_{\widetilde{R}}(\tau, V)}{2}$$
$$= \begin{cases} 0 & \text{for } V = V^{fE_8}, \\ -24 & \text{for } V = V^{f\natural}_{\pm}, \\ 24 & \text{for } V = F_{24}. \end{cases}$$
(6.26)

In this formula, the first two terms yield the GSO-projected NS sector. The relative sign between the NS and the Ramond sector is due to the spacetime fermion number. The last two terms can be explained as follows. In the Ramond sector, the GSO projection should be implemented by taking just one of the two spacetime chiralities for each Ramond state of the internal SVOA V, depending on the eigenvalue of the internal worldsheet fermion number $(-1)^F$. However, in our Euclidean path integral, the description of chiral fermions is problematic. A way out is as follows. For $V = F_{24}$ or $V = V^{fE_8}$, one observes that $\phi_{\tilde{R}}(\tau, V) = 0$, i.e., the number of states with positive and negative fermion number is the same for each L_0 eigenvalue. This means that the states in the Ramond sector come in pairs with opposite fermion number, and we can count one complex (non-chiral) spacetime fermion for each such pair, thus giving $\frac{\phi_R(\tau, V)}{2}$ as a counting function. The same reasoning applies to $V_{\pm}^{f\downarrow}$ with $L_0 > 1/2$: The number of states with positive and negative fermion number is the same for states with positive and negative fermion number is the same for states with positive and negative fermion for each such pair, thus giving $\frac{\phi_R(\tau, V)}{2}$ as a counting function. The same reasoning applies to $V_{\pm}^{f\downarrow}$ with $L_0 > 1/2$: The number of states with positive and negative fermion number is the same for $L_0 > 1/2$, so we can count one complex fermion for each pair

of states. On the other hand, the 24 Ramond ground states $(L_0 = 1/2)$ in $V_{\pm}^{f\natural}$, only appear for either positive (for $V_{+}^{f\natural}$) or negative (for $V_{-}^{f\natural}$) fermion number, i.e., they would correspond to a chiral spacetime fermion. Since we are not able to describe these chiral fermions in our Euclidean path integral formulation, we simply count one complex non-chiral fermion for each of these 24 states, irrespective of their fermion number; this gives $\frac{\phi_R(\tau, V_{\pm}^{f\natural}) \pm \phi_{\bar{R}}(\tau, V_{\pm}^{f\natural})}{2}$. In this way, we have a slight overcounting of Ramond ground states: This is the origin of the "spurious states" discussed in Sect. 6.2.

By (6.26), in type IIA theories, the partition function $f(\tau, V_1)f(\tau, V_2)$ is just a constant. Note that when either V_1 or V_2 is V^{fE_8} , the partition function vanishes.

For heterotic models on $V_1 \otimes \overline{V}_2$, we have a similar result for $f(\tau, V_1)\overline{f(\tau, V_2)}$, where the anti-holomorphic factor $\overline{f(\tau, V_2)}$ is a constant given in (6.26), while the holomorphic factor

$$f(\tau, V_1) = J(\tau) + N = q^{-1} + N + 196884q + \cdots$$
 (6.27)

is the partition function of the bosonic VOA V_1 , which equals the *J*-function up to the constant term.

Thus, in all cases we are interested in, the integrand $\tau_2 \operatorname{Tr}(\mathbf{q}^{L_0} \bar{\mathbf{q}}^{\bar{L}_0}(-1)^{\mathbf{F}})$ is just the product $F(\tau) \Theta_{\Gamma^{2,2}}(\tau; T, U)$ of a theta series and a holomorphic function $F(\tau) = f(\tau, V_1) \overline{f(\tau, V_2)}$.

We conclude that the path integral will amount to performing an integral of the form

$$\int_{SL(2,\mathbb{Z})\backslash\mathbb{H}} F(\tau)\Theta_{\Gamma^{2,2}}(\tau;T,U) \frac{\mathrm{d}^2\tau}{\tau_2^2}.$$
(6.28)

This is recognized as a *theta lift* in the mathematics literature. More generally one can lift a modular form F on \mathbb{H} to an automorphic form on SO(m, n) via [6]

$$F \longmapsto \Theta_F(g) = \int_{SL(2,\mathbb{Z})\backslash\mathbb{H}} F(\tau)\Theta_{\Gamma^{m,n}}(\tau;g) \frac{\mathrm{d}^2\tau}{\tau_2^2}.$$
 (6.29)

Here, $\Theta_{\Gamma^{m,n}}$ is a Siegel–Narain theta series for the lattice $\Gamma^{m,n}$, depending on $\tau \in \mathbb{H}$ and $g \in SO(m,n;\mathbb{R})$. The image $\Theta_F(g)$ of the theta lift is then an automorphic form on

$$\Gamma \setminus SO(m, n; \mathbb{R}) / (SO(m) \times SO(n)), \tag{6.30}$$

where $\Gamma \subset SO(m, n; \mathbb{R})$ is an arithmetic subgroup (T-duality group).

Consider the case of the lattice $\Gamma^{2,d}$, which is the level of generality that we are interested in. The case when d > 2 corresponds to including Wilson lines. Then $\Theta_{\Gamma^{2,d}}$ transforms like a modular form of weight d/2-1 with respect to $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$. Assume further that $F(\tau)$ is a weakly holomorphic modular form of weight 1 - d/2 with Fourier coefficients c(m, n). Since F may have singularities at the cusps the integral diverges. However, it can be regularized by introducing a cutoff $\Im(\tau) \leq t$ and computing the integral in the limit $t \to \infty$ [24,38]. Physically, the divergence is an IR effect, due to the presence of massless or tachyonic modes (the latter only arises in off-shell heterotic strings). The result is of the form

$$\Theta_F(g) = \log ||\Phi_F(g)||_{\text{Pet}}^2 + \text{const}, \qquad (6.31)$$

where $|| \cdot ||_{\text{Pet}}$ denotes the Petersson metric on the line bundle \mathcal{L} of modular forms of weight c(0,0)/2 over $SO(2,d;\mathbb{R})/(SO(2) \times SO(d))$. Moreover, in the neighborhood of a cusp, $\Phi_F(g)$ has an infinite product expansion. The theta lift generalizes to the case where Θ_{Λ} is the theta series of a lattice Λ that is not unimodular, and $F(\tau)$ is a vector-valued modular form for a suitable $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ -representation, see "Appendix D" for details and references.

To illustrate this, let us restrict again to the case of having no Wilson lines, i.e., d = 2, as in the beginning of this section. In this case, $F(\tau)$ is a weight 0 modular form. The simplest possibility is to let F be a constant, say c. Then we obtain

$$\Theta_c(T,U) = \int_{SL(2,\mathbb{Z})\backslash\mathbb{H}} c \cdot \Theta_{\Gamma^{d,d}}(\tau;T,U) \frac{\mathrm{d}^2 \tau}{\tau_2^2}$$
$$= -c \log ||\eta(T)^2 \eta(U)^2||_{\mathrm{Pet}}^2 + \mathrm{const}, \qquad (6.32)$$

where the Petersson metric is given explicitly by

$$||\eta(T)^2 \eta(U)^2||_{\text{Pet}}^2 = \Im(T)\Im(U) |\eta^2(T)\eta^2(U)|^2.$$
(6.33)

The constant in (6.32) is explicit and involves the Euler–Mascheroni constant (see, e.g., [38]). We recognize the general structure of the path integral (6.15), where we recall that the prefactors $\Im(T)\Im(U)$ arise from the bosonic and fermionic zero modes.

As mentioned in Sect. 6.2, the path integral we started from is manifestly invariant under spacetime diffeomorphisms. The dependence on the metric is only through the complex moduli T and U, which in turn are defined in terms of diff-invariant quantities, such as the volume of the spacetime torus, the length of geodesics or the angle between them. The infrared regularization is also manifestly diff-invariant—we just cut a region of integration over the moduli of the *worldsheet* torus. Thus, the final result is expected to be free of gravitational anomalies. In particular, the arithmetic T-duality group $\Gamma \subset$ $SO(2, d; \mathbb{R})$ contains a group of large spacetime diffeomorphisms, so that the absence of gravitational anomalies can be seen as the physical counterpart of the automorphy properties of the theta lift.

6.4. The Path Integral for the Superdenominator

Let us consider a type IIA model on $V \otimes \overline{V}_{-}^{f \natural}$, where V is a self-dual $\mathcal{N} = 1$ SVOA with c = 12. The second quantized supersymmetric index \mathcal{Z} corresponding to this model is (the 24th power of) the superdenominator of the BKM superalgebra associated with V.

In the following subsections, we will describe how the superdenominator arises explicitly from the path integral for the type II string on $V \otimes V^{f\natural}$, with $V = F_{24}, V^{f\natural}$, and V^{fE_8} .

The case $F_{24} \otimes \overline{V}_{-}^{f\natural}$. For $V = F_{24}$ we have $\chi_{+}^{\mathrm{R}} = \chi_{-}^{\mathrm{R}} = 0$. Let us consider the case when we turn off all Wilson lines, i.e., $y_i = 1$ for all *i*, so that the lattice is $\Gamma^{2,2}$. We expect the index to depend on both *T* and *U*, the Kähler and complex structure moduli of the torus. By (6.26), we have $f(\tau, F_{24}) = 24$ and $f(\tau, V_{-}^{f\natural}) = -24$. The result of the theta lift is thus

$$\Theta_{F_{24}\otimes\bar{V}^{f\sharp}}(T,U) = \int_{SL(2,\mathbb{Z})\backslash\mathbb{H}} 24 \cdot (-24) \cdot \Theta_{\Gamma^{2,2}}(\tau;T,U) d\mu$$

= 24 \cdot 24 \log ||\eta^2(T)\eta^2(U)||_{Pet}^2. (6.34)

The full non-holomorphic partition function in this case is given by

$$\mathscr{Z}^{F_{24}\otimes\bar{V}^{f\natural}}\big|_{y=1} = e^{\frac{1}{2}\Theta_{F_{24}\otimes\bar{V}^{f\natural}}(T,U)} = \operatorname{const} \cdot ||(\eta^{24}(T))^{24}(\eta^{24}(U))^{24}||_{\operatorname{Pet}}^2.$$
(6.35)

Now, let us give a rough idea of the generalization to the case where the Wilson lines are turned on. Recall that $y_i = e^{2\pi i A_i}$, $i = 1, \ldots, r$, where A_i are Wilson line moduli and r is the rank of the gauge group G. The integral now involves the Siegel–Narain theta function $\Theta_{\Lambda}(\tau; T, U, A)$ for a lattice $\Lambda = \Gamma^{2,2} \oplus L$ of signature (2, 2 + r), where L is the r-dimensional lattice of charges with respect to gauge group G. The partition function F becomes a Jacobi form, with theta decomposition of the form $F = \sum F_{\gamma} \theta_{\gamma}$, where γ label the cosets in L^{\vee}/L . Using the vector-valued theta lift of F discussed in "Appendix D," we arrive at

$$\mathscr{Z}^{F_{24}\otimes\bar{V}_{-}^{\sharp}} = e^{\frac{1}{2}\Theta_{F_{24}\otimes\bar{V}^{f\sharp}}(T,U,A)} = \operatorname{const} \cdot ||\Phi(T,U,A)^{24}||_{\operatorname{Pet}}^{2}, \qquad (6.36)$$

where $\Phi(T, U, A)$ has the following infinite product representation

$$\Phi = e^{-2\pi i (T+U+(\rho,A))} \prod_{\lambda \in \Delta_g^+} (1 - e^{2\pi i (\lambda,A)})^{c(0,\lambda)}$$
$$\prod_{\substack{m,w=0\\(m,w)\neq (0,0)}}^{\infty} \prod_{\lambda \in \Delta_g} (1 - e^{2\pi i (mT+wU+(\lambda,A))})^{c(mw,\lambda)}$$
(6.37)

This matches perfectly with the index $\mathcal{Z}^{F_{24} \otimes \overline{V}_{-}^{f_{\pm}}}$ obtained in Sect. 5.4.

The case $V^{fE_8} \otimes \overline{V}^{f\natural}$. In this case, we have both $\chi^{\rm R}_+ \neq 0$ and $\chi^{\rm R}_- \neq 0$, and only states with all momenta vanishing will contribute. Thus, we expect the theta lift to be independent of T and U. Indeed, the contribution to $F(\tau)$ from the $f(\tau, V^{fE_8})$ vanishes (see Eq. (6.26)). Hence, the partition function is just

$$\mathscr{Z}^{V^{fE_8}\otimes\bar{V}^{f\natural}} = e^{\frac{1}{2}\Theta_0} = 1, \tag{6.38}$$

which agrees with the result in Sect. 5.4.

The cases $V_{\pm}^{f\natural} \otimes \bar{V}_{-}^{f\natural}$. For $V_{\pm}^{f\natural}$, we have $\chi_{\pm}^{R} \neq 0$ (but $\chi_{\mp}^{R} = 0$). Recall from Sect. 5.4 the case $\chi_{+}^{R} \neq 0$ implies that, on-shell, there is a constraint on the winding and momenta such that there is no winding around the spacelike S^{1} . Similarly, the case $\chi_{-}^{R} \neq 0$ implies that there is no momenta around the S^{1} . Therefore, in the operatorial formalism, one has that $\mathcal{Z}^{V_{+}^{f\natural} \otimes \bar{V}_{-}^{f\natural}}$ depends only on U, while $\mathcal{Z}^{V_{+}^{f\natural} \otimes \bar{V}_{-}^{f\natural}}$ depends only on T. In the path integral (6.22), these conditions are not imposed, so one expects \mathscr{Z} to depend on both T and U and be the same function for both $V_{\pm}^{f\natural} \otimes \bar{V}_{-}^{f\natural}$ and $V_{-}^{f\natural} \otimes \bar{V}_{-}^{f\natural}$.

The calculation is very similar to the case $F_{24} \otimes \bar{V}_{-}^{f\natural}$, but now

$$c = f(\tau, V_{\pm}^{f\natural})\overline{f(\tau, V_{-}^{f\natural})} = (-24)^2.$$
(6.39)

The result is

$$\mathscr{Z}^{V_{\pm}^{f_{\natural}} \otimes \bar{V}_{-}^{f_{\natural}}}(T,U) = \text{const} \cdot ||\eta^{-24}(T)\eta^{-24}(U)||_{\text{Pet}}^{2 \cdot 24}.$$
 (6.40)

The superdenominator formula should correspond to the 24th power of the holomorphic piece of this partition function, namely $\eta^{-24}(T)$ (or $\eta^{-24}(U)$). This indeed agrees with Eq. (6.17).

6.5. Path Integral for the Denominator of Type II on $V_{+}^{f\natural} \otimes \bar{V}_{-}^{f\natural}$

We shall now move on to compute the path integral for the modified index $\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}^{V_1 \otimes \bar{V}_-^{f \natural}}$ for type IIA on $V_1 \otimes \bar{V}_-^{f \natural}$, corresponding to the denominator function of the BKM superalgebra associated with V_1 . The modified index $\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}$ is obtained by inserting an operator $(-1)^{\mathbf{F}_l}$ in the trace over the second quantized Hilbert space. The left-moving fermion number $(-1)^{\mathbf{F}_l}$ acts by +1 on the physical states in the left-moving NS sector (which give the even elements of the BKM superalgebra) and by -1 on physical string states in the left-moving R sector (corresponding to odd elements in the BKM superalgebra). In the path integral formulation of the index, this insertion corresponds to taking either integral or half-integral quantization for the momenta in the time direction, depending on the $(-1)^{\mathbf{F}_l}$ eigenvalue of the string running in the loop. Formally, this is equivalent to taking the standard path integral for an orbifold theory, analogous to the CHL string models. One starts from a theory whose Euclidean time circle has twice the radius, and then takes an orbifold by a symmetry 3 acting as a half-period shift along the Euclidean time circle, together with the action of $(-1)^{\mathbf{F}_l}$. As a result, we get a theory whose fields obey $(-1)^{\mathbf{F}_l}$ -twisted boundary conditions along the Euclidean time circle. From a mathematical viewpoint, this procedure amounts to taking the theta lift of vector-valued (rather than scalar) modular forms in the integrand. The general structure of such integrals is recalled in "Appendix D."

Now, let us apply this machinery to our setting. Let us consider the example of type IIA string theory on $V_{-}^{f\natural} \otimes \overline{V}_{-}^{f\natural}$. Recall that the path integral for the superdenominator, in this example, is given by (6.22), where the integrand is $\Theta_{\Gamma^{2,2}}(T, U, \tau) f(\tau, V_{-}^{f\natural}) \overline{f(\tau, V_{-}^{f\natural})}$. In particular, in the CFT trace inside the integral, the spacetime oscillators cancel against the ghost and superghost

contributions, and we are left with the theta series for the winding-momentum lattice on the Euclidean torus times the trace over the internal CFT.

Now, in order to compute the path integral for the denominator, we have to take an orbifold by an order 2 symmetry \mathfrak{z} acting by a half-period shift along the Euclidean time circle and simultaneously by $(-1)^{\mathbf{F}_l}$. This symmetry acts trivially on the spacetime oscillators and (super)ghosts, so that the same cancellations as for the superdenominator case occur. Therefore, the CFT trace in the integral of (6.22) is still $\overline{f(\tau, V_-^{f\natural})} = -24$ times the contributions from the holomorphic internal SVOA and from the winding-momentum. We claim that the integrand has the form

$$\sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}} \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathfrak{z}^{r}} \left(\mathfrak{q}^{L_{0}} \bar{\mathfrak{q}}^{\bar{L}_{0}} (-1)^{\mathbf{F}} \frac{1}{2} \sum_{s \in \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}} \mathfrak{z}^{s} \right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \sum_{r,s \in \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}} f(r,s;\tau) \Theta^{r,s}(T,U;\tau) \overline{f(\tau,V_{-}^{f\natural})}.$$
(6.41)

Here, $\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathfrak{z}^r}$ denotes the trace over the \mathfrak{z}^r -twisted sector, and $\frac{1}{2}\sum_s \mathfrak{z}^s$ is the projection onto the \mathfrak{z} -invariant states. The anti-holomorphic SVOA $\overline{V}_{-}^{f\natural}$ contributes with the usual factor $\overline{f(\tau, V_{-}^{f\natural})} = -24$, since \mathfrak{z} acts trivially on this theory. For each $r, s \in \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$, $f(r, s; \tau)$ is the contribution from the holomorphic internal SVOA $V_{-}^{f\natural}$, while $\Theta^{r,s}(T, U; \tau)$ comes from the sum over winding and momentum along the spacetime torus. Explicitly,

$$\begin{split} f(0,0;\tau) &= \frac{\phi_{\rm NS}(\tau) - \phi_{\tilde{\rm NS}}(\tau)}{2} - \frac{\phi_{\rm R}(\tau) - \phi_{\tilde{\rm R}}(\tau)}{2} = -24\\ f(0,1;\tau) &= \frac{\phi_{\rm NS}(\tau) - \phi_{\tilde{\rm NS}}(\tau)}{2} + \frac{\phi_{\rm R}(\tau) - \phi_{\tilde{\rm R}}(\tau)}{2}\\ &= 24 + 4096 \mathsf{q} + 98304 \mathsf{q}^2 + 1228800 \mathsf{q}^3 + \cdots\\ f(1,0;\tau) &= \frac{\phi_{\rm NS}(\tau) + \phi_{\tilde{\rm NS}}(\tau)}{2} - \frac{\phi_{\rm R}(\tau) + \phi_{\tilde{\rm R}}(\tau)}{2}\\ &= \mathsf{q}^{1/2} + 276 \mathsf{q}^{1/2} - 2048 \mathsf{q} + 11202 \mathsf{q}^{3/2} + \cdots\\ f(1,1;\tau) &= -\frac{\phi_{\rm NS}(\tau) + \phi_{\tilde{\rm NS}}(\tau)}{2} - \frac{\phi_{\rm R}(\tau) + \phi_{\tilde{\rm R}}(\tau)}{2}\\ &= -\mathsf{q}^{-1/2} - 276 \mathsf{q}^{1/2} - 2048 \mathsf{q} - 11202 \mathsf{q}^{3/2} + \cdots \end{split}$$

where in the second line we use the fact that $\mathfrak{z} = (-1)^{\mathbf{F}_l}$ on $V_-^{f\natural}$, and the third and fourth line follow from modular transformations of the second (recall that $f_{\rm NS}$, $f_{\tilde{\rm NS}}$, and $f_{\rm R}$ span a three-dimensional representation of $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$, while $f_{\tilde{\rm R}}$ is $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ -invariant). As for the theta series, we have

$$\Theta^{r,s}(T,U;\tau) = \tau_2 \sum_{m_1,w_1,m_0 \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{w_0 \in \mathbb{Z} + \frac{r}{2}} \mathsf{q}^{\frac{k_l^2}{2}} \bar{\mathsf{q}}^{\frac{k_r^2}{2}} (-1)^{sm_0}, \qquad (6.42)$$

where k_l, k_r are given in (6.24) and (6.25). This follows from the fact that the winding number w_0 is half-integral in the \mathfrak{z} -twisted sector, and that a shift by half a period corresponds to multiplication by $(-1)^{m_0}$.

Vol. 23 (2022)

The connection with vector-valued theta lifts can be easily made manifest (see "Appendix D" for notation). Let us consider the lattice $\Lambda = \Gamma^{1,1} \oplus \Gamma^{1,1}(2)$, where $\Gamma^{1,1}$ is the unique even unimodular lattice of signature (1, 1), and $\Gamma^{1,1}(2)$ is the same lattice with the quadratic form rescaled by 2. This implies

$$\Lambda^{\vee} = \Gamma^{1,1} \oplus \frac{1}{2} \Gamma^{1,1}(2), \qquad \Lambda^{\vee} / \Lambda \cong \frac{1}{2} \Gamma^{1,1}(2) / \Gamma^{1,1}(2) \cong \mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2.$$
(6.43)

The elements $\lambda \in \frac{1}{2}\Gamma^{1,1}(2)$ can be parametrized by

$$\lambda = (m/2, n/2), \qquad \lambda^2 = mn. \tag{6.44}$$

The cosets $\gamma \in \Lambda^{\vee}/\Lambda$ are represented by pairs (r/2, s/2) with $r, s \in \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$. With the lattice Λ is associated a vector-valued representation ρ_{Λ} (Weil representation) of $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$, as in (D.3). We define a vector-valued modular form F for ρ_{Λ} via the discrete Fourier transform as follows:

$$F_{r,s}(\tau) := \frac{1}{2} \sum_{t \in \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}} e^{-\pi i t s} f(r,t;\tau) \overline{f(\tau, V_{-}^{f\natural})}.$$
(6.45)

This yields

$$F_{00}(\tau) = -24(2048q + \cdots)$$

$$F_{01}(\tau) = -24(-24 - 2048q - \cdots)$$

$$F_{10}(\tau) = -24(-2048q - \cdots)$$

$$F_{11}(\tau) = -24(q^{-1/2} + 276q^{1/2} + \cdots).$$
(6.46)

For later reference, let us denote the Fourier expansions of these functions by

$$F_{r,s}(\tau) = -24 \sum_{n \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}} C_{r,s}(n) \mathsf{q}^n.$$
(6.47)

These functions represent the components $F_{\gamma}(\tau)$ of the vector-valued modular form $F(\tau)$.

Now, let us turn to the theta function. The shifted theta series $\theta_{\Lambda+\gamma}$ can be written as follows in terms of the shifted Narain theta series $\Theta^{r,s}$:

$$\theta_{\Lambda+\gamma} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{t \in \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}} e^{\pi i s t} \Theta^{r,t}(T,U;\tau), \qquad (6.48)$$

where $\gamma \equiv (r/2, s/2) \in \Lambda^{\vee}/\Lambda$.

The inner product in the integrand of the theta lift can now be written out explicitly as follows:

$$(\overline{\Theta}_{\Lambda}, F) = \sum_{\gamma, \gamma' \in \Lambda^{\vee} / \Lambda} \theta_{\Lambda + \gamma} F_{\gamma'} \delta_{\gamma' - \gamma, 0}$$

= $\frac{1}{2} \sum_{r, s \in \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}} f(r, s; \tau) \Theta^{r, s}(T, U; \tau) \overline{f(\tau, V_{-}^{f \natural})}.$ (6.49)

Thus, the theta integral that we wish to perform is explicitly given by

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{SL(2,\mathbb{Z})\backslash\mathbb{H}} \left(\overline{\Theta}_{\Lambda}, F\right) \mathrm{d}\mu.$$
(6.50)

$$\log ||\Phi_F(T,U)||_{\text{Pet}} + \text{const}, \tag{6.51}$$

where $\Phi_F(T, U)$ is an automorphic form on $O(2, 2; \mathbb{R})/(O(2) \times O(2))$, with the following product representation:

$$\Phi_F(T,U) = p^{-24} q^{-24} \prod_{\substack{m,w \in \mathbb{Z} \\ (\lambda,W)>0}} \prod_{t \in \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}} (1 - (-1)^t p^w q^m)^{24C_{0,t}(mw)}.$$
 (6.52)

The condition $(\lambda, W) > 0$ includes all states $\lambda = (m, w)$ such that $m, w \ge 0$, and $(m, w) \ne (0, 0)$.¹⁶ We may separate this into states with w = 0, m > 0and states with $w \ge 1, m \ge 0$. Since $C_{0,0}(0) = 0$ and $C_{0,1}(0) = -24$ the first set of states (with the q^{-24} factor) give

$$\left(q^{-1}\prod_{m=1}^{\infty}(1+q^m)^{-24}\right)^{24} \tag{6.53}$$

which we can rewrite in terms of η -functions according to

$$\left(\frac{\eta(U)^{24}}{\eta(2U)^{24}}\right)^{24}.$$
(6.54)

The complete function Φ_F may now be written as

$$\Phi_F(T,U) = \left(q^{-1} \prod_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(1+q^m)^{24}}\right)^{24} \Psi(T,U)^{24}, \tag{6.55}$$

where we defined

$$\Psi(T,U) = p^{-1} \prod_{w=1}^{\infty} \prod_{m \ge 0} \left(1 - p^w q^m\right)^{C_{0,0}(mw)} \left(1 + p^w q^m\right)^{C_{0,1}(mw)}.$$
 (6.56)

Here, $C_{0,0}$ and $C_{0,1}$ are the Fourier coefficients defined in (6.47). The function $\Psi(T,U)^{24}$ matches exactly with the modified index $\tilde{Z}^{V_{-}^{f_{\natural}} \otimes \bar{V}_{-}^{f_{\natural}}}$ in Eq. (5.37), and its 24th root $\Psi(T,U)$ is the denominator formula in Eq. (4.18) of [37]. The factor $\left(q^{-1}\prod_{m=1}^{\infty}\frac{1}{(1+q^m)^{24}}\right)^{24}$ is the contribution of the spurious states, so that Φ_F matches with $\tilde{Z}_{sp}^{V_{-}^{f_{\natural}} \otimes \bar{V}_{-}^{f_{\natural}}}(T,U)$ in Eq. (6.7).

Using similar techniques, one may compute the path integrals for the other cases and reproduce the corresponding denominator functions obtained in Sect. 5.4.

¹⁵The function Φ_F considered here is the inverse of the automorphic function Φ_M defined in theorem 13.3 of [6]. With our conventions, Φ_F can be directly identified with the path integral $\hat{\mathscr{Z}}_{sp}$.

¹⁶We thank Scott Carnahan for clarifications about this point.

7. Discussion

In this paper, we construct a family of distinguished type IIA and heterotic string compactifications to two spacetime dimensions. These compactifications are distinguished by the fact that there exists an action of a BKM algebra on the BPS subspace of the Hilbert space of physical states in the models, which we illustrate in Sect. 4, following the original construction for the monster BKM algebra in [55,56]. Furthermore, we demonstrate how a spacetime supersymmetric index in our theories—computed from both a trace in the Hilbert space (Sect. 5) and via a path integral (Sect. 6)—furnishes an automorphic form which is (closely related to) a denominator function for the corresponding BKM algebra. In this family we find a spacetime string-theoretic setting for the BKM algebras constructed in [36,37,61], among many others.

The compactifications we consider in this paper are also distinguished because they are highly symmetric, and the corresponding BKM algebras which arise have large finite symmetry groups, in some cases sporadic groups. For example, $V^{f\natural}$ has an action of the Conway group [25], which carries over to an action on the corresponding BKM arising from the chiral string compactification [37]. The lattice VOAs V_L based on the Niemeier lattices L have symmetry group corresponding to (extensions of) the automorphism group of the lattice.¹⁷ (For L the Leech lattice, this is the group Co_0 , while other cases have symmetry groups M_{24} and $2.M_{12}$ arising from the Mathieu groups.) In light of this fact, a natural question is to explore so-called CHL models [14] based on these compactifications, which arise from orbifolds of string theory on $\mathcal{C} \times T^d$. These orbifolds arise by quotienting by a symmetry of the internal CFT \mathcal{C} combined with a translation along the torus T^d . For a general discussion, see [57]. In the monster case of [55,56], where $\mathcal{C} = V^{\natural} \otimes \overline{V}^{f\natural}$, considering these CHL models leads to a family of "twisted" denominator formulas for the spacetime BKM algebra. It would be interesting to generalize this to the case of models considered in this paper.

Furthermore, these CHL models also inspired a proposed physical explanation for the genus zero property of monstrous moonshine [20]. As the Conway moonshine arising from the SVOA $V^{f\natural}$ also satisfies a genus zero property [26],¹⁸ it would be very interesting to offer a physical explanation along the lines of that in [55,56] based on the constructions in this paper and their corresponding CHL models.

Besides finding explicit physical models where one can explore the physics of BPS algebras, another one of our original motivations for this work was to uncover new 2d spacetime string-theoretic dualities, where one can explore connections to BKM algebras and automorphic forms. It is the case that a single automorphic form on the moduli space \mathcal{M} of some family of string

¹⁷These are the groups appearing in the umbral moonshine phenomenon [17]. It would be very interesting if there was a connection between these physical models and umbral moonshine.

¹⁸To be precise, Conway moonshine is usually expressed in terms of $V^{s\natural}$, which is an SVOA isomorphic to $V^{f\natural}$, but with a different action of the Conway group. In our setup, it would be more natural to re-formulate this moonshine phenomenon in terms of $V^{f\natural}$.

compactifications can have multiple distinct Fourier expansions at different "cusps" of \mathcal{M} , and that the expansion at each cusp corresponds to the (super)denominator formula a unique BKM (super)algebra, as in [34]. In a string theory context, these BKMs arise as symmetries of different perturbative duality frames of a given compactification, which can be related by discrete duality transformations. We imagine that this furnishes a physical explanation for the following observations:

- 1. The denominator of the Conway BKM superalgebra constructed in [37] arises as the Fourier expansion of automorphic form on $(\mathbb{H} \times \mathbb{H})/O(2, 2, \mathbb{Z})$ at a given cusp. The authors of this paper gave evidence for the existence of a distinct BKM superalgebra, which also has an action of the Conway group, and whose denominator and superdenominator should correspond to the expansion of the same automorphic form at a different cusp of $(\mathbb{H} \times$ \mathbb{H} $/O(2,2,\mathbb{Z})$. The construction in the present article provides a natural description of this new mysterious superalgebra. In Sect. 6, we described the denominator of the Conway superalgebra as a path integral with "twisted" boundary conditions along the Euclidean time circle, i.e., with the fields being periodic or anti-periodic depending on their eigenvalue with respect to the left-moving spacetime fermion number $(-1)^{\mathbf{F}_l}$. The expansions of this automorphic function at different cusps are related to one another by $O(2,2,\mathbb{Z})$ T-duality transformation. A general T-duality does not necessarily preserve these boundary conditions, but can map them to $(-1)^{\mathbf{F}_l}$ -twisted boundary conditions along the spacelike circle or around both circles. In particular, the path integrals obtained from these two boundary conditions are related, respectively, to the denominator and superdenominator of a different BKM superalgebra, the one obtained by taking the CHL model by $(-1)^{\mathbf{F}_l}$ along the spacelike circle.
- 2. Along similar lines, one of the BKM superalgebras discussed in [36] (and originally constructed by Borcherds in [8–10]) arises from the expansion of an automorphic form for a group of the form $\Gamma \setminus SO(2, 10)/SO(2) \times SO(10)$ (where Γ is a discrete group of automorphisms of a particular lattice.) Expanding this automorphic form at a different cusp gives rise to another BKM superalgebra, based of the SVOA V^{fE_8} and originally constructed by Scheithauer in [61]. See example 13.7 in [6] for a description of this relation, and sections 6 and 7 of [36] for further elaboration of this point. We expect this connection arises physically from dualities of certain models we consider in this paper.

These are just two examples where we believe string dualities acting on models of the type we study in this paper lead to non-trivial relations among different BKM algebras, though we expect there are many more.

Finally, we close with a number of additional natural questions which are raised by our analysis:

• While our analysis in this paper has been limited to two-dimensional string compactifications, we hope that BKM algebras act as symmetries

of special string solutions in higher dimensions in a similar way. For example, it would be interesting to study decompactification limits of our models to higher dimensions (perhaps along similar lines as [44]), and understand what, if any, symmetries of the BKM algebras are preserved in these limits. One could also try to construct such algebras directly from worldsheet theories of certain higher-dimensional string compactifications.

- It would be very interesting to understand the D-brane states in the family of type II string compactifications considered here, which we imagine may furnish representations of the BKM algebras we have constructed.
- The denominator of the fake monster superalgebra, arising as the modified index for type IIA strings on $V^{fE_8} \otimes \overline{V}_-^{f\natural}$, also appears as the genus one topological amplitude F_1 in type II string theory on the Enriques Calabi–Yau threefold X (the "FHSV-model") [47]. From this point of view the modified index can be interpreted as a generating function for Gromov–Witten invariants on X. It would be interesting to understand more generally whether such geometric interpretations exist for other denominator formulas obtained in this paper. In view of heterotic-type II duality, the perturbative BPS states contributing to our indices should correspond to non-perturbative states in another duality frame. Mathematically, this would correspond to counting Donaldson–Thomas invariants on $K3, T^4$, or the Enriques Calabi–Yau threefold X.
- Many of the (S)VOAs which appear as part of the worldsheet theory in our models have connections to large sporadic symmetry groups, arising as automorphisms that preserve some suitable subVOA (see, e.g., [2,16, 27].) It would be interesting to understand if these structures are present in the BKM algebras which appear in the spacetime of our models.
- In [45], it was observed that the denominator formula for one of the BKM superalgebras in [36] can be obtained starting from the $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ -invariant *J*-function. Can this connection be explained in terms of heterotic-type II string duality?
- It would be interesting to determine if any of our models arise as special points in the moduli space of any of the 2d string models considered in [67], where certain dual pairs of 2d superstring compactifications were identified.
- As discussed in more detail in Sect. 4, it would be satisfying to study a twisted version of our models, so that our space of BPS states becomes a space of physical states in a topological string theory, perhaps with a natural action of the BKM algebras.

Acknowledgements

It is a pleasure to thank Scott Carnahan and Nils Scheithauer for very helpful email correspondences. The work of S.M.H. is supported by the National Science and Engineering Council of Canada, an FRQNT new university researchers start-up grant, and the Canada Research Chairs program. NMP is supported by the grant NSF PHY-1911298, and the Sivian Fund. D.P. was supported by the Swedish Research Council (Vetenskapsrådet), grant nr. 2018-04760. R.V. is supported by the DFA Padova, PRD-2021 grant.

Funding Open access funding provided by Università degli Studi di Padova within the CRUI-CARE Agreement.

Open Access. This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

A Anomalies and Tadpoles

In this section, we discuss the tadpole for the B-field which may arise when compactifying string theory to two dimensions. This was first computed in [49, 50, 69]; see also [67] and [68]. We will adapt their methods to the theories of interest to us in this paper.

As a consistency check, we also verify that gravitational anomalies cancel in all the models we are interested in. In the second quantized theory considered in Sect. 5, where one further spatial direction is compactified on a circle S^1 , the B-field tadpole can be interpreted as a vacuum winding number w_0 along S^1 . In this case, we argue that the vacuum might also carry non-trivial momentum m_0 along S^1 , and we compute m_0 for the models we are interested in.

A.1 Type II Models

Let us compute the B-field tadpole w_0 in the type IIA models we are interested in. As argued in [69], the relevant contribution to the tadpole is a 1-loop string amplitude with the insertion of one B-field vertex operator at zero-momentum, as well as the suitable ghost and superghost insertions to make the amplitude nonvanishing. The only nonzero contribution to this 1-point function comes from path integral with either (even,odd) or (odd,even) spin structure.¹⁹

¹⁹A reminder about spin structures: The odd spin structure means fully periodic boundary conditions for fermions on the torus. In the Hamiltonian formalism, this is the Ramond sector with the insertion of worldsheet fermion number in the trace, which we denote by \tilde{R} ;

According to [69], the (even,odd) and the (odd,even) spin structures give the same contribution, so they just compute the (even,odd) case and put a factor 2 in front of the final result. This step assumes that the internal CFTs are left-right symmetric, which is not necessarily true in our case; therefore, with respect the formulas in [69], we drop the factor 2 and consider the explicit sum of the (even,odd) and the (odd,even) spin structures. The computation of the (even,odd) case is completely analogous to [69]; after the usual cancellations between ghost, superghosts and light-cone oscillators, plus some further nontrivial steps, the final result is that one has to take the coefficient of the q^0 -term of the combination

$$-\frac{1}{48}(Z_{NS,\tilde{R}}(\tau) - Z_{\widetilde{NS},\tilde{R}}(\tau) - Z_{R,\tilde{R}}(\tau))_{\mathsf{q}^0}.$$
(A.1)

where $Z_{X,Y}$ denotes the partition functions of the internal CFT in the X, Ysector. The relative signs arise because the central charge of the internal CFT is not a multiple of 24, so that $Z_{NS,\tilde{R}}(\tau+1) = -Z_{\widetilde{NS},\tilde{R}}(\tau)$. Note that $Z_{NS,\tilde{R}}(\tau)$ and $-Z_{\widetilde{NS},\tilde{R}}(\tau)$ only differ for the sign of the half-integral powers of \mathbf{q} , while the integral powers of \mathbf{q} (in particular, the \mathbf{q}^0 term) are the same. Thus, we can set $n_{NS,\tilde{R}} = (Z_{NS,\tilde{R}}(\tau))_{\mathbf{q}^0} = (-Z_{\widetilde{NS},\tilde{R}}(\tau))_{\mathbf{q}^0}$ and $n_{R,\tilde{R}} = (Z_{R,\tilde{R}})_{\mathbf{q}^0}$, and get the formula

$$-\frac{1}{48}(2n_{NS,\tilde{R}} - n_{R,\tilde{R}}), \tag{A.2}$$

which is, up to a factor 2, Eq. (2.6) in [67]. The sum $Z_{NS,\tilde{R}}(\tau) - Z_{\widetilde{NS},\tilde{R}}(\tau)$ effectively gives twice the GSO-projected partition function in the NS sector, so $n_{NS,\tilde{R}}$ is also the q^0 term in the GSO-projected partition function.²⁰

The (odd,even) contribution is completely analogous (it is given by the \bar{q}^0 term in the analogous combination of partition functions), so that the total contribution to the tadpole is

$$w_0 = -\frac{1}{48}(2n_{NS,\tilde{R}} - n_{R,\tilde{R}} + 2n_{\tilde{R},NS} - n_{\tilde{R},R}).$$
(A.3)

For left-right symmetric internal CFTs, one has $n_{NS,\tilde{R}} = n_{\tilde{R},NS}$ and $n_{R,\tilde{R}} = n_{\tilde{R},R}$, so that one reobtains formula (2.6) in [67]. When the internal CFT is holomorphically factorized and of the form $V_1 \otimes \bar{V}_2$, then one has $n_{X,Y} = n_X \bar{n}_Y$, where n_X refers to the left-moving SVOA V_1 and n_Y to the right-moving SVOA \bar{V}_2 , so that the tadpole is

$$w_0 = -\frac{1}{48} [(2n_{NS} - n_R)\bar{n}_{\tilde{R}} + n_{\tilde{R}}(2\bar{n}_{NS} + \bar{n}_R)].$$
(A.4)

it is $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ -invariant. The even spin structures have some anti-periodic boundary condition for fermions. In the Hamiltonian formalism, these are NS sector with or without fermion number insertion, or the Ramond sector without fermion number. We denote these sectors by \widehat{NS} , NS and R, respectively; the three sectors are permuted by $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ transformations. ²⁰This explains Sen's comments in [67] that the $n_{NS,\tilde{R}}$ count states that are GSO-projected on the left- but not on the right-moving side, while $n_{R,\tilde{R}}$ counts states that are not GSOprojected either on the left or on the right.
In the following table, we report $n_{NS} = -n_{\widetilde{NS}} = \chi^{\text{NS}}$, $n_R = \chi^{\text{R}}_+ + \chi^{\text{R}}_-$, $n_{\widetilde{R}} = \chi^{\text{R}}_+ - \chi^{\text{R}}_-$ and $2n_{NS} - n_R = 2\chi^{\text{NS}} - \chi^{\text{R}}_+ - \chi^{\text{R}}_-$ for the SVOAs we are interested in. The quantities $\chi^{\text{NS}}, \chi^{\text{R}}_{\pm}$ are the same as presented in Sect. 2.1.

SVOA V	$\chi^{\rm NS}(V)$	$\chi^{\mathrm{R}}_{+}(V)$	$\chi_{-}^{\mathrm{R}}(V)$	n_R	$n_{\tilde{R}}$	$2n_{NS} - n_R$
$V_{E_8}^f$	8	8	8	16	0	0
$V_{-}^{f\natural}$	0	0	24	24	-24	-24
$V^{f and a}_+$	0	24	0	24	+24	-24
F_{24}	24	0	0	0	0	48.

Note that for V^{fE_8} one has $n_{\tilde{R}} = 2n_{NS} - n_R = 0$, so that when either V_1 or V_2 is V^{fE_8} there is no tadpole. More generally, the tadpole is always an integer, so it can be canceled by a suitable number of spacetime-filling strings.

In terms of χ^{NS} , χ^{R}_{+} , χ^{R}_{-} and their right-moving counterparts $\bar{\chi}^{NS}$, $\bar{\chi}^{R}_{+}$, $\bar{\chi}^{R}_{-}$ the tadpole is

$$w_{0} = \frac{1}{48} \left[(2\chi^{\rm NS} - \chi^{\rm R}_{+} - \chi^{\rm R}_{-})(\overline{\chi}^{\rm R}_{-} - \overline{\chi}^{\rm R}_{+}) + (\chi^{\rm R}_{-} - \chi^{\rm R}_{+})(2\overline{\chi}^{\rm NS} - \overline{\chi}^{\rm R}_{+} - \overline{\chi}^{\rm R}_{-}) \right].$$
(A.5)

The values of w_0 for the theories we are interested in are given in Table 3 in the main text.

Let us now check that the gravitational anomaly always cancels. The chiral massless content of these theories, as a function of χ^{NS} , χ^{R}_+ , χ^{R}_- , $\bar{\chi}^{\text{NS}}$, $\bar{\chi}^{\text{R}}_+$, $\bar{\chi}^{\text{R}}_-$, is (the NS-NS sector does not contain chiral bosons):

Spin	NS-R	R-NS	R-R	Total
+3/2	$\overline{\chi}_{-}^{\mathrm{R}}$	$\chi^{\rm R}_+$	0	$\chi^{\mathrm{R}}_{+} + \overline{\chi}^{\mathrm{R}}_{-}$
-3/2	$\overline{\chi}_{+}^{\mathrm{R}}$	χ_{-}^{R}	0	$\chi_{-}^{\mathrm{R}} + \overline{\chi}_{+}^{\mathrm{R}}$
+1/2 (dilatinos)	$\overline{\chi}_{+}^{\mathrm{R}}$	χ_{-}^{R}	0	$\chi^{\mathrm{R}}_{-} + \overline{\chi}^{\mathrm{R}}_{+}$
-1/2 (dilatinos)	$\overline{\chi}_{-}^{\mathrm{R}}$	$\chi^{\rm R}_+$	0	$\chi^{\mathrm{R}}_{+} + \overline{\chi}^{\mathrm{R}}_{-}$
+1/2 (gauginos)	$\chi^{\rm NS} \overline{\chi}_{-}^{\rm R}$	$\chi^{\rm R}_+ \overline{\chi}^{\rm NS}$	0	$\chi^{\rm NS}\overline{\chi}_{-}^{\rm R} + \chi_{+}^{\rm R}\overline{\chi}^{\rm NS}$
-1/2 (gauginos)	$\chi^{\rm NS} \overline{\chi}^{\rm R}_+$	$\chi^{\rm R}\overline{\chi}^{\rm NS}$	0	$\chi^{\rm NS} \overline{\chi}^{\rm R}_+ + \chi^{\rm R} \overline{\chi}^{\rm NS}$
chiral $+1$	0	0	$\chi^{\mathrm{R}}_{+}\overline{\chi}^{\mathrm{R}}_{-}$	$\chi^{ m R}_+ \overline{\chi}^{ m R}$
anti-chiral -1	0	0	$\chi^{\mathrm{R}}_{-}\overline{\chi}^{\mathrm{R}}_{+}$	$\chi^{ m R}_{-}\overline{\chi}^{ m R}_{+}$

The contribution to the gravitational anomaly polynomial of each of these massless chiral fields is $[1]^{21}$

- Gravitinos (spin $\pm \frac{3}{2}$): $\pm \frac{23}{48}p_1$;
- Chiral fermions (spin $\pm \frac{1}{2}$): $\mp \frac{1}{48}p_1$;
- Chiral bosons (spin ± 1): $\mp \frac{1}{24}p_1$.

²¹Here, we consider Majorana–Weyl spin 1/2 and 3/2 fields and real chiral and anti-chiral bosons. The contributions of the spin 1/2 and 3/2 fields are half of the ones calculated in [1], because in that case complex Weyl fermions were considered.

Here,

$$p_1 = \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \operatorname{Tr}(R \wedge R) \tag{A.6}$$

is the first Pontryagin class and R denotes Riemann tensor. Therefore, the total gravitational anomaly is (note that each gravitino of spin $\pm \frac{3}{2}$ comes with a dilatino of spin $\pm \frac{1}{2}$, so it is easier to consider these fields together, contributing $\pm \frac{24}{48}p_1$ each)

$$\left(\chi_{+}^{\mathrm{R}} + \overline{\chi}_{-}^{\mathrm{R}} - \chi_{-}^{\mathrm{R}} - \overline{\chi}_{+}^{\mathrm{R}}\right) \frac{24}{48} p_{1} + \left(\chi^{\mathrm{NS}} \overline{\chi}_{+}^{\mathrm{R}} + \chi_{-}^{\mathrm{R}} \overline{\chi}^{\mathrm{NS}} - \chi^{\mathrm{NS}} \overline{\chi}_{-}^{\mathrm{R}} - \chi_{+}^{\mathrm{R}} \overline{\chi}^{\mathrm{NS}}\right) \frac{p_{1}}{48} + \left(\chi_{-}^{\mathrm{R}} \overline{\chi}_{+}^{\mathrm{R}} - \chi_{+}^{\mathrm{R}} \overline{\chi}_{-}^{\mathrm{R}}\right) \frac{p_{1}}{24} = \frac{p_{1}}{48} \left[\left(\chi^{\mathrm{NS}} + \chi_{-}^{\mathrm{R}} + \chi_{+}^{\mathrm{R}} - 24\right) \left(\overline{\chi}_{+}^{\mathrm{R}} - \overline{\chi}_{-}^{\mathrm{R}}\right) + \left(\chi_{-}^{\mathrm{R}} - \chi_{+}^{\mathrm{R}}\right) \left(\overline{\chi}^{\mathrm{NS}} + \overline{\chi}_{+}^{\mathrm{R}} + \overline{\chi}_{-}^{\mathrm{R}} - 24\right) \right] = 0$$
 (A.7)

where the last equality follows because all internal SVOAs satisfy $\chi^{NS} + \chi_{-}^{R} + \chi_{+}^{R} = 24$. Therefore, there is no gravitational anomaly.

Finally, when the theory is further compactified on a circle of radius R, there might be a nonzero vacuum momentum $\frac{2\pi m_0}{R}$ [23,32].²² This momentum is related to the B-field tadpole w_0 of the T-dual theory. A similar phenomenon arises in two-dimensional conformal field theory on a cylinder, where $L_0 - \bar{L}_0$ along the circle might have a nonzero vacuum level. More precisely, $L_0 - \bar{L}_0$ is the generator of translations when the radius is rescaled so that $R = 2\pi$, so that m_0 is precisely the vacuum value of $L_0 - \bar{L}_0$. This analysis shows that a massless chiral boson of spin ± 1 contributes $\mp \frac{1}{24}$ to m_0 , while a chiral fermion of spin $\pm \frac{1}{2}$ with periodic boundary conditions contributes $\pm \frac{1}{24}$ (with antiperiodic boundary conditions, the contributions is $\mp \frac{1}{48}$). For this calculation, we take into account only propagating degrees of freedom, so from the previous description of massless chiral fields we exclude all gravitinos of spin $\pm \frac{3}{2}$ and the same number of dilatinos of spin $\mp \frac{1}{2}$. Therefore, for periodic fermions, one has

$$m_0 = \frac{1}{24} \left[\left(\chi^{\rm NS} \overline{\chi}^{\rm R}_- + \chi^{\rm R}_+ \overline{\chi}^{\rm NS} + \chi^{\rm R}_- \overline{\chi}^{\rm R}_+ \right) - \left(\chi^{\rm NS} \overline{\chi}^{\rm R}_+ + \chi^{\rm R}_- \overline{\chi}^{\rm NS} + \chi^{\rm R}_+ \overline{\chi}^{\rm R}_- \right) \right].$$
(A.8)

This expression can be obtained from the B-field tadpole (A.5) by exchanging χ^R_- and χ^R_+ , as expected from T-duality

$$m_{0} = \frac{1}{48} \left[\left(2\chi^{\rm NS} - \chi^{\rm R}_{+} - \chi^{\rm R}_{-} \right) (\overline{\chi}^{\rm R}_{-} - \overline{\chi}^{\rm R}_{+}) + \left(\chi^{\rm R}_{+} - \chi^{\rm R}_{-}\right) \left(2\overline{\chi}^{\rm NS} - \overline{\chi}^{\rm R}_{+} - \overline{\chi}^{\rm R}_{-} \right) \right].$$
(A.9)

²²The vacuum momentum can arise in type IIB theories, while it is usually forbidden in type IIA theories, because it violates spacetime parity. In our models, while we impose a type IIA GSO projection, the final theory in general is not invariant under spacetime parity, due to the fact that the internal CFT is not necessarily left-right symmetric; therefore, there is no reason to expect m_0 to be 0.

The values of m_0 for the theories that are relevant to our construction are listed in Table 3.

A.2 Heterotic models

In the heterotic string case, the B-field tadpole is given by [49, 50]

$$w_0 = \frac{1}{24} (Z_{\tilde{R}}(\tau) E_2(\tau))_{\mathsf{q}^0}, \qquad (A.10)$$

where $Z_{\tilde{R}}(\tau)$ is the partition function of the internal CFT in the \tilde{R} sector, and $E_2(\tau) = 1 - 24q + O(q^2)$ is the Eisenstein series of weight 2.

For a holomorphically factorized theory $V_1 \otimes \bar{V}_2$, one has $Z_{\tilde{R}}(\tau) = \bar{n}_{\tilde{R}} Z_{V_1}(\tau)$, where $\bar{n}_{\tilde{R}} = \bar{\chi}_+^{\mathrm{R}} - \bar{\chi}_-^{\mathrm{R}}$, $Z_{V_1}(\tau) = N + J(\tau)$ is the partition function of the internal bosonic VOA V_1 , N is the number currents in V_1 , and

$$J(\tau) = \mathbf{q}^{-1} + 0 + 196884\mathbf{q} + \cdots, \qquad (A.11)$$

is the modular invariant *J*-function with vanishing constant term. Thus, in this case, the B-field tadpole is equal to (see [55] for the case of $V_1 = V^{\natural}$)

$$w_{0} = \frac{1}{24} (\bar{\chi}_{+}^{R} - \bar{\chi}_{-}^{R}) (Z_{V_{1}}(\tau) E_{2}(\tau))_{q^{0}}$$

$$= \frac{1}{24} (\bar{\chi}_{+}^{R} - \bar{\chi}_{-}^{R}) [(q^{-1} + N + \cdots)(1 - 24q + \cdots)]_{q^{0}}$$

$$= \frac{1}{24} (\bar{\chi}_{+}^{R} - \bar{\chi}_{-}^{R}) (N - 24).$$
(A.12)

We summarize the result for the heterotic theories of interest to us in Table 3 in the main text. Again, the tadpole is always an integer, so that it can be canceled by a number of spacetime-filling string with suitable orientation.

Let us verify that the gravitational anomaly cancels in this case as well. Let $\overline{\chi}^{\rm R}_+$ and $\overline{\chi}^{\rm R}_-$ be the number of weight 1/2 states in the R₊ and R₋ sector of the SVOA \overline{V}_2 , so that $\overline{n}_{\tilde{R}} = \overline{\chi}^{\rm R}_+ - \overline{\chi}^{\rm R}_-$. Then, the chiral massless fermions are:

- $\overline{\chi}^{\rm R}_+$ gravitinos with spin +3/2 and $\overline{\chi}^{\rm R}_-$ with spin -3/2;
- $\overline{\chi}^{\text{R}}_+$ dilatinos and $N\overline{\chi}^{\text{R}}_-$ gauginos of spin -1/2, and $\chi^{\text{R}}_- + N\overline{\chi}^{\text{R}}_+$ of spin +1/2.

Furthermore, in heterotic string, every unit of B-field tadpole contributes $p_1/2$ to the gravitational anomaly. The total anomaly, therefore, is

$$(\overline{\chi}_{+}^{\mathrm{R}} - \overline{\chi}_{-}^{\mathrm{R}})\frac{24}{48}p_{1} + N(\overline{\chi}_{-}^{\mathrm{R}} - \overline{\chi}_{+}^{\mathrm{R}})\frac{p_{1}}{48} + \frac{(N - 24)(\overline{\chi}_{+}^{\mathrm{R}} - \overline{\chi}_{-}^{\mathrm{R}})}{24}\frac{p_{1}}{2} = 0.$$
(A.13)

When one inserts the spacetime-filling strings to cancel the B-field tadpole, the additional degrees of freedom must be such that the gravitational anomaly still vanishes. Each spacetime-filling string contributes $\frac{c_R-c_L}{24}p_1$ to the gravitational anomaly.²³ One has to take the static gauge for the string, so that c_L and c_R

 $^{^{23}}$ The normalization and sign can be deduced by comparison with the case of a single chiral Majorana–Weyl fermion or a chiral real scalar.

are the left- and right-moving central charges of the internal CFT. Depending on the orientation of the string, we might have either $(c_L, c_R) = (24, 12)$ if the supersymmetric sector is right-moving, or $(c_L, c_R) = (12, 24)$ in the other case. Matching the anomaly contribution of the B-field and of the spacetimefilling strings, one gets that the number of spacetime-filling strings must be $|w_0| = \frac{|(N-24)(\overline{\chi}^R_+ - \overline{\chi}^R_-)|}{24}$, with the supersymmetric sector being left-moving for $w_0 > 0$ and right-moving if $w_0 < 0$.

As in the type II case, when the theory is compactified on a circle of radius R, there might be a vacuum momentum $\frac{2\pi m_0}{R}$. In this case, only the chiral gauginos contribute, and for periodic boundary conditions we obtain

$$m_0 = \frac{N(\bar{\chi}_+^{\rm R} - \bar{\chi}_-^{\rm R})}{24}.$$
 (A.14)

See Table 3 for the relevant values of the tadpole w_0 and momentum m_0 in the heterotic models we are interested in.

B Semirelative Cohomology

When combining left- and right-moving sectors of a closed string theory, the condition that the corresponding states are annihilated by b_0 and \bar{b}_0 is in general too strong. One need only require that the state is annihilated by the combination $b_0 - \bar{b}_0$. We can follow the treatment of [72] to discuss the relevant distinctions. We denote the total left- and right-moving BRST operator by $Q = Q_l + Q_r$. The three varieties of cohomology, all graded by ghost number N,²⁴ relevant to this discussion are

- 1. Absolute cohomology $\mathsf{H} = \bigoplus_N \mathsf{H}^N$ of *Q*-closed states $|\Psi\rangle$ modulo states of the form $Q|\Lambda\rangle$.
- 2. Relative cohomology $\mathsf{H}_R = \bigoplus_N \mathsf{H}_R^N$ of *Q*-closed states $|\Psi\rangle$ that satisfy $b_0 |\Psi\rangle = \bar{b}_0 |\Psi\rangle = 0$, modulo states of the form $Q|\Lambda\rangle$ which satisfy $b_0|\Lambda\rangle = \bar{b}_0|\Lambda\rangle = 0$.
- 3. Semirelative cohomology $\mathsf{H}_S = \bigoplus_N \mathsf{H}_S^N$ of Q-closed states $|\Psi\rangle$ that satisfy $(b_0 \bar{b}_0)|\Psi\rangle = 0$, modulo states of the form $Q|\Lambda\rangle$ which satisfy $(b_0 \bar{b}_0)|\Lambda\rangle = 0$.

At each total ghost number N, the relative and absolute cohomologies factorize between left- and right-movers: $\mathsf{H}^N = \bigoplus_{n+\bar{n}=N} H_l^n \otimes \bar{H}_r^{\bar{n}}$, but the semirelative cohomology does not. The cohomologies fit into the exact sequences

$$\cdots \mathsf{H}_{R}^{N} \xrightarrow{i'} \mathsf{H}_{S}^{N} \xrightarrow{b_{0}^{+}} \mathsf{H}_{R}^{N-1} \xrightarrow{\{Q,c_{0}^{+}\}} \mathsf{H}_{R}^{N+1} \xrightarrow{i'} \mathsf{H}_{S}^{N+1} \cdots$$
(B.1)

²⁴We suppress the additional grading by picture number and momenta.

$$\cdots \mathsf{H}_{S}^{N} \xrightarrow{i''} \mathsf{H}^{N} \xrightarrow{b_{0}^{-}} \mathsf{H}_{S}^{N-1} \xrightarrow{\{Q,c_{0}^{-}\}} \mathsf{H}_{S}^{N+1} \xrightarrow{i''} \mathsf{H}^{N+1} \cdots$$
(B.2)

where $b_0^{\pm} = b_0 \pm \bar{b}_0$, and similarly $c_0^{\pm} = \frac{1}{2}(c_0 \pm \bar{c}_0)$. The maps i', i'' are the maps that forget the relevant conditions involving the *b*-ghosts, and the other maps are given by multiplication by the indicated operators.

For the $k \neq 0$ states, [52] proved that for a chiral critical superstring at picture number -1 in the NS sector (to which we may always specialize canonically at nonzero momentum), the cohomology vanishes for all ghost numbers not equal to 1, so for a full (chiral and anti-chiral) superstring the only nonvanishing relative cohomology group is at ghost number 2. Then, the exact sequence collapses to isomorphisms between the following relative and semirelative cohomologies:

$$0 \to \mathsf{H}_R^2 \to \mathsf{H}_S^2 \to 0$$
$$0 \to \mathsf{H}_S^3 \to \mathsf{H}_R^2 \to 0.$$

The first map is the forgetful inclusion and the second map produces a state in H_S^3 from one in H_R^2 by acting with c_0^+ , which effectively inverts b_0^+ at nonzero momentum. Similar arguments apply for the theory in the Ramond sector at the canonical picture numbers -1/2, -3/2. Hence, for the states of nonzero momentum, we therefore lose nothing by considering the relative cohomology, which is reassuring since the cohomology at nonzero momentum correctly reproduces the physical states one expect from a light-cone gauge calculation.

B.1 Zero-momentum States

To complete our understanding of the physical string states, we would like to understand what kind of zero-momentum states we can obtain (at any ghost number), and whether this has any interesting impact on the semirelative cohomology. For this analysis and all subsequent analyses, we will only consider the canonical pictures where all positive modes of worldsheet fields annihilate the vacuum:-1 in NS and -1/2, -3/2 in R, though a priori one could consider more general pictures.

We can start more simply in a chiral superstring model and identify the k = 0 states there. We focus on the SVOA $V_{+}^{f\natural}$; the generalizations to the other self-dual c = 12 SVOAs is trivial. These states would contribute to the relative cohomology factors. $V_{+}^{f\natural}$ has 24 weight 1/2 states in the R₊ sector which we denote by u^{i+} , $i = 1, \ldots, 24$, and 0 such states in the NS, R₋ sectors. Consequently, there are 2 states of ghost number 1

$$\psi^{\mu}_{-1/2} e^{-\phi} c_1 |0\rangle, \quad \mu = \pm,$$
 (B.3)

1 state of ghost number 2,

$$\gamma_{-1/2}e^{-\phi}c_1|0\rangle,\tag{B.4}$$

and 1 state of ghost number 0,

$$\beta_{-1/2}e^{-\phi}c_1|0\rangle,\tag{B.5}$$

which can each be combined with their anti-holomorphic counterparts to get states in relative cohomology.

There are also zero-momentum states in the Ramond sector (chirally, from the R_+ sector), in this case at all ghost numbers. Again, we start with the states that appear in relative cohomology by writing down the chiral states of interest (which may then be combined with anti-chiral states). At picture number -1/2, there are 24 states of ghost number 1:

$$u_{-1/2}^{i+}e^{-\phi/2}c_1|0,+\rangle, \tag{B.6}$$

acting on the ground state of zero momentum and positive spacetime chirality (which in this 2d model is tied to the fermion number). Additionally, we get 24 states at each positive ghost number ≥ 2 :

$$(\gamma_0)^n u_{-1/2}^{i+} e^{-\phi/2} c_1 |0,+\rangle, \quad n \ge 1.$$
 (B.7)

Correspondingly, there are states at picture number -3/2 for all ghost numbers 1 - m with $m \ge 0$:

$$(\beta_0)^m u_{-1/2}^{i+} e^{-3\phi/2} c_1 |0, -\rangle, \quad m \ge 1.$$
 (B.8)

In the relative cohomology then, we get new NS-NS states of total ghost numbers 0, 1, 2, 3, 4 and new R-R states at picture number -1/2 at all ghost numbers 2 and higher, etc. Note that in the literature, the extra R sector conditions ker $\beta_0 = 0 =$ ker $\bar{\beta}_0$ (the analogue of the relative cohomology conditions in the NS sector) and $G_0 = \bar{G}_0 = 0$ are usually imposed although the former conditions, like their NS sector counterpart, may be too strong in general.

B.2 Semirelative Cohomology at Zero Momentum

With the chiral zero-momentum states in hand, let us ask if we can understand the semirelative cohomology using the exact sequences. We start with the NS-NS sector at the canonical picture number, since it turns out that the picturechanging operator no longer has an inverse at zero-momentum and therefore we must treat that sector with more care.

The zeroth semirelative cohomology is isomorphic to the zeroth relative cohomology since the long exact sequence truncates due to the vanishing of negatively moded cohomology groups: $0 \to \mathbb{H}^0_R \to \mathbb{H}^0_S \to 0$. These are just one-dimensional groups generated by the vacuum (which is constructed by acting on the $SL(2, \mathbb{C}) \times SL(2, \mathbb{C})$ -invariant vacuum $|0\rangle^{25}$ with various ghosts): $\beta_{-1/2}\bar{\beta}_{-1/2}e^{-\phi}e^{-\bar{\phi}}c_1\bar{c}_1|0\rangle$.

 $^{^{25}}$ In the non-chiral setting, we use the shorthand $|0\rangle$ for $|0,0\rangle$ when we think no confusion can arise.

Given the nonvanishing relative cohomology representatives we can construct at zero-momentum, the long exact sequence splits into the following exact sequences (plus the zeroth cohomology sequence above):

$$0 \longrightarrow H_{S}^{5} \xrightarrow{b_{0}^{+}} H_{R}^{4} \longrightarrow 0$$

$$0 \longrightarrow H_{R}^{1} \xrightarrow{i} H_{S}^{1} \xrightarrow{b_{0}^{+}} H_{R}^{0} \xrightarrow{\{Q, c_{0}^{+}\}} H_{R}^{2} \xrightarrow{i} H_{S}^{2} \xrightarrow{b_{0}^{+}} H_{R}^{1} \xrightarrow{\{Q, c_{0}^{+}\}} H_{R}^{3} \xrightarrow{i}$$

$$H_{S}^{3} \xrightarrow{b_{0}^{+}} H_{R}^{2} \xrightarrow{\{Q, c_{0}^{+}\}} H_{R}^{4} \xrightarrow{i} H_{S}^{4} \xrightarrow{b_{0}^{+}} H_{R}^{3} \longrightarrow 0.$$

$$(B.9)$$

From this, we can calculate the rest of the semirelative cohomology groups. For convenience, let us define the shorthand $|\Omega, \bar{\Omega}\rangle := e^{-\phi}e^{-\bar{\phi}}c_1\bar{c}_1|0\rangle$ such that $\beta_{-1/2}\bar{\beta}_{-1/2}|\Omega, \bar{\Omega}\rangle$ generates the zeroth (semi)relative cohomology groups at picture number -1, and denote $|\Omega\rangle := e^{-\phi}c_1|0\rangle$ (similarly for $|\bar{\Omega}\rangle$) the chiral counterparts at ghost numbers (1,0) (respectively, (0,1)).

Then, at ghost number 1 there are 4 states: $\psi^{\mu}_{-1/2}\bar{\beta}_{-1/2}|\Omega,\bar{\Omega}\rangle$, $\bar{\psi}^{\mu}_{-1/2}\beta_{-1/2}|\Omega,\bar{\Omega}\rangle$. These are identical in both relative and semirelative co-homology.

At ghost number 2, we have the representatives

$$\begin{split} \left\{ \psi^{\mu}_{-1/2} \bar{\psi}^{\nu}_{-1/2} |\Omega, \bar{\Omega} \rangle, \gamma_{-1/2} \bar{\beta}_{-1/2} |\Omega, \bar{\Omega} \rangle, \bar{\gamma}_{-1/2} \beta_{-1/2} |\Omega, \bar{\Omega} \rangle \right\} \in \mathsf{H}^2_R \\ \left\{ \psi^{\mu}_{-1/2} \bar{\psi}^{\nu}_{-1/2} |\Omega, \bar{\Omega} \rangle, (\gamma_{-1/2} \bar{\beta}_{-1/2} - \bar{\gamma}_{-1/2} \beta_{-1/2}) |\Omega, \bar{\Omega} \rangle \right\} \in \mathsf{H}^2_S \end{split}$$

The second state in H_S^2 is called the ghost dilaton [4] and is non-trivial only in the semirelative, but not the relative, cohomology. As mentioned in the main text, this state is excluded to construct the BKM algebra on BPS states.

It is also simple to write down representatives for the remaining relative cohomology classes at ghost numbers 3 and 4:

$$\begin{split} \left\{ \bar{\gamma}_{-1/2} \psi^{\mu}_{-1/2} |\Omega, \bar{\Omega}\rangle, \gamma_{-1/2} \bar{\psi}^{\mu}_{-1/2} |\Omega, \bar{\Omega}\rangle \right\} \in \mathbf{H}_{R}^{3} \\ \left\{ \gamma_{-1/2} \bar{\gamma}_{-1/2} |\Omega, \bar{\Omega}\rangle \right\} \in \mathbf{H}_{R}^{4}. \end{split}$$

From these, we use the exact sequence to obtain the remaining semirelative cohomology classes at ghost numbers 3, 4, and 5:

$$\begin{split} \left\{ c_{0}^{+} \psi_{-1/2}^{\mu} \bar{\psi}_{-1/2}^{\nu} |\Omega, \bar{\Omega}\rangle, c_{0}^{+} (\gamma_{-1/2} \bar{\beta}_{-1/2} - \bar{\gamma}_{-1/2} \beta_{-1/2}) |\Omega, \bar{\Omega}\rangle \right\} \in \mathbf{H}_{S}^{3} \\ \left\{ c_{0}^{+} \bar{\gamma}_{-1/2} \psi_{-1/2}^{\mu} |\Omega, \bar{\Omega}\rangle, c_{0}^{+} \gamma_{-1/2} \bar{\psi}_{-1/2}^{\mu} |\Omega, \bar{\Omega}\rangle \right\} \in \mathbf{H}_{S}^{4} \\ \left\{ c_{0}^{+} \gamma_{-1/2} \bar{\gamma}_{-1/2} |\Omega, \bar{\Omega}\rangle \right\} \in \mathbf{H}_{S}^{5}. \end{split}$$

We focus on the ghost number 2 cohomology (or ghost number 1 for chiral superstrings) in the main text, but record these additional zero-momentum states for completeness.

To deal properly with the Ramond sector, we can largely follow the analysis of [5]. Now, for states of nonzero momentum, chiral relative cohomologies and closed string semirelative cohomologies at all picture numbers are isomorphic to one another (with a canonical isomorphism given by an invertible picture-changing operator) but this is not strictly true for the closed string semirelative cohomology at zero momentum. This is essentially because b_0^- does not commute with the picture-changing operators; it does turn out that zero-momentum RR states are inequivalent at different picture numbers (though nonzero-momentum physical states are equivalent in all pictures for all sectors). For the NS-R sectors, we have the options of being at picture numbers (-1, -1/2), (-1, -3/2) which do turn out to be equivalent to one another. The computations presented in [5] essentially apply to this case as well.

For example, if we take the R_+ sector on the holomorphic side in the -1/2 picture and the NS sector on the anti-holomorphic side in the -1 picture the cohomology (given by listing representatives) is²⁶

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{H}_{S}^{0} &= \left\{ \bar{\beta}_{-1/2} | -\frac{1}{2}, \bar{\Omega} \rangle^{i} \right\} \\ \mathsf{H}_{S}^{1} &= \left\{ \bar{\psi}_{-1/2}^{\mu} | -\frac{1}{2}, \bar{\Omega} \rangle^{i}, \ \bar{\beta}_{-1/2} \gamma_{0} | -\frac{1}{2}, \bar{\Omega} \rangle^{i} \right\} \\ \mathsf{H}_{S}^{2} &= \left\{ \left(\bar{\gamma}_{-1/2} - \gamma_{0}^{2} \bar{\beta}_{-1/2} \right) | -\frac{1}{2}, \bar{\Omega} \rangle^{i}, \ \bar{\psi}_{-1/2}^{\mu} \gamma_{0} | -\frac{1}{2}, \bar{\Omega} \rangle^{i} \right\} \\ \mathsf{H}_{S}^{3} &= \left\{ \gamma_{0} \left(\bar{\gamma}_{-1/2} - \gamma_{0}^{2} \bar{\beta}_{-1/2} \right) | -\frac{1}{2}, \bar{\Omega} \rangle^{i} \right\}, \end{split}$$

where we have defined the state $|-\frac{1}{2}\rangle^i := u_{-1/2}^{i+}e^{-\phi/2}c_1|0,+\rangle$. Isomorphic (but more complicated-looking) expressions can be obtained for the (-3/2,-1) picture.

In the R-R sector, there are subtle differences among the various picture numbers, which in turn is related to distinctions between finite and infinite cohomologies arising from the possibility of allowing arbitrary number of superghost zero modes. In particular, in the mixed picture numbers, $(\gamma_0 \bar{\beta}_0)^n$, respectively $(\bar{\gamma}_0 \beta_0)^n$, do not annihilate the vacuum for arbitrary nonnegative n. In the diagonal (-1/2, -1/2) and (-3/2, -3/2) pictures, we do not have the possibility of such combinations. In [5], it is proven that the diagonal -3/2picture cohomology is in fact isomorphic to the finite (-3/2, -1/2) cohomology, while the diagonal -1/2 picture cohomology is isomorphic to the infinite (-3/2, -1/2) cohomology. For simplicity, in the main text, we focus on the analogue of the relative cohomology condition in the R sector, namely ker $\beta_0 =$ ker $\bar{\beta}_0 = 0$, as we do not believe these subtleties impact the construction of the BKM algebra.

A more refined analysis can be undertaken using the results of [5]. When $V_2 = V^{f\natural}$, for example, one finds a nonvanishing contribution in the (-3/2, -3/2)

²⁶Our ghost number convention differs slightly from [5].

picture, where there is a non-trivial H_S^2 generated by the state given by c_0^+ acting on the vacuum. This can be excluded from considerations of the BKM algebra action in the manner of the ghost dilaton.

C Zero-momentum R-R Sector

In this section, we describe in detail the massless R-R spectrum of type IIA superstring theory compactified on $V^{f\natural} \otimes \overline{V}^{f\natural}$. These results are needed in the calculation of the spacetime indices \mathcal{Z} and $\tilde{\mathcal{Z}}$ in Sect. 5.

Both the holomorphic and anti-holomorphic SVOAs have 24 Ramond ground states, whose corresponding chiral and anti-chiral physical states we denote by v_{α}^{i} and \bar{v}_{β}^{j} where $i, j = 1, \ldots, 24$ and $\alpha, \beta \in \{+, -\}$ are Dirac spinor indices in two-dimensional spacetime. There are two inequivalent choices for the internal fermion number in each of these SVOAs, leading to two inequivalent GSO projections (up to parity). In particular, for $V_{+}^{f \natural} \otimes \bar{V}_{-}^{f \natural}$, the spinors v_{α}^{i} and \bar{v}_{β}^{j} have all the same spacetime spin $\alpha = \beta = +$. For $V_{-}^{f \natural} \otimes \bar{V}_{-}^{f \natural}$, the 24 holomorphic v_{α}^{i} have spin $\alpha = -$ and the 24 anti-homolorphic \bar{v}_{β}^{j} have spin $\beta = +$.

In the R-R sector, one has $24^2 = 576$ ground states $v_{\alpha}^i \bar{v}_{\beta}^j$ where $i, j = 1, \ldots, 24$. Since these are actually Majorana–Weyl spinors, only one of these Dirac components is nonzero, for example \bar{v}_{+}^j and either v_{+}^i or v_{-}^i . Now, we impose the physical state condition. For $k \neq 0$, BRST closedness implies that, for all $i, j = 1, \ldots, 24$, v_{α}^i and \bar{v}_{β}^j should satisfy the massless Dirac equations

$$\begin{pmatrix} k_l^0 + k_l^1 & 0\\ 0 & -k_l^0 + k_l^1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} v_l^i\\ v_-^i \end{pmatrix} = 0,$$
 (C.1)

$$\begin{pmatrix} k_r^0 + k_r^1 & 0\\ 0 & -k_r^0 + k_r^1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \bar{v}_+^j\\ \bar{v}_-^j \end{pmatrix} = 0.$$
 (C.2)

Since only one of the two components v_{+}^{i} and v_{-}^{i} is nonzero, the first equation either eliminates that component or it is trivially satisfied, depending on whether $k_{l}^{0} = k_{l}^{1}$ or $k_{l}^{0} = -k_{l}^{1}$. An analogous argument holds for the anti-holomorphic \bar{v}_{β}^{i} .

In the uncompactified theory, one has $k_l^{\mu} = k_r^{\mu}$, so that physical states exist only if the v_{α}^i and v_{β}^j have the same nonzero component, say $\alpha = \beta = +$; this corresponds to type IIA on $V_+^{f \natural} \otimes \bar{V}_-^{f \natural}$. In this case, the Dirac equations are satisfied if and only if $k^0 = -k^1$. From the spacetime point of view, this means that there are chiral massless propagating degrees of freedom of spin 1. We recall that, since the states corresponding to R-R fields obey physical state conditions that are of first order in momenta, they are naturally interpreted as quanta of field strengths rather than potentials. In the case of type IIA on $V_+^{f \natural} \otimes \bar{V}_-^{f \natural}$, this means that the fields corresponding to $v_+^i \bar{v}_+^j$ are the derivative $\partial_+ \phi^{ij}$ of 576 massless chiral scalar fields ϕ^{ij} , $i, j = 1, \ldots, 24$.

On the other hand, for type IIA on $V_{-}^{f \natural} \otimes \overline{V}_{-}^{f \natural}$, where v_{α}^{i} and v_{β}^{j} have nonzero components of opposite spin ($\alpha = -, \beta = +$), there cannot be any physical propagating degrees of freedom from the massless R-R fields. In this case, the corresponding spacetime fields would be the field strengths of massless vector fields C^{ij}_{μ} , which must be the gauge bosons of an abelian gauge symmetry. The fact that there are no physical states is consistent with the fact that massless gauge bosons in two dimensions carry no propagating degrees of freedom.

At zero momentum, all 576 states $v^i_{\alpha} \bar{v}^j_{\beta}$ are physical. For $V^{f \natural}_+ \otimes \bar{V}^{f \natural}_-$, these are just the zero modes of the scalars ϕ^{ij} . For $V^{f \natural}_- \otimes \bar{V}^{f \natural}_-$, these zero modes are the fluxes of the field strengths in the two-dimensional spacetime.

If the spatial direction is compactified on a circle S^1 , for $V^{f^{\natural}}_+ \otimes \bar{V}^{f^{\natural}}_-$ the physical states carry zero winding $(k^1_l = k^1_r)$ but possibly nonzero momentum along S^1 ; for the $V^{f^{\natural}}_- \otimes \bar{V}^{f^{\natural}}_-$, the physical states carry zero momentum $(k^1_l = -k^1_r)$ but possibly nonzero winding along the circle.

D Theta Lifts of vector-valued Modular Forms

The theta lift of a vector-valued modular form $F(\tau)$ is of the form [6]

$$\Theta_F := \int_{SL(2,\mathbb{Z})\backslash \mathbb{H}} \left(\overline{\Theta}_{\Lambda}(\tau), F(\tau)\right) \mathrm{d}\mu, \tag{D.1}$$

where $\tau = \tau_1 + i\tau_2 \in \mathbb{H}$, Λ is an even lattice of signature (2, d), F is a weight k = 1 - d/2 vector-valued modular form and $\overline{\Theta}$ is a weight -k Siegel–Narain theta series for Λ . In particular, if Λ^{\vee} denotes the dual lattice of Λ , then we can write F as follows:

$$F(\tau) = \sum_{\gamma \in \Lambda^{\vee} / \Lambda} F_{\gamma}(\tau) e_{\gamma}, \qquad (D.2)$$

where the components F_{γ} are modular forms for a congruence subgroup $\Gamma \subseteq SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$, and F transforms in the metaplectic representation ρ_{Λ} of $\widetilde{SL(2,\mathbb{Z})}$ on the group ring $\mathbb{C}[\Lambda^{\vee}/\Lambda]$. In practice, this means that the components F_{γ} are in one-to-one correspondence with the cosets Λ^{\vee}/Λ and under the action of the modular group we have

$$F_{\gamma}(\tau+1) = e^{\pi i \gamma^2} F_{\gamma}(\tau)$$

$$F_{\gamma}(-1/\tau) = \frac{i^{(2-d)/2}}{\sqrt{|\Lambda/\Lambda^{\vee}|}} \sum_{\delta \in \Lambda/\Lambda^{\vee}} e^{-2\pi i (\gamma,\delta)} F_{\delta}(\tau).$$
 (D.3)

The Siegel theta series is similarly written as

$$\Theta_{\Lambda} = \sum_{\gamma \in \Lambda^{\vee} / \Lambda} \theta_{\Lambda + \gamma} e_{\gamma}, \tag{D.4}$$

where $\theta_{\Lambda+\gamma}$ is a shifted theta series. In addition, the integrand involves the scalar product (,) defined by

$$(e_{\gamma}, e_{\gamma'}) = \delta_{\gamma+\gamma',0}, \qquad \gamma \in \Lambda^{\vee}/\Lambda.$$
 (D.5)

Furthermore, we define complex conjugation to act by $\overline{e_{\gamma}} = e_{-\gamma}$ on the elements of $\mathbb{C}[\Lambda^{\vee}/\Lambda]$. With these definitions, the integrand $(\overline{\Theta}_{\Lambda}(\tau), F(\tau))$ is $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ -invariant, and it makes sense to integrate it on the upper half-plane \mathbb{H} modulo $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ -transformations. The theta lift produces an automorphic form on the Grassmannian G(2,d) of positive definite 2-planes in $\mathbb{R}^{2,d}$, for a discrete group $O(\Lambda, F)$ (a subgroup of the group $O(\Lambda)$ of automorphisms of the lattice Λ).

References

- Alvarez-Gaume, L., Witten, E.: Gravitational anomalies. Nucl. Phys. B 234, 269 (1984). https://doi.org/10.1016/0550-3213(84)90066-X
- [2] Bae, J.B., Harvey, J.A., Lee, K., Lee, S., Rayhaun, B.C.: Conformal field theories with sporadic group symmetry. arXiv:2002.02970 [hep-th]
- Belavin, A.A., Knizhnik, V.G.: Algebraic geometry and the geometry of quantum strings. Phys. Lett. B 168, 201–206 (1986). https://doi.org/10.1016/0370-2693(86)90963-9
- Belopolsky, A., Zwiebach, B.: Who changes the string coupling? Nucl. Phys. B 472, 109–138 (1996). https://doi.org/10.1016/0550-3213(96)00203-9. arXiv:hep-th/9511077
- Berkovits, N., Zwiebach, B.: On the picture dependence of Ramond-Ramond cohomology. Nucl. Phys. B 523, 311–343 (1998). https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0550-3213(98)00132-1. arXiv:hep-th/9711087
- Borcherds, R.E.: Automorphic forms with singularities on Grassmannians. Invent. Math. 132, 491 (1998). https://doi.org/10.1007/s002220050232. arXiv:alg-geom/9609022
- [7] Borcherds, R.E.: Generalized Kac–Moody algebras. J. Algebra 115, 2 (1988)
- [8] Borcherds, R.E.: The moduli space of Enriques surfaces and the fake Monster Lie superalgebra. Topology 35(3), 699–710 (1996)
- [9] Borcherds, R.E.: The monster Lie algebra. Adv. Math. 83, 1 (1990)
- [10] Borcherds, R.E.: Monstrous moonshine and monstrous Lie superalgebras. Invent. Math. 109, 1 (1992)
- [11] Carnahan, S.: Generalized moonshine, I: genus zero functions. Algebra Number Theory 4(6), 649–679 (2008)
- [12] Carnahan, S.: Generalized moonshine, II: Borcherds products. Duke Math. J. 161, 5 (2012)
- [13] Carnahan, S.: Generalized moonshine IV: monstrous Lie algebras. arXiv:1208.6254
- [14] Chaudhuri, S., Hockney, G., Lykken, J.D.: Maximally supersymmetric string theories in D < 10. Phys. Rev. Lett. 7(5), 2264–2267 (1995). https://doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRevLett.75.2264. arXiv:hep-th/9505054
- [15] Cheng, M.C.N., Dabholkar, A.: Borcherds-Kac-Moody symmetry of N=4 Dyons. Commun. Number Theor. Phys. 3, 59–110 (2009). https://doi.org/10. 4310/CNTP.2009.v3.n1.a2. arXiv:0809.4258 [hep-th]

- [16] Cheng, M.C.N., Dong, X., Duncan, J.F.R., Harrison, S., Kachru, S., Wrase, T.: Mock modular Mathieu moonshine modules. Res. Math. Sci. 2, 13 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40687-015-0034-9. arXiv:1406.5502 [hep-th]
- [17] Cheng, M.C.N., Duncan, J.F.R., Harvey, J.A.: Umbral moonshine and the Niemeier lattices. Res. Math. Sci. 1(3) (2014). arXiv:1307.5793 [math.RT]
- [18] Cheng, M.C.N., Verlinde, E.P.: Wall crossing, discrete attractor flow, and Borcherds algebra. SIGMA 4, 068 (2008). https://doi.org/10.3842/SIGMA.2008. 068. arXiv:0806.2337 [hep-th]
- [19] Chigira, N., Lam, C.H., Miyamoto, M.: Orbifold construction and Lorentzian construction of Leech lattice vertex operator algebra. arXiv:2104.03098 [math.QA]
- [20] Conway, J.H., Norton, S.P.: Monstrous moonshine. Bull. Lond. Math. Soc. 11, 308 (1979)
- [21] Creutzig, T., Duncan, J.F.R., Riedler, W.: Self-dual vertex operator superalgebras and superconformal field theory. J. Phys. A 51(3), 034001 (2018). https:// doi.org/10.1088/1751-8121/aa9af5. [arXiv:1704.03678 [math-ph]]
- [22] Creutzig, T., Klauer, A., Scheithauer, N.R.: Natural constructions of some generalized Kac–Moody algebras as bosonic strings. Commun. Number Theory Phys. (2007). https://doi.org/10.4310/CNTP.2007.v1.n3.a1
- [23] Dasgupta, K., Mukhi, S.: A note on low dimensional string compactifications. Phys. Lett. B 398, 285–290 (1997). https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0370-2693(97)00216-5. arXiv:hep-th/9612188 [hep-th]
- [24] Dixon, L.J., Kaplunovsky, V., Louis, J.: Moduli dependence of string loop corrections to gauge coupling constants. Nucl. Phys. B 355, 649–688 (1991). https:// doi.org/10.1016/0550-3213(91)90490-O
- [25] Duncan, J.F.: Super-moonshine for Conway's largest sporadic group. Duke Math. J. 139, 2 (2007)
- [26] Duncan, J.F.R., Mack-Crane, S.: The moonshine module for Conway's group. SIGMA 3, e10 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1017/fms.2015.7. arXiv:1409.3829 [math.RT]
- [27] Duncan, J.F.R., Mack-Crane, S.: Derived equivalences of K3 surfaces and twined elliptic genera. Res. Math. Sci. 3(1) (2016). arXiv:1506.06198 [math.RT]
- [28] Florakis, I., García-Etxebarria, I., Lust, D., Regalado, D.: 2d orbifolds with exotic supersymmetry. JHEP 02, 146 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1007/ JHEP02(2018)146. arXiv:1712.04318 [hep-th]
- [29] Frenkel, I., Lepowsky, J., Meurman, A.: A moonshine module for the Monster. In: Vertex Operators in Mathematics and Physics (Berkeley, CA, 1983), Mathematical Sciences Research Institute Publications, vol. 3. Springer, New York (1985)
- [30] Frenkel, I., Lepowsky, J., Meurman, A.: Vertex Operator Algebras and the Monster, vol. 134 of Pure and Applied Mathematics. Elsevier Science, Amsterdam (1989)
- [31] Galakhov, D.: BPS Hall algebra of scattering Hall states. Nucl. Phys.
 B 946, 114693 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2019.114693.
 arXiv:1812.05801 [hep-th]
- [32] Ganor, O.J.: Compactification of tensionless string theories. arXiv:hep-th/9607092

- [33] Goddard, P., Olive, D.I.: Kac–Moody algebras, conformal symmetry and critical exponents. Nucl. Phys. B 257, 226–252 (1985). https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0550-3213(85)90344-X
- [34] Gritsenko, V.: 24 faces of the Borcherds modular form Φ_{12} . arXiv:1203.6503 [math.AG]
- [35] Harrison, S.M., Kachru, S., Paquette, N.M., Volpato, R., Zimet, M.: Heterotic sigma models on T^8 and the Borcherds automorphic form Φ_{12} ". JHEP **1710**, 121 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1007/JHEP10(2017)121. arXiv:1610.00707 [hep-th]
- [36] Harrison, S.M., Paquette, N.M., Persson, D., Volpato, R.: Fun with F₂₄. JHEP
 02, 039 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1007/JHEP02(2021)039. arXiv:2009.14710
 [hep-th]
- [37] Harrison, S.M., Paquette, N.M., Volpato, R.: A Borcherds–Kac–Moody superalgebra with Conway symmetry. Commun. Math. Phys. **370**(2), 539–590 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00220-019-03518-0. arXiv:1803.10798 [hep-th]
- [38] Harvey, J.A., Moore, G.W.: Algebras, BPS states, and strings. Nucl. Phys. B 463, 315 (1996). https://doi.org/10.1016/0550-3213(95)00605-2. arXiv:hep-th/9510182
- [39] Harvey, J.A., Moore, G.W.: On the algebras of BPS states. Commun. Math. Phys. 197, 489 (1998). https://doi.org/10.1007/s002200050461. arXiv:hep-th/9609017
- [40] Höhn, G.: Selbstduale Vertexoperatorsuperalgebren und das Babymonster (Selfdual vertex operator super algebras and the baby monster). arXiv:0706.0236 [math.QA]
- [41] Höhn, G.: On the genus of the moonshine module. arXiv:1708.05990 [math.QA]
- [42] Höhn, G., Scheithauer, N.R.: A natural construction of Borcherds' fake Baby Monster Lie algebra. Am. J. Math. 125(3) (2003) arXiv:math/0312106 [math.QA]
- [43] Höhn, G., Scheithauer, N.R.: A generalized Kac-Moody algebra of rank 14. J. Algebra (2014). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalgebra.2014.01.028. arXiv:1009.5153 [math.QA]
- [44] Kachru, S., Paquette, N.M., Volpato, R.: 3D string theory and umbral moonshine. J. Phys. A 50(40), 404003 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1088/1751-8121/ aa6e07. arXiv:1603.07330 [hep-th]
- [45] Kawaguchi, S., Mukai, S., Yoshikawa, K.: j-invariant and Borcherds Phi-function. arXiv:2103.02540 [math.AG]
- [46] Kimura, T., Pestun, V.: Quiver W-algebras. Lett. Math. Phys. 108(6), 1351–1381 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11005-018-1072-1. arXiv:1512.08533 [hep-th]
- [47] Klemm, A., Marino, M.: Counting BPS states on the enriques Calabi– Yau. Commun. Math. Phys. 280, 27–76 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00220-007-0407-z. arXiv:hep-th/0512227
- [48] Kontsevich, M., Soibelman, Y.: Cohomological Hall algebra, exponential Hodge structures and motivic Donaldson–Thomas invariants. Commun. Number Theory Phys. 5, 231 (2011). https://doi.org/10.4310/CNTP.2011.v5.n2.a1. arXiv:1006.2706 [math.AG]
- [49] Lerche, W., Nilsson, B.E.W., Schellekens, A.N.: Heterotic string loop calculation of the anomaly cancelling term. Nucl. Phys. B 289, 609 (1987). https://doi.org/ 10.1016/0550-3213(87)90397-X

- [50] Lerche, W., Nilsson, B.E.W., Schellekens, A.N., Warner, N.P.: Anomaly cancelling terms from the elliptic genus. Nucl. Phys. B 299, 91–116 (1988). https:// doi.org/10.1016/0550-3213(88)90468-3
- [51] Lian, B.H., Zuckerman, G.J.: BRST cohomology of the supervirasoro algebras. Commun. Math. Phys. 125, 301 (1989). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01217910
- [52] Lian, B.H., Zuckerman, G.J.: New perspectives on the BRST algebraic structure of string theory. Commun. Math. Phys. 154, 613 (1993). https://doi.org/10. 1007/BF02102111. arXiv:hep-th/9211072
- [53] Möller, S.: Natural construction of ten Borcherds-Kac-Moody algebras associated with elements in M₂₃. Commun. Math. Phys. **383**, 1 (2021). https://doi. org/10.1007/s00220-021-04018-w. arXiv:1905:09629 [math.QA]
- [54] Neumann, C.D.D.: Perturbative BPS algebras in superstring theory. Nucl. Phys. B 499, 596–620 (1997). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0550-3213(97)00360-X. arXiv:hep-th/9702197
- [55] Paquette, N.M., Persson, D., Volpato, R.: Monstrous BPS algebras and the superstring origin of moonshine. Commun. Number Theory Phys. 10, 433 (2016). https://doi.org/10.4310/CNTP.2016.v10.n3.a2. arXiv:1601.05412 [hep-th]
- [56] Paquette, N.M., Persson, D., Volpato, R.: BPS algebras, genus zero, and the heterotic monster. J. Phys. A 50(41), 414001 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1088/ 1751-8121/aa8443. arXiv:1701.05169 [hep-th]
- [57] Persson, D., Volpato, R.: Dualities in CHL-models. J. Phys. A 51(16), 164002 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1088/1751-8121/aab489. arXiv:1704.00501 [hep-th]
- [58] Polchinski, J.: String Theory. Vol. 1: An Introduction to the Bosonic String. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (1998)
- [59] Polchinski, J.: String Theory. Vol. 2: Superstring Theory and Beyond. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (1998)
- [60] Ray, U.: Automorphic Forms and Lie Superalgebras. Springer, Berlin (2007)
- [61] Scheithauer, N.R.: The Fake monster superalgebra. Adv. Math. 151(2) (2000). arXiv:math/9905113
- [62] Scheithauer, N.R.: Vertex algebras, Lie algebras and superstrings. J. Algebra 200(2) (1998). arXiv:9802058 [hep-th]
- [63] Schellekens, A.N.: Meromorphic C = 24 conformal field theories. Commun. Math. Phys. **153**, 159–186 (1993). https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02099044. arXiv:hep-th/9205072
- [64] Höhn, G.: On the genus of the moonshine module. arXiv:1708.05990 [math.QA]
- [65] Möller, S., Scheithauer, N.R.: Dimension formulae and generalised deep holes of the Leech lattice vertex operator algebra (2019). arXiv:1910.04947 [math.QA]
- [66] Höhn, G., Möller, S.: Systematic orbifold constructions of Schellekens' vertex operator algebras from Niemeier lattices (2020). arXiv:2010.00849 [math.QA]
- [67] Sen, A.: Duality and orbifolds. Nucl. Phys. B 474, 361–378 (1996). https://doi. org/10.1016/0550-3213(96)00291-X. arXiv:hep-th/9604070
- [68] Sethi, S., Vafa, C., Witten, E.: Constraints on low dimensional string compactifications. Nucl. Phys. B 480, 213–224 (1996). https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0550-3213(96)00483-X. arXiv:hep-th/9606122
- [69] Vafa, C., Witten, E.: A one loop test of string duality. Nucl. Phys. B 447, 261–270 (1995). https://doi.org/10.1016/0550-3213(95)00280-6. arXiv:hep-th/9505053

- [70] Witten, E.: Notes on supermanifolds and integration. Pure Appl. Math. Q. 15(1), 3–56 (2019). https://doi.org/10.4310/PAMQ.2019.v15.n1.a1. arXiv:1209.2199
 [hep-th]
- [71] Witten, E.: Superstring perturbation theory revisited. arXiv:1209.5461 [hep-th]
- [72] Witten, E., Zwiebach, B.: Algebraic structures and differential geometry in 2-D string theory. Nucl. Phys. B 377, 55–112 (1992). https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0550-3213(92)90018-7. arXiv:hep-th/9201056

Sarah M. Harrison Department of Mathematics and Statistics McGill University Montreal QC Canada e-mail: sarharr@physics.mcgill.ca

and

Department of Physics McGill University Montreal QC Canada

Natalie M. Paquette School of Natural Sciences Institute for Advanced Study Princeton NJ 08540 USA e-mail: paquette@ias.edu

Daniel Persson Department of Mathematical Sciences Chalmers University of Technology Gothenburg Sweden e-mail: daniel.persson@chalmers.se

Roberto Volpato Dipartimento di Fisica e Astronomia 'Galileo Galilei' Università di Padova & INFN sez. di Padova Via Marzolo 8 35131 Padua Italy e-mail: volpato@pd.infn.it

Communicated by Ruben Minasian. Received: August 19, 2021. Accepted: April 5, 2022.